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Chairman’s Statement

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased to
present you the annual report for the year ended at 31 December 2022
of Ganglong China Property Group Limited. Meanwhile, on behalf of the
Company, | hereby express sincere gratitude to people from all walks of
life for their support for our business development for years.

In 2022, the macro economy of our country is facing downward
pressure, while the recurrence of COVID-19 in many places, coupled
with the weakening of the release of medium and long-term housing
demand momentum, and frequent negative credit events in the real
estate industry, resulting in increasing difficulties in financing, the
industry is facing unprecedented pressure. After the government
put forward the requirements of “stabilisation of land prices, housing
prices and expectations” and “ensuring project delivery, livelihood and
stability”, the demand-side policies and credit environment have been
optimized, but the effect of the policies are not obvious, and the deep
adjustment of the real estate market has not changed. In the fourth
quarter, a number of regulatory authorities have launched favorable
policies, optimizing policies from both the supply and demand sides to
stabilize expectations in the real estate market. Despite the continuous
improvement in the policies, but the current weak income expectations
of residents and the wait-and-see attitude has not yet changed, the
short-term real estate market adjustment pressure is still exist.

2022 is an extremely difficult year for Ganglong China. The Group has
closely focused on the national policy of “three ensuring and three
stabilizations” and made “ensuring the cash flow and project delivery” a
strategic goal of the enterprise. The Group has been working together,
overcoming difficulties and taking the initiative to carry out various tasks
in a solid manner, resulting in the safe, stable and orderly development
of the enterprise.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EEEE(E)

This year, the Group focused on cash flow, and made every operational
plan more detailed and practical. We actively communicated with key
strategic suppliers to ensure orderly construction. We formulated a fast
de-commissioning and fast payback policy to inject liquidity into the
Company. The Group actively utilized the national policies as well as
communicated with financial institutions to obtain capital support by
virtue of its good credit. We formulated a strict and meticulous capital
plan and implemented it rigorously to protect the normal operation of
the projects. We improved operational efficiency through functional
consolidation and process optimization. The Group controlled its
expenses by reducing non-essential business expenses and streamlining
staff.

This year, we successfully completed the U.S. dollar bond exchange
offer, relieving the Company's liquidity pressure, injected liquidity into
the Company through rapid project de-commissioning and fast payback
as well as completed the smooth delivery of more than 10 projects,
building the confidence of our customers in us.

As of 31 December 2022, the Company achieved a sales amount of
approximately RMB13,000 million. The total cash to short term debt
ratio was 1.5 times, the net gearing ratio is 24%, and the liabilities to
assets ratio after excluding contract liabilities was about 56%.

During the year, we have been upholding the vision of “becoming
a city builder for a better life”, striving to move forward in the midst
of difficulties and fulfilling our corporate citizenship responsibilities.
The Group actively prevented and fought against the pandemic, and
donated money, goods and condolences for many times. We actively
cared for workers and carried out the activity of “Caring for health and
sending coolness in high temperature” to ensure safe production. We
actively helped farmers and carried out “Inspirational Ganglong, Love in
Action (% E/8%E - E1£178h)” activities in the Greater Bay Area, making
a small contribution to the “good life” with practical actions!
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

EEHE(E)

In 2023, the brand strength of real estate companies will continue to
be a solid bulwark against market cycles, industry risks and property
purchasers' sense of security. As a “city builder for a better life”,
Ganglong China has never forgotten its original intention, adheres to
the business philosophy of “honesty, stability and humility”. We focus
on customer orientation, forge product power and service power, and
implement it in all links of the product value chain. We strengthen the
enterprise brand with customer reputation and continue to consolidate
the development advantages.

Last but not the least, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like
to express my sincerest gratitude to all shareholders, investors, partners
and customers for their support to the Company and to all employees
for their hard work and dedication.

Lui Ming
Chairman
31 March 2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

B W DA

General Overview

Ganglong China Property is an established property developer in China.
The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock
Code: 6968.HK) by way of the Global Offering on 15 July 2020 (the
“Listing”). This marked an important milestone in the development of
the Company.

Headquartered in Shanghai, the Group is an active real estate developer
in China. Adhering to our core value of “striving for innovation, building
with integrity”, the Group believes that we have developed splendid
reputation in our market for constant innovation, excellent quality of our
various products and credibility.

The real estate market was affected by the epidemic. With the gradual
effectiveness of the Central and Local government policies, such as
decrease in interest rate, supportive policies on both the supply and
demand sides as well as the implementation of major plans, and
renewed confidence from home buyers, the market has gradually
recovered. At the same time, the Group seized the opportunities
of the sales window period and stepped up the promotion efforts
with innovative marketing model. Thanks to the efforts by all of our
employees, the amount of contracted sales of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB13,004 million.

In terms of the macro-economy in the coming year, the real estate
market will benefit from the stable financial environment. The reduction
of financing costs of property developers and the reduction of costs
of home ownership are conducive to the recovery and development
of the market. In terms of policy, the regulation and control of the
real estate market will adhere to the position of “housing without
speculation”. Although there is adjustment pressure to national real
estate market size, there is still room for the suppressed demand
during the short-term epidemic, the demand for investment value
preservation driven by the home improvement of credit environment,
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

and the demand for improvement driven by the epidemic. The Group
will seize the opportunities of the sales window, implement a strategy of
“high turnover”, and maintain enthusiasm for construction. Facing the
uncertainty of the epidemic and economic development, the current
situation of real estate products and services, and the trend of demand
for home in the post-epidemic era, we will focus on sales proceeds
and reach our sales targets, and, at the same time, increase our effort
on exploration of gaining footholds in cities with potential and product
innovation, so as to better enhance the quality of our products, as well as
to achieve sustainable and stable quality growth.

In the coming year, the Group will continue to find opportunities, to
achieve national layout. We will make progress in the development of
the business development of the Group to reward our Shareholders.

Business Review

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of properties. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB11,892 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 15%.

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2022, including those of joint ventures
and associates, the Group recorded unaudited contracted sales of
approximately RMB13,004 million. Contracted gross floor area (“GFA”)
sold was approximately 994,244 sg.m.. The average selling price (“ASP”)
of our contracted sales for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB13,082 per sg.m..

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had contract liabilities of
approximately RMB21,294 million.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had unfulfilled contracts related to
sales of properties of approximately RMB25,918 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Sales of properties

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the revenue from sales
of properties increased by approximately 15% year-on-year to
approximately RMB11,892 million. The Group recognised total
GFA of approximately 1,106,880 sqg.m., representing an increase of
approximately 16% as compared to 2021. The ASP of the properties
recognised as property sales was approximately RMB10,744 per sg.m.

The following table sets out the recognised sales and GFA sold by type
of properties and city for the year ended 31 December 2022:

MIZEHE

BE2022F 12 A1 HILFE - WEHEEWERL
BAIHI15% E LA REE11,802F BT ° NEBE
RABEZEMIEA1,106,880F 5K - 82021 F3E 1
#16% - WHERAMEHENMETHEENR
BEHKARE10,7447T ©

TREFNEE2022F 12 A31HILFEIRYEHER
R T R SR A S 5 5B R SR SR T AE

Recognised Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP revenue

= 2ER
EEmE FHEE BRI E
sg.m. RMB/sqg.m. RMB’000

FHK ARE/EHK  ARETR

Residential, retail and commercial ~— (2% + TE R H#

Shaoxing #A 174,380 15,303 2,688,495
Changzhou M 147,258 10,264 1,511,398
Huaian ER 122,214 9,635 1,177,560
Suzhou # M 63,051 16,123 1,016,601
Yancheng B3, 86,173 10,190 878,070
Taizhou ZM 71,553 11,555 826,770
Yiwu =5 40,781 18,285 745,667
Huizhou =M 69,760 9,387 654,849
Huzhou M 59,325 10,431 618,813
Nanjing B2 32,510 16,287 529,478
Wuhu A 67,135 6,166 413,933
Panzhou BN 61,548 4,898 301,450
Nantong Efiil 2,444 11,827 28,904
Lianyungang EE) 1,653 10,160 16,795
Hangzhou U 180 19,144 3,446
Car parks and garage/storage (EHEE R T7 R 106,915 4,678 500,119
Total st 1,106,880 10,744 11,892,348
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Land reserves

Leveraging on the Group’s deep understanding of the property
markets and intensive studies on the target cities, the Group continued
to strategically select and acquire parcels of land at strategic and
advantageous locations in those regions and cities in order to further
develop the Group’s presence in those markets. As of 31 December
2022, the Group (together with its joint ventures and associates) had
70 projects with land reserves amounting to 7,531,063 sqg.m., of which
63 projects were located in cities in the Yangtze River Delta region.
Moreover, the Group had arranged its layout in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area and Southwest China and has
successfully obtained quality projects in Guangzhou and Chengdu as of
31 December 2022.

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve
of our Group by province or cities as of 31 December 2022:

T ik
REASELHFEHENSIIRATBUAREHEE
I T RDRATTIE AN BB % S @ 8 R
MR EEE B AN E BRRS M B 12 B B T3t - A
E—HERASEEZMIGHTE SN - RN20224F
12A318  AEB(GEREGERERBE AT
HAH70EIEE - L REE /7,531,063 75K -
He3EEBURRE=ZAMEAET » o R
2022 12A31H ' ALBEEBBEMBARNE
BRAXERMTPBEAESEB[ENE - ERE
MEKEDESFEEIRE -

TREFIN20225F12 A31 BAREFIRE DT
oM TR AR REmERMA

Total land Percentage of

reserve(! total land bank

Provinces/Cities T it fEE 1 b R A B

H#1BH g MBS

(sq.m.) (%)

(FFHXK) (%)

Jiangsu T Ek 3,378,699 45%

Guangdong Ex 1,672,855 22%

Anhui T 1,420,813 19%

Zhejiang AN 401,423 5%

Guizhou =00 303,177 4%

Henan AR 192,223 3%

Sichuan gl 144,524 2%

Shanghai & 17,349 0%

Total et 7,531,063 100%
Notes: BisE -

(1) Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) The total GFA available for
sale and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (i) total GFA for
properties under development; and (i) total GFA for properties held for
future development.

(2)  For projects developed by our subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated
companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the respective
projects.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Financial Review

Overall performance

During the year ended 31 December 2022, total revenue of the Group
was approximately RMB11,892 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 15%. Gross profit and net profit of the Group
were approximately RMB1,978 million and RMB581 million, for the year
ended 31 December 2022, respectively.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately RMB11,892 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 15%. The increase was primarily
attributable to the growth in recognised sales of properties, driven by an
increase in the Group’s property projects delivered during the year.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly represents the costs incurred
directly for sale of properties, which comprised construction costs, land
costs and capitalised interest.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the cost of sales of the Group
was approximately RMB9,914 million (2021: RMB7,968 million).

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit of the Group
was approximately RMB1,978 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 18%. Gross profit margin was primarily
affected by the selling prices, the construction costs and land costs
of our properties delivered. For the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group recorded a gross profit margin of approximately 17%, as
compared to approximately 23% in 2021. The decrease in the gross
profit margin was mainly due to the intense market competition and
continuously tightened real estate regulatory policies in the industry.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Other income and other gains, net

The Group had other income of approximately RMB46 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022, as compared to approximately RMB87
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. During the year ended 31
December 2022, it primarily consisted of management and consulting
service income of approximately RMB18 million, income arising from
withdrawal of certain associates’ projects of approximately RMB22
million and income arising from withdrawal of a joint venture’ projects of
approximately RMB11 million. The management and consulting services
mainly comprise of the assignment of staff and personnel to support the
operation of the relevant project companies including but not limited to
services with respect to managerial, operational, financial and marketing
aspects and are provided exclusively to the Group’s joint ventures
and associates in relation to the property development projects. The
decrease was primarily attributable to the absence of one-off fair value
gains on disposal of listed securities investment in 2022 as compared to
2021.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased by
approximately 19% year-on-year from approximately RMB514 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB416 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the better control measures in marketing and advertising
costs and the reduction in staff costs.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 21% year-on-year from approximately RMB627 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB493 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in general and
administrative expenses was primarily due to organisation streamlining
to lift efficiency at a lower cost.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Finance costs — net

Net finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately 50% year-
on-year from approximately RMB238 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 to approximately RMB118 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. The decrease was due to the lower weighted average
effective interest rates of interest-bearing debts, lower average principal
balances of interest-bearing debts and higher efficiency in matching
interest-bearing debts to various property development projects.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The Group accounts for the results of joint ventures and associates using
the equity method, which mainly represent the share of profits related to
the projects delivered during the relevant period that have been offset
by losses incurred by other joint ventures and associates.

Share of profits of joint ventures and associates was approximately
RMB79 million and RMB393 million for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, respectively. The change was in line with the decrease
in revenue from sales of properties of the joint ventures and associates.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by 23% from approximately RMB402
million for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB494
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, which was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of (a) increase in the number of
projects delivered during the year and (b) increase in land appreciation
tax expenses for the projects delivered during the year. The effective tax
rates, excluding the share of results of joint ventures and associates,
were 50% and 36% for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year
The Group’s profit and total comprehensive income was approximately
RMB581 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB1,102 million). The profit attributable to owners of the Company
was approximately RMB122 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: RMB481 million).

The basic and diluted eamings per share of the Company was RMB0.07
per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMBO0.30 per
share).
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management policy
and actively manages its liquidity position with sufficient standby banking
facilities to cope with daily operation and demands for capital for future
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had financed
its working capital, capital expenditure and other capital requirements
primarily through (i) cash generated from operations, including proceeds
from the pre-sale and sales of our properties; and (i) bank loans, trust
financing, issuance of senior notes and other financings.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had total cash (including
restricted cash, pledged time deposits and cash and cash equivalents)
of approximately RMB4,142 million (as at 31 December 2021:
approximately RMB6,985 million). The Group maintained a relatively
sufficient cash level.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate new
borrowings obtained by the Group amounted to approximately
RMB2,228 million and repayment of borrowings was approximately
RMB4,991 million. As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s total
bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately RMB6,766
million, representing an decrease of approximately 29% compared to
approximately RMB9,495 million as of 31 December 2021. Amongst
bank and other borrowings, approximately RMB2,741 million (as at 31
December 2021: approximately RMB2,758 million) will be repayable
within one year and approximately RMB4,025 million (as at 31
December 2021: approximately RMB6,737 million) will be repayable
after one year.
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Senior notes

In November 2021, the Company issued notes with aggregate principal
amount of US$158 million (the “2022 Senior Notes”). The 2022 Senior
Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually in arrears.

In November 2022, the completion of the exchange offer had resulted in
the issuance of principal amount of US$145 million new notes pursuant
to the exchange offer (the “2023 Senior Notes”). In November 2022, all
outstanding 2022 Senior Notes with principal amount of US$13 million
were due and redeemed by the Company in full at maturity. The 2023
Senior Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 13.5% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears.

The issuance of the abovementioned senior notes was for the purpose
of general working capital of the Group.

Key financial ratios

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s net gearing ratio (calculated as
the total borrowings net of restricted cash, pledged time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity) was 24% (as at 31
December 2021: 24%). As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s liabilities
to assets ratio after excluding contract liabilities was approximately 56%
(as at 31 December 2021: 64%). As of 31 December 2022, total cash
to short term debt ratio (calculated as cash and bank balances divided
by short term bank and other borrowings) was 1.5 times (as at 31
December 2021: 2.5 times). The decrease in both the net gearing ratio
and liabilities to assets ratio was primarily attributable to the increase
in total equity by delivery of more projects and capital contribution by
non-controlling interest. The Group actively monitors and manages its
cash to short-term debt ratio, net gearing ratio and liabilities to assets
ratio. The Group will continue to manage its working capital efficiently
through working capital management policies and continue to utilise the
Group’s available financial resources including proceeds from sales and
pre-sales of property projects, draw down of banking facilities and other
borrowings and optimise the payment schedule to contractors through
negotiation based on the latest construction progress.
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The Group’s current ratio is calculated based on its total current assets
divided by its total current liabilities as of the respective dates. The
Group’s current ratio had increased from approximately 1.38 times as
of 31 December 2021 to approximately 1.43 times as of 31 December
2022. The current ratio was maintained at a stable level throughout the
years.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates its business in China. Other than the
offshore senior notes which are denominated in US$, the Group did not
have any other material direct exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors expect that any
fluctuation of RMB’s exchange rate will not have any material adverse
effect on the operation of the Group.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its borrowings. Except for
the offshore senior notes the interest rate of which is fixed, most of the
Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB, and their interest rates
on the Group’s borrowings are primarily affected by the benchmark
interest rates set by the People’s Bank of China. The Group manages
its interest rate risk by closely monitoring the trend of interest rate
fluctuation and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure, as
well as regulating the debt portfolio of the Group.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were secured by its pledged time deposit, equity interests of
group companies, properties under development, completed properties
held for sales and investment properties with total carrying values of
approximately RMB19,375 million (31 December 2021: RMB18,082
million).
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Commitments
As of 31 December 2022, the Group had commitments that are
contracted but not provided for as follows:

A
202212 A31H » AEB BT HEEREERN
AT

31 December 2022
2022 12H31H

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR#¥FT) (AR¥FT)
Contracted but not provided for EEEEEESET:] 6,481,219 8,101,524

The amount represented capital commitment for construction contracts
and agreed proposed development contracts determined based on
current estimated budgets.

Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities
As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s total financial guarantees are as
follows:

ZERERBENGEIREEETNERAO R
TEREEF A RR B ARG

BIEIERESAERE
R2022F12 A31H « NEBEBHIFEERAT

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

31 December 2021
2021412 A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR¥F ) (AR¥EEFIT)
Guarantee in respect of mortgage AETEEENLZBRE
facilities for certain purchasers EH R 13,687,789 11,470,684
Guarantee provided for the borrowings A& &b 2 FBE &N FIE K
of joint ventures and associates RHMER 285,425 288,926
Total st 13,973,214 11,759,610

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had arranged for
bank financing for certain purchasers of our properties and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments.
Such guarantees periods start from the date of grant of mortgage, and
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate to the purchaser; or (i) the satisfaction of mortgage loans
by the purchasers of our properties. Pursuant to the terms of these
guarantees, upon default of mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the bank may demand us to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
of the loan together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks. Under such circumstances, the Group are
entitled to forfeit the relevant purchaser’s deposit and resell the property
to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. The Directors
consider that the likelihood of default of payments by the purchasers is
minimal and the Group’s credit risk is significantly mitigated.

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

HZE2022F12A31BIEFE AEBEEAET
BEELTHBTRE MEEER  BREERE
T - ARERBERAEREFAHRAZTY
EHBEERIEURTEERSE)  (\BEEEEY
E¥MEREE R()\BEEEEEAENR - BEE
RIER  BREEOHIHREER  RITAUE2
(BN ENBEEERBITHNERERGER
JERTRIE - EULIBER T - REEHELU B EE
BEMZRE  WHEME HEAESEMIRITX
NOWRIE - EERE - BEETEBITNRERD
AR R R AL EmENEERRE XERE -



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

The Group also provided guarantee for borrowings of the Group’s joint
ventures and associates from time to time in proportion to its equity
interests. The relevant borrowings were primarily from banks to finance
property development projects of these joint ventures and associates,
whereby the land use rights of the joint ventures and associates were
pledged to the banks and our guarantees were provided in addition
to the pledges. The Directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by the joint ventures and associates is minimal and therefore
the financial guarantees measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have
any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Future plans for material investments

The Group will continue to invest in its property development projects
and acquire suitable land parcels, if it thinks fit. These investments
would be funded by internal resources and/or external borrowings. Save
as disclosed above, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments as of the date of this report.

Human resources

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 744 employees (31
December 2021: 1,180 employees). Total expenditure on salary and
welfare of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 December
2022 amounted to approximately RMB321 million (for the year ended
31 December 2021: approximately RMB546 million). The Group has
adopted a system of determining the remuneration of employees based
on the performance of employees. In general, the Group provides
competitive remuneration packages to employees, which include
basic salaries, performance-based rewards and year-end bonus. The
Group also pays social security insurance for the Group’s employees,
including medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, endowment
insurance, maternity insurance, unemployment insurance and housing
funds. In terms of employee training, the Group provides consistent and
systematic training to employees based on their positions and expertise
in order to enhance their expertise in real estate and their related fields.

AEBT TR AREENAELEMBERFN
AR L PIRR IR - HREEREERE
RIT > RRSFALLENBLERRNYEFER
BReftEs At RFEALLENBE QTN
i R T ERTT BRI DS - FITR
SRHER EERL  AELEMBERFT
FBITRE TR BE RS - AR AR EER
ENPBERBTRE - BXERERAE -

R2022F12A318  A"EEEEMERSFE
f& o

MBAR  BEARRSELENE
RUER EE

HZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE - NEBEYH B
DA BEARREELEETEMERKE S
e o

BARERARREE
AEBSHIBEERE L NERNTEE RGBS
Eb - ZEREBEAAESRRIMBERK
EE - BERBRBEES  BEAREAH - K&
BT B AR AR -

ADER

R2022F 12 A31H + AEEH£744% 8 8 (2021
F12H31H : 1,180%EE) - EE2022412 H31
HIEFE  AEENEEFSEIRAINAAR
321 BET(EE2021F12A31HIEFE  HA
R¥546BETT) - ASERAENEERRETE
EEFMMESR - —RiME  A5EERESRM
ERFNOFMAZE - BEEARTE - EREX
KRR R T8 - REBITANEENESHMN
HERERE  BEEERER  LERE B
R £ERR - RERBREFEQAES - EB
B E AEEREBEEENBULERAER
HEFENZENEN IR EEERETER
TEREEIE R F 350, -

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR

19



20

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Future Outlook

In 2023, China's economy will accelerate the pace of recovery, active
fiscal policies will increase its effectiveness, and the state will further
improve the confidence and expectation of the market entities. The
country insists on the direction of “houses are for living in and not
for speculative investment”. Since it is the first year of the three-year
pandemic control release, economic construction will become an
important task for the whole country. The government once again
emphasized that real estate is a pillar industry of the national economy
and plays an important role in promoting the growth of domestic
demand, so it has great potential. Many cities have issued support
policies for real estate at the beginning of the year. The financing
chain of real estate enterprises is expected to be further smoothened,
corporate capital access is expected to be improved. “Ensuring project
delivery” is still the focus, and property purchasers are expected to get
further improvement. After the current cycle and the clearing of risks, the
industry has gradually entered a healthy development trend.

In 2023, we will continue to carry forward the corporate culture of
“integrity, vigorousness, responsibility, pragmatism, simplicity and
efficiency”, and fully promote the implementation of product strategy,
cost strategy and marketing power strategy. We always insist on
“improving quality, reducing costs, reducing expenses and increasing
efficiency”. We focus on accelerating sales, ensuring delivery and
securing cash flow, and maintain a steady and sustainable growth with
like-minded partners and hardworking employees.

Summary of property development

The Group’s land reserve represents the sum of (i) total GFA available
for sale or lease for completed properties which also includes completed
GFA that have been pre-sold but not yet delivered, (ii) total planned
GFA for properties under development, and (i) total estimated GFA for
properties held for future development. The total land reserve of the
Group represents the total land reserve of projects developed by the
Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve
of the Group by geographical location as of 31 December 2022:
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Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of  land reserve
by the Group's subsidiaries® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Groupt  of the Group
ARAE/ hESE
ALY RGN RRER R&H it
REENBARDFERNNEERR BREE CATREER BEER SRUREER  DHEGEIY B3NESM
(in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAK) (FAK) (FAK) (FhK)
Anhui ZH Fuyang ) 1 - 559,303 - 559,303 7%
Hefei Al 1 - 172,462 - 172,462 2%
Huangshan &Ll 1 - 92,349 - 92,349 1%
Wuhu E=i 2 - 478,788 - 478,788 6%
Guangde BE 1 - 32,804 85,017 17911 2%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou BN 1 - 183,371 631,314 814,685 1%
Huizhou =N 1 38,059 - - 38,059 2%
Foshan il 1 - m,m - 171,771 2%
Guizhou M Panzhou B 1 57,865 57,865 187,447 308,177 4%
Henan L Luoyang B 1 S 192,223 = 192,223 3%
Jiangsu IE Changshu B4 2 73575 - - 73575 1%
Changzhou BN 8 207,454 86,718 5 204,172 4%
Funing g 1 - 207,192 - 207,192 3%
Hai'an he3e 4 13,058 414,469 - 427,501 6%
Haimen st 1 = 94,580 - 94,580 1%
Huai'an i 2 14,634 402,949 - 417,583 6%
Jingjiang BT 1 - 74,906 106,613 181,519 2%
Lianyungang BER 1 3,347 - - 3,347 0%
Nanjing MR 2 5348 87,202 - 92,550 1%
Nantong B 1 - 81,919 - 81,919 1%
Taizhou ZM 2 - 268,260 - 268,260 4%
Yancheng 55 4 17,488 267,376 - 284,864 4%
Yixing L 1 - 186,248 - 186,248 2%
Yizheng BH 1 - 150,093 - 150,093 2%
Shanghai 5 Shanghai 5 1 17,349 - - 17,349 0%
Sichuan )l Chengdu e 1 - 144,524 - 144,524 2%
Zhejang L Hangzhou Bl 1 12410 - - 12410 0%
Huzhou M 2 32,954 - 130,208 163,157 2%
Shaoxing a8 2 111,616 106,741 - 218,357 3%
Yiwu 5 1 3,020 - - 3,020 0%
Sub-total Nt 50 608,177 4,514,203 1,140,594 6,262,974 84%
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Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of land reserve
by the Group's joint ventures® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group  of the Group
ARAE/ hESE
LA RGN RREH 15£E ik
REERELEFHRNNEERR BREE CATREER BEER HRUREER DHRGER0 B3NESM
(insq.m.) (insq.m.) (insq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAK) (FAX) (FAK) (FAK)
Jiangsu & Changshu B3 2 14,605 - - 14,605 0%
Haimen i 1 391 - - 301 0%
Nanjing AR 1 - 181,571 - 181,571 2%
Nantong il 4 33,290 178,902 - 212,192 3%
Taixing Z8 1 35,128 - - 35,128 0%
Zhejang i Huzhou it 3 4,479 - - 4,479 0%
Sub-total Nt 12 87,893 360,473 - 448,366 5%
Completed % of
GFA available Planned GFA Total land total land
Property projects held by the Group's Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of reserve of
associated companies® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group!! the Group
it/ A5H
EESEL Rk RREH REH i
REEBE N RFHRONEERR EEREE CHIREER BEER SUREER LHRGEEY  S30EsM
(in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAX) (FAX) (FAX) (FAX)
Jiangsu 1% Changshu BH 1 15,867 - - 15,867 0%
Changzhou 2l 1 17,340 - - 17,340 0%
Haimen helis 1 2,791 - - 2,791 0%
Lianyungang EE) 1 11,591 - - 11,591 0%
Rugao mg 1 601 - - 601 0%
Yancheng By 1 29 - - 29 0%
Yangzhou al 1 - 123,164 - 123,164 2%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou BN 1 - - 648,340 648,340 9%
Sub-total it 8 48,219 123,164 648,340 819,723 1%
Grand Total &t 70 744,289 4,997,840 1,788,934 7,531,063 100%
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The following table sets forth a summary of our property and project TR FHFPNEHEEB ME MEEE Bt
phases developed, including projects and project phases held for future T RIEEHZE2022612 A31 BEER KRR IE

developments as of 31 December 2022. B &IEHE Bg -
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
AEENEAT B /it
RS IELE BB BENE EAHRR rREEGRE  HEEE RIRY LikGeY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FA%)
Anhui £
Fuyang Gang Long Mei Di Yun Zhu South Side of Runhe Road Under Development 57% 218,695 August-24 569,303
BR BEENHES and East Side of Funan e AUESH
Road, Yingzhou District,
Fuyang City, Anhui Province
ZHESHmENEETY
Al REREE
Hefei Chen Guang Ya Yuan Southwest of the Junction Under Development 60% 66,068 March-23 172,462
Al o il of Guohe West Road Fg 23834
and Zhanghuatai Road,
Shuangdun Town,
Changfeng County, Hefei
City, Anhui Province
THERETREEEEE
AIAREEZEAERN
i
Huangshan Gang Long Jun Wang North Side of Beihai Road, Under Development 70% 46,780 May-23 92,349
&1l BREZ Tunguang Town, Tunx FEH 23%5A
District, Huangshan City,
Anhui Province
THEBLMERRERA
plniciESIq ]
Wuhu Hu Shan Ying North to Fushan Road, Under Development 60% 132,596 April-23 300,491
i L South to Longtang Bi%h 23F4A
Road, West to Planning
Branch Road and East to
Longhu Road, Sanshan
District, Wuhu City, Anhui
Province
THEEETZILRLEY
W - mERER AR
MBS - RERMHS
F#;2022

BETHEBEREERLR



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrEgMEER BB HELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIS thREEY
(sq.m) (sa.m)
(FAX) (FA%)
Ganglong Shi Dai Tian Jiao North of Binhu Avenue, Under Development 65% 65,176 October-23 178,297
(Phase 2) South of Shuiyangjiang ok 2310
BRRBRRE (=) Road, East of Baosha
Road, Wuhu County,
Anhui Province
THAENGER E
BAE KIS TR AR -
ROBIR
Xuancheng Gang Long Xing He Ying Yaoshang Plot, Taiji Avenue, Under Development 100% 57,434 April-24 117,911
B Hua Yuan Guangde City, Xuancheng ~ Bi%e 24F4R
PRETHIEE City, Anhui Province
RHESHMEETABAE
B
Guangdong ER
Guangzhou Zeng Cheng Shi Tan West Side of Nanbei Under Development 60% 196,435 November-25 814,685
B g Avenue, Shitan Town, Figh 25%118
Zengcheng District,
Guangzhou City
BNmSHEREERL
Nl
Huizhou Gang Long Zi Yu Hua Ting No. 9 Shangluo Road, Completed 51% 30,507 November-22 38,059
=Y BEgERE Chenjiang Street, BRT 20118
Huicheng District,
Huizhou City
BimEARRIGE
BRI
Foshan Foshan Shunde Project Plot on the west side of national ~ Under Development 100% 40,848 March-25 171,771
iy fRILIE=IER highway 105 south of Shunde B+ 25%3 /1
Waterway, Lunjiao Street,
Shunde District Foshan City
FTIEERRHEEIRE
KB E105BE R R
Guizhou BN
Panzhou Park Mansion Wetland Park District, Under Development 100% 116,101 May-26 308,177
B RHhR Panzhou City, Guizhou FEm 26%5A
Province
BlagNTRELRRE
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEE W

Property Projects
Developed by the
Group's Subsidiaries
REEHELR
FrERMEER

B34 ()

Projects

BB

Project Location

FRME

Project Status

ERRR

Interest
attributable to
the Group

FEEGRS

Site Area

HEERE
(sq.m)
(FrK)

Actual/Estimated
completion date
BB /thit
RIBH

Total Land
Reserve

it fEAY
(sq.m)
(FrK)

Jiangsu
Changshu

bt

Changzhou
il

[z
Mansion Grand

b

TH
Tang Yue Ming Zhu
Fhing

Xiang Yu Hua Ting
FEEE

Yan Shan Ying
EllA

Ganglong Bauhinia Residence

BRAHN

Ganglong Hua Ting

Intersection of Luoj
Expressway and Chanhe
Bridge, Chaoyang Town,

Mengjin County, Luoyang Gity

G
REEETERNA

South Side of Tongjiang
Road and West Side of
Taishan Road (currently
known as Yanghong
Road), Longteng District,
Changshu City

ERmERhRBTHRA
E IR (RBIH) B

No. 159 Haitang Road,
Haiyu Town, Changshu City

BRMEEEERR1595%

180 meters Northwest of
the Intersection of the
Side Road of Chengdong
Avenue and Jinhui Road,
Liyang City, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province

THEENTEGTAR
REHRESERINA
A7 E180K

North Side of Dongfang
Road and East Side
of Huafeng Road,
Changzhou City, Jiangsu
Province

TEHREBMNTRARLA
ZLRRA

North Side of Xinggang
Avenue and West Side of
Chahua Road, Zhonglou
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province

THERNTEERER
REILR - R

Under Development
e

Completed
BRI

Completed
BRI

Completed
BRI

Completed
B%T

Completed
BRI

100%

35%

100%

35%

100%

100%

95,168

62,585

60,221

61,021

43510

23,900

June-23
23%6A

August-22
2585

Apri-20
20544

December-22
20128

November-14
148118

January-11
11514

192,223

73,487

88

163,474

6,451

2,870

F$;{2022
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD T (&)
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
AEENEAR B /it
RS I BB HELE BERR rEEEGER  HEER BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(FAK) (FA%)
Ganglong Shang Ceng North Side of Tongjiang Completed 100% 8,090 June-11 5,049
BENE South Road, Zhonglou BRT 1EF6A
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
THETNMmEERR
TR
Long Chen Ming Zhu West Side of Shuntong Completed 40% 67,402 December-22 25,557
ERHE Road and South Side of BRT 2512
Feng'an River, Economic
Development Zone,
Changzhou City
ENDEEREE RS
- sk
The Hong Kong Masterpiece West of Dongcheng Road Completed 100% 132,460 July-20 3,406
e and North of Dongfang BRI 20578
No. 2 Road, Changzhou
City, Jiangsu Province
T EMRABIE -
FhBME
Ziyu Mansion East Side of Shuntong Completed 100% 24,312 November-20 648
LU Road and South Side BRI 20F11A
of Gongyuan Road,
Economic Development
Zone, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
IHAENTERE
IEBBERE - EEEE
Qin Hu Chun Qiu Hua Yuan East Side of Renmin Road, Under Development 50% 42,605 May-23 86,718
SUREIER North Side of Jiacheng Road, B 23%5A

Annual Report 2022

Ganglong China Property Group Limited

Jiaze Town, Wujin District,
Changzhou

ENREEEEREARE
R SR



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRY LikBeY
(sam) (sam)
(FAX) (FA%)
Funing Wen Lan Fu East Side of Shanghai Road Under Development 40% 67,454 June-25 207,192
BE e i and South Side of Suzhou Bk 25%6H
Road, Chengnan
Funing County
ZE5H DR
BB MR
Hai'an Hanlin Capital No. 8 Hebin East Road, Completed 70% 57,633 December-21 13,058
E7 BikEn Hai'an City B#T 15F12A
BRI ERASH
Taoyuan Li South Side of Hebin East Road  Under Development 28% 49,314 April-23 159,692
EL and West Side of Xin'an Road, B 2BE4f
Hi-tech Zone, Hal'an,
Nantong City
BATERT AR
REmA - R
Jun Wang Lan Ting South Side of Donghai Avenue  Under Development 35% 61,831 October-23 192,030
FERE and East Side of Ninghal g 2310
South Road, Hai'an City,
Jiangsu Province
IHEEZmREAERE
ZHEERG
Tian Cui Ge North Side of Huanghai Avenue,  Under Development 24% 23,960 July-23 62,747
X2 West Side of Tongyu Road, B 2BE7
Hai'an City, Jiangsu Province
TEEaRTEEAELA
algi
Haimen Nature Image Intersection of Beijing Under Development 26% 47,078 January-23 94,580
8F HERR Middle Road and e W18
Jianghai Road, Haimen
District, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province
THemETENELR
MRELERI IO
Huai'an Sunac Plaza West Side of Tianjin Road Under Development 26% 188,564 June-24 252,881
hiE REES and South Side of Yan'an B 2456R
East Road
RERER ExREE
F#;2022 27
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrEgMEER BB HELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(5K (k)
Dong Wang Fu West Side of Tieyun Road Under Development 100% 50,476 November-23 164,702
BERH and North Side of G 2F11A
Shanyang Avenue,
Huai'an City, Jiangsu
Province
IHLERTEZRAER
WAL
Jingjiang Jun Yuan Ya Ju Land parcel 02 and 08, Under Development 34% 70,210 October-23 181,519
i REER North Side of Yongyi Road, B 238104
Jingjiang City
BITmkaRIEE02 - 033088
Lianyungang Jing Shan Xiu Shui South of Haining Road and Completed 100% 53,063 October-19 3,347
EE; 211K West of Yuzhou Road, BRT 19810
Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEEMENEEENRR
BNER
Nanjing River of Mansion Land Parcel 01, South of Completed 50% 28,188 January-22 9,034
BR KtHA Puwu Road and West of BT 2VELA
Nanwan Street, Qiaclin
Town, Pukou District,
Nanjing City
BRMANRRMEESE
bAE - FERILEO R
Tang Yue Fu North of Wenchang East Under Development 60% 28,483 November-23 83,516
#IfF Road and West of fEm 23F117

Hospital of TCM Hospitdl,
Yongyang Street, Lishui
District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province

HE PR
BXERHEML - H Bl
JATE
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property Projects
Developed by the
Group's Subsidiaries
REEHELR
FrERMEER

Projects

BB

Project Location

FRME

Interest
attributable to
Project Status the Group

EEMR FEEGRS

Site Area

HEERE
(sq.m)
(FrK)

Actual/Estimated
completion date
BB /thit
RIBH

Total Land
Reserve

it fEAY
(sq.m)
(FrK)

Nantong
i

Taizhou
Z

Yancheng
£

Long Xi Hua Yuan
HETE

Hanlin Fu Hua Yuan

B

Shang He Feng Hua Yuan
FiREE

Chun Xi Ji

BZ%

Ganglong Capital
EEAR

Intersection of Xiting Haiping
Highway and Jinshi Highway,
Tongzhou District,
Nantong City

HATANERSETRE
REBRAR

West Side of Haling South
Road and South Side of
Haijun Avenue, Medical
High-Tech Zone, Taizhou
City

RNTRERTRARER
i CEpN Tl

West Side of Qingnian Road,
North Side of Renmin East
Road, Hailing District

BEESFARE
ARRHEILH

East Side of Fangong Road
and North Side of
Wei'er Road, Economic
Development Zone,
Dongtai City, Jiangsu
Province

IHERATABRLE
BRRRA FoRLA

East of Jinhai Road and
South of Huanghai Road
(No. 77 Jinhai Road),
Xiangshui County,
Yancheng City

BYmEKELERR
EEEB(2FRTTH)

Under Development 40%
Rz

Completed 60%
BRT

Under Development 34%
e

Under Development 51%

e

Completed 100%
B%T

35,723

53,700

67,035

44,485

64,193

May-23
23550

June-22
20%6H

January-24
UE1A

August-24

24%8R

December-20
20F12A

81,919

118,953

149,307

506

F$;{2022
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
AEENEAR B /it
RS I BB HELE EEHR rEEEGER  HEER BIRE LihEEEY
(sam) (sam)
(FAK) (FA%)
Guan Tang Fu No. 8 Yanzhen Road, Yandu Completed 34% 69,049 March-22 17,235
B District, Yancheng City BRT 2F3f
B SR ETRR
Jun Qi Hua Yuan East Side of Kaifang Avenue Under Development 51% 43,865 October-23 155,949
EHE and South Side of Dongjin~~~ B¢k 23510
Road, Yannan Gaoxin District,
Yancheng City,
Jiangsu Province
THEETERaYE
RBCERE - RERREE
Yixing Ganglong Lakeside Mansion Opposite to the South Gate Under Development 100% 66,626 May-23 186,248
HE AR of Dongjiao Garden C Zone, B 23F54
Qiting Street,
Yixing City, Jiangsu Province
Lakeside Mansion
IHEERDIRS 8
RSEECERFHE
iy i
Yizheng Han Yuan North Side of Zhenzhou East Under Development 60% 54,966 February-24 150,093
B %8 Road, East Side of Jiangcheng %k u%2f
Road, South Side of Wuyi
Huayuan, Yizheng City,
Jiangsu Province
THREEIMENRALE -
DHRRE - A—TEEER
Shanghai s
Shanghai Shan Shui Shi Jian Lanhai Road, Chongming Completed 50% 86,590 June-21 17,349
o ILkiATE District, Shanghai City BRT 21%6A
FETERHEEER
Sichuan ]l
Chengdu Ganglong-Midea-Wei Lai Ying  Groups 2 and 4, Gemo Under Development 56% 50,514 May-23 144,524
g AREENRRG Community, Dongsheng e 23F5A
Street, Shuangliu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province
RlERATERERAE
ERtR-RmA
30 Annual Report 2022

Ganglong China Property Group Limited



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB ERfE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiRBEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FA%)

Zhejiang L
Hangzhou Qiu Shi Chen Yue East to adjacent land, Completed 25% 28,344 December-20 12,410
M HERE South to Chonghang BRI 20F12A
Street, West to Chongjin
Road and North to
Qiancun Port, Chongxian
Street, Yuhang District,
Hangzhou City (Lujiagjao
C-11 land parcel,
Chongxian New City)
T REEEGERE
B mERNE
BERMH - L EAE
(REMPEREC-1185)
Huzhou Jiangnan Taoyuan No. 328 Qianwan Road, Completed 25% 73,237 June-22 15,059
gl THHE Wuing Disict, Huzhou Gity ~ ©5%T 267
WA RERATER26%
Zha Xi Taoyuan No. 1789, 1919, Shiquangiao ~ Under Development 25% 176,013 September-24 148,098
R Road, Wuxing District, Fi%h 24%9A
Huzhou City
ANTREERRER
1789% - 19195
Shaoxing Ganglong - Bo Yue Fu Land parcel 39-1, North of Completed 70% 80,568 June-21 4,875
e ety Shangyu City, Shaoxing BRI 21%6A
B EEHIE30-14R
Jun Wang Mei Ting Land parcel J6, Shangyu Under Development 50% 92,923 May-23 213,482
EEXE Economic and Technological ~ F%+ 2354
Development Zone, Shaoxing
RRIEQERERER
Stk
Yiwu JuXiYing Southwest Side of the Completed 60% 19,633 December-22 3,020
%5 HEH Intersection of Zhuyang BT 2F12A
Road and Wukang Road,
Niansanli Street, Yiwu
City, Zhejiang Province
AIERSTTZEERYHS
HRFARINAAEHE

Sub-total it 3,424,592 6,262,974
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD ()

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEERELYE BB /thit
BENME BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(FAX) (FAX)
Jiangsu ik
Changshu Shine Time South Side of Shenzhen Road, ~ Completed 50% 56,936 September-21 4,840
) BRRE West Side of Nansha Road, 23T 21%9A
Changshu City
ERTAIBEE  mO%
[igi]
The Asia Mansion East of Green Belt, West Completed 33% 65,378 June-21 9,765
LEER of Planning Taishan BRI 21F6A
Road, South of Planning
Jinghai Road and North
of North Third Ring Road,
Changshu City
EAMSIENE 53
RIEIE - REENES
A =R
Haimen Run Yuan South of Nanjing Road, Completed 30% 63,285 November-19 391
st BE East of Jialingjiang Road, BRI 195114
Haimen District, Nantong
City, Jiangsu Province
e Ly apyEg
BIETHR
Nanjing Lan Wan Jiu Zhu Longrui Road, Liuhe District, Under Development 25% 60,138 May-23 181,571
3R Bens Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province ~ Bz 2345

Annual Report 2022
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEEAELE BB /thit
T b BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FA%)
Nantong Metropolis North of Zhangyuan Road, Completed 13% 109,890 September-20 16,748
3 nae South of Yanshou (West BRI 0E9F
of Hongxi Kindergarten),
Core Area of Yinhe New
District, Jinsha Town,
Tongzhou
BHEDERTHERD
BE KRR T
WA (IADRER)
Starry Bay Land parcel R2017-028, Completed 33% 56,868 September-19 13,108
BaE South Side of Jiangjing BRI 19594
Garden, West Side of
Hantong Road,
Tongzhou District, Nantong City
HRnENRERREN
IREEmEH
R2017-0281115%
Yunyue Heshan East of Fengyang Road, Completed 20% 66,710 June-20 3434
R North of Hehuan Road, BRT 20%6A
XiTong Science & Technology
Industrial Park,
Tongzhou District
BNERBNRELR
HB%E SR
The Garden of Time Groups 3, 4,5 and 6 Section Under development 25% 61,164 October-23 178,902
EtBEE of Chengbel Communtty, B3k 23E108
Chengbei Street, Rugao City
MR HER R
34 5ReiE
Talxing Majestic Mansion East Side of Zhenhai Road, Completed 33% 125,306 December-20 35,128
RE il North Side of Chengjiang BRI 20512
Road, Taixing City
RETEEHRE
ENESIA]

F$;{2022 33
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEERELYE BB /thit
BENME BB BRfE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIS thREEY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(FAX) (FAX)
Zhejiang ipie
Huzhou Eastern Mansion Land parcel 2017-49, Completed 60% 57,734 November-20 899
M KR South unit, Taihu Lake Resort, 24T 20%11A
Huzhou City
AN ARERERET
2017-495 15
Fontainbleau No. 188 Bianshan Avenue, Completed 49% 62,812 December-20 906
BAEY Taihu Lake Resort, BRT 205124
Huzhou City
AN AR REALAE
188%:
Taihu Mansion No. 76 Anju Road, Taihu Completed 49% 83,612 January-20 2,674
AHK Lake Resort, Huzhou City BRI 20F1A
BNTARERERERT6H
Sub-total Nt 868,833 448,366
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEEHELT B/t
T b BB BELE EAHRR rEEEGER  HEER RIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(F7K) (FHK)
Jiangsu Ik
Changshu Brown Stone Life South of Fuchunjiang Road and ~ Completed 25% 53,530 November-20 15,867
=% BEEZ North of Xiangchun Road, BRT 0F11A
Changshu
BAERIRMERBRMIL
Tianning Rong Yue Fu North Side of Zhenglujizi Completed 30% 53,936 QOctober-21 17,340
RERBT Road, West Side of BRI 21%10A
Yingbin Road, Tianning
District, Changzhou Gity
ENTRERBEETH
bl EHERE
Haimen Romantic Bay Henan, Haimen District, Hexi, ~ Completed 30% 52,569 November-19 2,791
pot Bl Dongzhou, Nantong Cty, BAT 198117
Jiangsu Province
TEEmEmaFHETE
BMARE
Lianyungang Feng Huang Yuan Zhu Haininggen South, Completed 20% 56,593 September-21 11,591
EE EEEE Fenghuang Avenue BRI 21%9A
East, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEATANREERE
BEAER
Rugao Imperial Garden South of Fushou East Road, Completed 30% 43,601 March-20 601
jut BAEE East of Xianhe Road, BRI 20834
North of Jigfang Road
and West of Lvyang
Road, Rucheng Street
IEEBESRANE
IESEALAR - R
Pt~ IR
Yancheng Jun Yue Fu Group 7, Beilin Completed 20% 99,553 July-19 29
5 B Community Residents A%T 1978
Committee, Tinghu
Economic Development
Zone, Yancheng City
BT EERER
It RERZEELA
F#;2022
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEBENT BB /thit
BENME BB BRfE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIS thREEY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(5K) (F5k)
Yangzhou Kai Chen Yuan West of Laoyangwei Road, Under Development 24% 57,548 October-23 123,164
B HRE East of Yunhe South Road, B 23F10
North of Huangcheng East
Road and South of Guiyu
Square, Yangzhou City,
Jiangsu Province
TEReRNTERTRUE
ENERIR  BNRR
e BREANE
Guangdong EX
Guangzhou Huangpu Project Wangcun Village, Longhu Held for future 20% 170,455 To be assessed 648,340
M HRER Street, Huangpu District, development FaE
Guangzhou City BERRRE
BN AR EEE
Sub-total Nt 587,785 819,728
Grand total Ehy 4,881,210 7,531,063
Notes: Bt %

(1)  Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) the total GFA available for (1) THREEBEZSRICEIDENTHEEE

sale and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (i) total GFA for BEMEmB LA HABEERE  (\FERmE
properties under development and (jii) total GFA for properties held for BIAEREEEE ¢ R(iFHERKFAZMENER
future development. SEEBE 2 -

(2)  For projects developed by the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures (2 MALEWNBRE - ALLENKEE QR
or associated companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the BEWMIEEME - BIEE RE 2 ERREEE
respective project. HIIER ©
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBNERFS

Board of Directors

Our Board consists of 8 Directors, of whom 3 are executive Directors,
2 are non-executive Directors and 3 are independent non-executive
Directors. Our Board is responsible for and has general powers for the
management and conduct of our business.

Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Ming (& BA), aged 60, is one of the executive Directors, one of
the founders of the Group, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. He is responsible for formulating and overviewing
the strategic planning of the Group. Since the establishment of the
Group, he has over 15 years of experience in the property development
industry. He has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates
the business in Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally
engaged in trading of textile product from March 1993 to June 2005 as
a director. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui completed EMBA courses in Nanjing University of Science and
Technology in Nanjing in 2013.

Mr. Lui is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing
Nam, both non-executive Directors, and the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, both executive Directors.

EEg

EXgmsRESMAK  HP3BR/UITES 2%
RIFATEFURSERBIFNTES - EFE
BREYHA—RENEEMFERERS -

HITES

BEAKE 605 AEP—BHITES - A&
BEF—REIPWA  EBTSIERAEEITHRE
HoHAEETRBAEAEENREEE -8
REERIUAR - B EEREHEREITERS
B15FLR - B NEAREZEWEQEM
BEE o RAIPIALEER - 254 H1993F3AE
20056 A NEFRITHBMAR AR (—HEZER]
EHBRBINAR)ANEETENEEREEE
% o MN2018F10 ASEELZ T AMITES °

B S E R 2013 F £/ RS 3 T K EEMBA
AR o

BEERBNXEERBKFEEE (B RIFNTE
B)NEE  BTREERAEREEOR/RT
BER)MMR -

F$;{2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEERNBERE(A)

Mr. Lui Jin Ling (B35), aged 40, is one of the executive Directors
and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the cost planning and management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited
in April 2006 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of the Group,
Mr. Lui has over 15 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of
the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui studied Computer Engineering at the University of California,
Irvine from January 2004 to March 2005.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (2 %88), aged 42, is one of the executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overseeing the risk management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited from
January 2005 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of our Group,
Mr. Lui has over 15 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy has served as the director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8
October 2018.

Mr. Lui obtained a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration in
January 2005 from Chapman University in the United States of America.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Wing Mau (2K %), aged 70, is one of our non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1960s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director, the elder
brother of both Mr. Lui Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, and the uncle
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Wing Nam (& k), aged 67, is one of the non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1970s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director,
the elder brother of Mr. Lui Ming, chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-
executive Director and the uncle of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive
Director.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Guo Shaomu (2844X), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 June 2020. He is responsible for providing
independent advice to the Board. He is also a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee, and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Guo has over 13 years of experience in investment banking in
Hong Kong. From February 2000 to February 2001, Mr. Guo worked
in Salomon Smith Barney, an investment bank principally engaged
in providing financial services (then an investment banking arm of
Citigroup Inc.), where he served as an associate and he was primarily
responsible for supporting the marketing and execution efforts of the
China team. From March 2001 to September 2005, Mr. Guo worked in
HSBC Markets (Asia) Limited, an investment bank principally engaged
in providing financial services, where his last position is an associate
director and he was primarily responsible for the execution of China-
related transactions. From October 2005 to April 2007, Mr. Guo worked
in J.P. Morgan Investment Banking Asia, an investment bank principally
engaged in providing financial services, where his last position was
executive director in Investment Banking Coverage/Merger & Acquisition
Department and he was primarily responsible for marketing efforts
covering the real estate sector in China. From April 2007 to April 2013,
Mr. Guo worked in the real estate team of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited,
an investment bank principally engaged in providing financial services,
where his last position is a managing director in the Investment Banking
Division and he was one of the key members responsible for the
business in the real estate sector in the Greater China region. Mr. Guo
has been an independent non-executive director of Yida China Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 3639), a real estate developer in the PRC since June 2014,
Since February 2015, Mr. Guo has been an independent non-executive
director of Fantasia Holdings Group Co., Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1777), a real estate
developer in the PRC, Since March 2020, Mr. Guo has served as an
independent non-executive director of GalaxyCore Inc. (a company listed
on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
stock code: 688728), a Chinese technology company. He is also an
independent non-executive director of Sunkwan Properties Group limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code
6900), a real estate developer in the PRC since October 2020. Since
November 2020, Mr. Guo has served as an independent non-executive
director of Shanghai HeartCare Medical Technology Corporation Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
6609), a Chinese biotechnology company.

Mr. Guo obtained his Bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering
from Zhejiang University in July 1989, a Master’s degree in computer
engineering from the University of Southern California in May 1993
and a Master’s degree in business administration from the School of
Management of Yale University in May 1998.
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Ms. Tang Lo Nar (38 &), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 June 2020. She is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board. She is also a member of the
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Board.

Ms. Tang has over 27 years of experience in accounting, tax, audit,
company secretarial and finance. She began her career by joining Ernst
& Young, an international accounting firm in September 1995 where she
last served as a Senior Staff Accountant Il. Ms. Tang then joined KPMG
Tax Limited, an international tax service provider in March 2001, where
she was involved in a wide range of tax compliance and advisory tasks
and left in August 2004 as a Tax Manager. Ms. Tang began her own
business by establishing TLN Co., Ltd. in Hong Kong in August 2004
to provide accounting, management consultancy, tax planning and
company secretarial services. Ms. Tang was the company secretary of
two Hong Kong Main Board listed companies, namely Asia Resources
Holdings Limited (stock code: 899) and Karce International Holdings
Company Limited (currently known as Starlight Culture Entertainment
Group Limited) (stock code: 1159), for the periods from December 2008
to April 2010 and from January 2009 to April 2010 respectively. She
was then the company secretary of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Gem Holdings Limited) (stock
code:1191), which is principally engaged in the provision of financial
service, from March 2012 to October 2014. Ms. Tang also took up the
role as the company secretary of ISP Global Limited (stock code: 8487)
from September 2018 to March 2021, a company principally engaged in
the sale of sound and communication systems and related services. Ms.
Tang joined Shuanghua Holdings Limited (stock code: 1241), a China-
based company principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
auto air-conditioner parts and components, since May 2011 as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary, and she was re-elected as
an executive director in June 2015.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in October 1995. She further obtained
a master degree in English for the professions from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and another master degree in applied finance
from University of Western Sydney in November 2002 and September
2004 respectively. She is a Fellow of the Association of chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
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Mr. Chan Pak Hung (& #E7%8), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 February 2022. He is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of experience in corporate finance,
compliance, auditing, and company secretarial fields. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of JLogo Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8527), and the company secretary of Shanghai Dongzheng
Automotive Finance Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2718). Mr. Chan had been
a manager of the listing division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and has worked in international accounting firms.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of Business Administration (Professional
Accountancy) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a CFA charterholder of the CFA Institute.

Senior Management

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management
of our business. The biography of each of our senior management
member is set out below.

Mr. Xie Jianging (#®1%&), aged 61, is the executive president of
our Group. He joined our Group in August 2007. He is responsible
for overseeing our administration and human resources management
function of our Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he worked as a researcher at the Fujian
Institute of Tropical Crops* (f8i&%& HFEMRIZHIZEFA), an institute
under the agricultural department of Fujian province, which specializes
in the research of tropical and subtropical crops from August 1983 to
March 1993. He was the executive director, legal representative and
majority shareholder of Zhangzhou Qingya Garden Development Co.,
Ltd. (Z/H T H B AR A F) until 2016, a company which was
principally engaged in landscape engineering.

Mr. Xie obtained Bachelor of Agriculture, with a specialization in

Horticulture from Fujian College of Agriculture* (187 &£ %) in July
1988.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Xie is the younger cousin of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, Mr. Lui Wing Nam
and the elder cousin of Mr. Lui Ming.

Mr. Dai Xiaofeng (& /)\g), aged 43, is one of the vice-presidents of
our Group, and has been with our group since May 2018. Mr. Dai is
responsible for overseeing the project operation of the Group.

From August 2002 to October 2004, Mr. Dai was an assistant engineer
at China Construction Eighth Division Installation Co., Ltd.* (FEZN\BZ%
# 2 7]), a construction contractor. From October 2004 to May 2016,
Mr. Dai worked in Jiangsu Changfa Property Group Co., Ltd.* (T &k 5%
HESEBEAFR AR, his last position was president of Jiangsu Changfa
Property Group Co., Ltd.. Mr. Dai then worked at Zhongnan Real Estate
Jinan Co.* (P& B =15 /A 7)), a company which is principally
engaged in property development, from May 2016 to April 2018, as a
regional president.

Mr. Dai completed a three-year vocational course from Nanjing Tech
University (fF 5 T3 A2 in June 2002 majoring in Building Equipment
Installation and Management. Mr. Dai further obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Civil Engineering in January 2012 from Southeast University
(BRFIKE2). He is enrolled EMBA outreach program at Nanjing University
since October 2018. He held the Engineer qualification issued by the
Human Resource and Social Security Bureau of Changzhou (/)N A
HEBMAERERD) since September 2011,

Mr. Wang Guozhen (E£E]E), aged 44, is one of the vice-presidents
of our Group and he is primarily responsible for overseeing the project
design and management functions of the Group. He joined the Group in
March 2013.

Mr. Wang over 17 years’ experience in structural engineering. From
August 2001 to March 2011, Mr. Wang was a structural designer at the
Wuxi Architectural Design and Research Institute* (#8512 58k 5T
7ebi BBR & fF A 7)), an architectural design institute. From April 2011 to
February 2013, Mr. Wang worked as the Structural manager at Jiangsu
Changfa Property Group Co., Ltd.* (L& E 3 EEBEGR A 7).

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering (Building
Engineering) from Southeast University (38 & A £2%) in June 2001.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Zhu Hui (5:48), aged 39, is one of the vice-presidents of our Group
and he is primarily responsible for overseeing our sales and marketing
function of the Group. He joined the Group in July 2019.

Mr. Zhu has more than 13 years of experience in sales and marketing.
He joined Jiangsu Zhongnan Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (T &k Fi&
HEBRR M AR AT in May 2008 and left in April 2019 as vice-general
manager at marketing department, which is a company principally
engaged in real estate sector and the shares of which are listed at
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000961). Before joining our
Group, Mr. Zhu worked at Hongyang Group Nantong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* GARZ S E R BEHE B R A 7)) as assistant general manager from
March 2019 to July 2019.

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’s degree in marketing from Jimei University
(B£FEAXE) in July 2005.

Mr. Lam Yu Tin Eugene (#fH), aged 45, is the chief financial
officer and company secretary of the Group and is mainly responsible
for overseeing the corporate finance, financial reporting, compliance
and company secretarial matters of the Group. He joined the Group in
October 2018.

Mr. Lam has over 23 years of experience in accounting and finance.
From 1999 to 2008, he had worked in numerous senior financial and
auditing positions, including PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international
accounting firm; various Hong Kong listed companies including
Techwayson Holdings Limited (now known as China Uptown Group
Company Limited) (stock code: 2330), Pacific Century Premium
Developments Limited (stock code: 432) and Hutchison Harbour Ring
Limited (now known as China Oceanwide Holdings Limited) (stock
code: 715). From 2008 to 2017, he worked in Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited where his last position is assistant vice-president
in Compliance & Monitoring, Listing & Regulatory Affairs Division. Before
joining the Group, he worked in Huarong Investment Stock Corporation
Limited (former stock code: 2277), a financial asset management
company in the PRC, where his last position was the deputy director of
Business Monitoring Department.

Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor’s degree in business administration and a
Master’s degree in business administration, both from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1999 and 2005 respectively. He
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since 2003 and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2007 .

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (3R 3%), aged 55, is one of the vice-
presidents of the Group and he is primarily responsible for formulation of
corporate finance and financial strategy and investor relations. He joined
the Group in May 2020.

Mr. Cheung has over 27 years of experience in auditing, financial
accounting, initial public offerings, merger and acquisitions, corporate
finance activities and investor relations. Mr. Cheung joined the assurance
and business advisory services department of PricewaterhouseCoopers
in July 1994 and left as a manager in the corporate finance and recovery
department of PricewaterhouseCoopers in March 2003. From March
20083 to March 2008, Mr. Cheung served in Boto Company Limited,
a festival product manufacturing company, and held various positions
including chief financial officer and consultant. Mr. Cheung joined Kaisa
Group Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1638.HK) in July 2008 as the finance
director, and for the period from November 2009 to December 2014,
Mr. Cheung served as its chief financial officer, company secretary
and joint authorised representative. From January to March 2017, Mr.
Cheung served in Culture Landmark Investment Limited (stock code:
674.HK) as the company secretary and chief financial officer. From
March 2017 to March 2020, Mr. Cheung served in Harvest Property
Holdings Limited, a China-based property developer, and held various
positions including chief financial officer, vice president, joint authorised
representative and company secretary.

From December 2011 to March 2022, Mr. Cheung served as an
independent non-executive director, and was the chairman of the audit
committee, of China Aluminium International Engineering Corporation
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2068) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601068).

Mr. Cheung was admitted as a member of the AICPA in August 1996.
He was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst by the Association
for Investment Management and Research in the United States of
America in September 2000. Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor’s
degree in science from the University of Hong Kong in December 1990
and his master’s degree (distinction) in quantum fields and fundamental
forces from Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine,
University of London in January 1992.
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Directors’ Report

ESHE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Company Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 October
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s ordinary shares (the “Shares”)
were listed on the Stock Exchange since 15 July 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries
established in the PRC are primarily engaged in the development of real
estate projects in the PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue and net results for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those discussions form
part of this directors’ report.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance.
The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings
and development resources to the employees so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry and,
at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfilment in their
positions.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with customers and provide the products in a way that satisfy needs and
requirements of the customers. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insight on the changing
market demand for the products so that the Group can respond
proactively. The Group has also established procedures in place for
handling customers’ complaints to ensure customers’ complaints are
dealt with in a prompt and timely manner.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group’s business. We reinforce business partnerships
with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication in a proactive
and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely delivery.

Further details of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact
on the Group can be found in the “environmental, social and
governance report” which is available on the Company’s website of
www.glchina.group and on the website of the Stock Exchange. Those
discussions form part to this directors’ report.

Results and Dividend
The consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out on pages 111 to 239 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Dividend Policy IR B IBUR

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”), RABBEM—BRERF(RERE]) @ 515
details of which are disclosed as follows: WEWNT :

Purpose BHY

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the EEHESBEANTZEEAARNTKRRESIRELIE
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment of A% BB AR R K353 -
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and guidelines JRAI R 155

The Board has the discretion to declare dividends to the shareholders of EARNRIEHLSIEMEI(THAR ) RFrE@EA AR
the Company, subject to the Articles of the Association of the Company EHREBRERT - FEEGRAEZEATERRE - B
(the “Articles”) and all applicable laws and regulations, taking into BRAARRET RIS

account the factors set out below:

e financial results; o HITGELE

e cash flow situation; o MEMEAMNR

. business conditions and strategies; o AR TR

e  future operations and earnings; o RIRAEE U

e capital requirements and expenditure plans; o BeFREMALZAE
° interests of shareholders; o [Tz

° taxation considerations; o FKEE:

° any contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions on payment o  RFNIKEBEMEL  ETENERES : &
of dividends; and

e any other factors that the Board may consider relevant. o EFEFRA/BHNEMEMESE -
Review of the Dividend Policy EHREBE
The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to SR REREMIRERE -
time.
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Annual General Meeting and Closure of the

Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the 2023 AGM

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “2023 AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Thursday, 8 June 2023. The register of
members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 5 June 2023
to Thursday, 8 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which period
no share transfer will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining
Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2
June 2023.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 240 of this annual report.

Principal Subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
34 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Reserves

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following the
payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,285 million (2021: RMB1,557 million).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 34(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Borrowings from Bank and Other Financial
Institutions

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Loan and Guarantee

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management, the controlling shareholders of the
Company (“Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective associates
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)).

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

B
REBMAAREZE20226F12 431 B IFFEH#E
DB EFBHARNANFROREUBRERLEEY
EIRKRMITE21 ©

o] 7k fé

ARBHEUBRALEE  REENREMREES
MBS REREBEREREZR - ARFEEF
BENXNRBEEE BRI MEENESR -

R2022F 12 A31H » ARFWMAI RS IRFHEE A
AR 085 HE T (20214F : ARME1557THE
JT) °

ARRIFARREEDNFBTCHNEE W B RE
Pi5E34(0) ©

HRAT R E A& BB K

REBPN20226F12 A31 BRRIT R E & R #HE
BRI BENAF IR A P IS HRERMITE22 ©

BREER
HZE2022F12A31HILFE - AEEEEE
REEAARRNES  SAETEE  ERER
(ERBRR]IESABBA(EELEBHER
SARARFE ETRA(CETRA D)) REH
FREFEEATERER -



Directors’ Report (Continued)
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the year, the Group repurchased an aggregate of 4,905,000
ordinary Shares at an aggregate consideration of approximately
HK$14,744,505 on the Stock Exchange as follows:

BE BRESIHEAQXFANLD

RER - NEBREE R FTRERA ££4,905,0000% %
B BETRIBA A14,744,5058 7T » SFIBIAT ¢

No. of Shares Total
repurchased Consideration per share Consideration
Month of Repurchase  #[E A4 EBERMEE BRAE HAE
Highest HK$ Lowest HK$
REBTT RIEET
January 2022 20224 1R 247,000 4.4100 4.2300 1,068,473
September 2022 20229 9H 2,470,000 4.1400 2.2900 9,428,746
October 2022 20225104 1,524,000 2.1500 1.8800 3,058,417
November 2022 202211 A 664,000 2.0400 0.8400 1,188,869
Total et 4,905,000 14,744,505

The Board considers that the share repurchases were in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders and would lead to an
enhancement of the net assets value per share and/or earnings per
share of the Company. All the abovementioned repurchased shares
were cancelled during the year.

On 11 November 2022, the Company redeemed the outstanding
US$13,000,000 13.5% 2022 Senior Notes at maturity, in full at their
principal amount together with interest accrued to maturity date and
such senior notes were cancelled and delisted from the SGX.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares
or other listed securities during the year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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EEHE(HE)

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Guo Shaomu

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wan Ho Yin (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Biographical Details of the Directors and the
Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 37 to
45 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr Lui Chi Chung Jimmy,
being the executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date.

Each of Mr. Guo Shaomu and Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the independent
non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date. Mr. Chan Pak Hung, being an independent non-executive
Director, has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing from 11 February 2022.
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EEHE(E)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

Contracts with Controlling Shareholders

Other than disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

Director’s Interest in Transactions, Arrangement

or Contract of Significance

Other than disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Compensation of Directors and Senior
Management

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the Directors
and senior management of the Group are decided by the Board
with reference to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as incentive
for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said scheme are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for the year ended 31 December 2022, by the Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

Continuing Disclosure Obligations Pursuant to
the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

Deed of Non-Competition

On 20 June 2020, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered into a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favor
of the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, each of the
Controlling Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken,
jointly and severally given certain non-competition undertakings to
the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
and non-competition undertaking — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Deed of Non-competition during the year ended 31 December
2022. The independent non-executive Directors were delegated with
the authority to review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the
Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the relevant undertakings and were not aware of any
non-compliance of the Deed of Non-competition for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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Management Contracts

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ service contracts”
in this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Material Legal Proceedings
The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2020, the Company has conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work towards
enhancing the value of our Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme will
provide the Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
selected participants.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares commence
on the Stock Exchange, such 10% limit represents 160,000,000 shares,
but excluding any shares which may be issued upon the exercise of the
over-allotment option.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group to each selected participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 months period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date (i.e. it is to be expired on
14 July 2030 and the remaining life of the scheme is approximately
7 years and 3 months), but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2022 and there were no outstanding share options under
the Share Option Scheme during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2022. The number of options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme was 160,000,000 as at 1 January 2022 and as at
31 December 2022.

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of our Group or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to our Group is entitled to be offered and
granted options. However, no individual who is resident in a place where
the grant, acceptance or exercise of options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such
place or where, in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or granted
options.

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme has been set
out in the section headed “Statutory and General Information — E.
Other Information — 12. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Its

Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code,
are set out below:

Interests in Shares of the Company

EERBESTHRAERKRN - 1

REMR 13 R (EHESE 2 I R A R

R2022F12A31H » ARAREERGZSTRAR
RARARRE MR EZE (TR EHRPE
ERBIEXVER) Bk - BRI REEZTHES
RIECE S RS G0 Y E35216/BrE AL IEFT 58
ZafMagmssok s - IREGZESTANEBA

RRTBRAD 2 =

Number of Shares
or underlying

ARR R PR FORRIAT

Approximate
percentage of

Director/Chief Executive Capacity/Nature of Interest SharestNete)  shareholding®Note )
IR A7 S AR B HFREA
B BRTHRAER B EEME IR 4 B 8 (e Epat-4tiay
Mr. Lui Ming Interest in controlled corporation 372,867,000 (L)Note2) 22.99%
BRREA Rt EE R (HiE2)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy Interest in controlled corporation 313,125,000 (L)Note3) 19.31%
BRI E REHEEER (PHEE3)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam Interest in controlled corporation 313,125,000 (L)Note3) 19.31%
Bk A Rzt EEE R (PE3)
Beneficial owner 2,613,000 0.16%
BEmEA A
Mr. Lui Jin Ling Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note 4) 13.42%
=TS REHEEER (Hiiz4)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note4) 13.42%
Bk EE Rt EEE R (s
F #2022
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EEHE(HE)

Notes:

1)

As at 31 December 2022, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Huaxing”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by Mr. Lui Ming. Mr. Lui Ming is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO.

These 313,125,000 Shares are held by Hualian Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualian”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui Chi
Chung Jimmy respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui
Chi Chung Jimmy are each deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Hualian for the purpose of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualong”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing
Mau respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing Mau are
each deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Hualong for the
purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations,
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the
Shares or underlying Shares:

FERREEMATHARFR
D RABRER G 2 R RAR

20225612 A31 8 AR BT AL (R
DAEBHZETRABRIN REDFRLS S
AR FE B IRIRCE F A (5151 )E5 33616 /E8 A
IR IE R B M 2 5% M LA _EHERS -

Number of Shares Approximate
or underlying percentage of
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest Sharesiete)  shareholding®ote 1)
R 4% AR B FREA
REME EREME IR A7 B & (e Epa =4kl
Ms. Chan Mei Kam Interest of spouseMote2) 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%
BREZ L+ P (B  (Fs2)
Ms. Wong Sau Suet Interest of spouseMote3) 315,738,000 (L) 19.47%
EESLT R (G2 ()
Ms. Wong Kwai Fa Interest of spouseMote 4) 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%
\EEL L Ao (B M (k)
Huaxing Beneficial owner 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%
FEH BmEAA
Hualian Beneficial owner 313,125,000 (L) 19.31%
R BEmEA A
Hualong Beneficial owner 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%
£l BEnEBA
F #2022
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EE®REE)

Notes:

1)

As at 31 December 2022, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing, a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Lui Ming and he is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Chan
Mei Kam is the spouse of Mr. Lui Ming, therefore she is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Ming is interested and
deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

These 313,125,000 Shares are held by Hualian, a company owned
as to 60% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and he is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Hualian for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Wong Sau
Suet is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, therefore she is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Wing Nam is interested
and deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong, a company owned as
to 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Mau and he is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Hualong for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Wong Kwai
Fa is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, therefore she is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Wing Mau is interested and
deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time during
the year under review was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Major Suppliers and Customers

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
0.25% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 0.86% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
2.33% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 6.84% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
the Group’s five largest customers.
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EEHE(HE)

Event after the Year End Date

On 12 January 2023, Jiangsu Zhengchang Zhongrunfu Investment
Development Co., Ltd. (the “dV Partner”), Anhui Gangfan Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (an indirect and wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. and Guangde Gangxing Real Estate Co., Ltd. entered into an
equity interests swap agreement (“Equity Interests Swap”), pursuant
to which JV Partner agrees to transfer its 30% equity interests in
Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Huangshan Project
Co”) to Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd.; and Anhui Gangfan Real
Estate Co., Ltd. agrees to transfer the 100% equity interests in Guangde
Gangxing Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Guangde Project Co”) it held, to the
JV Partner. The Group is in the process of performing a valuation on the
fair value of assets and liabilities of Huangshan Project Co and Anhui
Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd.

Huangshan Project Co holds the entire interests in a property under
development, located at North Side of Beihai Road, Tunguang Town,
Tunxi District, Huangshan City, Anhui Province.

Guangde Project Co holds the entire interests in a property development
project, located at Yaoshang Plot, Taiji Avenue, Guangde City,
Xuancheng City, Anhui Province.

Following the completion of the Equity Interests Swap, (i) the Company
will no longer hold any equity interests in Guangde Project Co, which
will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company and the Guangde Project
Co will no longer be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group; and (i) the Huangshan Project Co will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group.

Tax Relief and Exemption of Holders of Listed
Securities

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their respective holding of
the Company'’s securities.

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

HEBHREE

R2023F1 A128  JIHEERBERERRE
RAR([EELEBHE]  ZHENEXBRA
B ARRHELZBNBAR)  THEEETES
RAR(AQRIREEZEWNBAR) « ZILEREE
¥ERAGIMNEEMABEEXFR ARG ARE
ERpE((REBR]) Bt SECERMHER
ERZEBEEEARANEEZENBINAESE
E#FRAB(THELUEE Q] M30%KE: &
ZHAENBEBRAFRERNAECEBTEE
HEAMEEMAEREXAERAR([ERERED
1) 100%M#E - AE@EEEHHLEGARRET
HENBEERAFEERABN AR BEET
&E -

BEBRARBEURLBEE LT EREEL
IR RIMFE R Y R 2R

[E

EEEB ARRBAUNZEAE T T EEH AR

REE RO EPYEN DA ERD

TERBEERE  (ARRBTBREREBEER
AEMEE - BB TBAARARNMEAR - A
EEEE AR TIBERARBEHBRRPESA
R REILIEERRBKAREENZENE

S

LEHRSFEANRBEEREH
®
ARTUEFMEARAVBRASABEARANE
ST EEN AR EERRR -



Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Retirement Benefits Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the employees of the
Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are required to participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of
both Hong Kong and the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group’s are set out in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this section, during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
had not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Related Party Transactions and Connected

Transactions

The significant related party transactions as disclosed in Note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute a “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be)
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that needs to
be disclosed or is not fully exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

Since the Listing, the Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors and the Group’s senior management who, because of his/her
office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code for the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2022. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-
compliance of the Model Code by the senior management of the Group
for the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022.

Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the public float as required under
the Listing Rules.
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EEHE(HE)

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for all Directors and senior management. These insurances provided
protection to the liability incurred from related cost, fees, expense and
legal actions resulting from corporate activities. Pursuant to Article 192
of the Articles, the Directors, managing Directors, alternate Directors,
auditors, secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, and their respective executors or administrators,
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty, and
none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of any other of them, or for joining in any receipt for the sake of
conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys
or effects of the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody,
or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any
moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or for any other
loss, misfortune or damage which may arise in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto, except as the same
shall happen by or through their own fraud, dishonesty or recklessness.
The Company may take out and pay the premium and other moneys
for the maintenance of insurance, bonds and other instruments for the
benefit either of the Company or the Directors (and/or other officers) or
any of them to indemnify the Company and/or Directors (and/or other
officers) named therein for this purpose against any loss, damage,
liability and claim which they may suffer or sustain in connection with
any breach by the Directors (and/or other officers) or any of them of their
duties to the Company.

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

EEHBERFE
ARREREMBEERSRERBLHEENR
SEBENEERR - ZERRACEEHME
HEZHBKA - B AXRERTH 2 AER
HIRFE - RIFEBEIZMRNFE 19215 - NDREH
EE BERKE BRREE  REE WE
REMEBEBE  UREREEARMENEKZ
XREAMMB) REZEBZHITARITHAR ©
BUARRRBEERRBERZRER  FETE
RAEFEEF 77 - EEMRITALITHRAER
MITBGERES B 2B SE 5T R BE
HEARMITRBEMIEL - BAEHERZEMTR
M S KA ERBARE 2 EAFHFR - BR - WK
Z . EX BEREMAXHREES  BEHR
AEHFRTHEMABEIREZE(NE) - AlE
A o ZEA LR BAR T EREHRE
BEEA—HTZ27/8 R RBHKE  HARE
STHR DI 2 BB AR R - AR R EAIFIR S
W TIEREFRERE 2 EAERRITHEA
AL HAREFFRERHIRE 2 EAIFRIBERE
ZEAERARHBR - HEARRTESE AR
BRERXEEIEAEE 2 EMER - FEH
B8 BEARSEBEEASGREF - THEXRHE
BRMEEE - AERR - REERIR R
RULBMATIEANES (R RELSHBE) A
BREFNER(R LEMSEBRE)RZALE
THEMALTRERARRNBEMEILERY
EfiER - BE - BERRE  ARFA/AR
ARER(R/IEMSRBE)KZFEALED
EERA TS - REX R B E MR
TR R - B HEMXETAZA -



Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEHE(E)

Corporate Governance

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code of the
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), as its own code
to govern its corporate governance practices. Save for the deviation
in relation to the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
being the same individual, the Board considers that, the Company has
complied with, to the extent applicable and permissible, the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Lui Ming is currently the Chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group, responsible
for strategic planning and managing of the Group’s overall business
and operations. Mr. Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since the establishment of the Group. The
Board believes that the current structure enables the Group to make
and implement business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes
the Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority,
accountability and independent decision making under the present
arrangement will not be impaired because of the diverse background
and experience of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. Further, the audit committee of the Company, which
consists of a majority of independent non-executive Directors, has free
and direct access to the Company’s external auditors and independent
professional advisers when it considers necessary. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 67
to 98 of this annual report.

Donations
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounting to RMB966,000.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditor the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Company and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Auditor

There has been no change in the Company’s auditor since the Listing
Date. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
A resolution will be proposed at the 2023 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company was in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company in all material aspects.

Changes in the Board and the Directors’
Information

There was no change in the Board and the information of Directors
since the date of the 2022 interim report of the Company and up to
the date of this report, which is required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Lui Ming

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

BREES

EHEE S REEE R BRUDEN T AR
AR R B R A RIS A R B E 2022412
31 L FE ST R A BT -

B Em

BETMHEHE  ARRGHEMITEZE - #HE
2022F 12 A1 AL FEMRE B HRRERES
FAGE TR =R ATERT « AR A R2023F %
HRAFAS HRER AR BEERRKESH
EEISATAAN R RIHAZ ST -

EEFERERER
HZE2022F12A31HILFE » XRARIEMBEEKN
FEBETHARABEATEMNEBERNE
3o

EEENESERNEE

BANRA022F P HMmE A PR EARRE A -
EEREFENMERE EHRRIZE13.51B(1)
R EAT IR EE

RRESE
BA%E
E

& - 20235F3H31H



Corporate Governance Report
TEERWE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date
of this report, save for the deviation in relation to the Chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer being the same individual, the
Board believes that the Company has complied with the code provision
of the CG Code. The Company will continue to review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code.

The Board

(1) Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation
of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board Committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

(2) Directors’ and senior management’s liability
insurance and indemnity
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(3) Board composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Hung (appointed on 11 February 2022)
Mr. Guo Shaomu

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wan Ho Yin (resigned on 11 February 2022)

Except that Mr. Lui Ming is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam; the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy
and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, Mr. Lui Jin Ling is the son of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, the Board met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan
Pak Hung and Ms. Tang Lo Nar have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(4) Board diversity policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the nomination
committee (or the board) shall have a policy concerning diversity
of board members, and shall disclose the policy on diversity or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report. The
board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) specifies that in designing the composition of the
Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The appointment of Directors will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be evaluated against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The composition of the Board will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report every year and the Nomination Committee
will supervise the implementation of this policy. The Nomination
Committee will review the effectiveness of this policy, as
appropriate, discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval on an annual basis.

As at 31 December 2022, the diversity of the Board is illustrated
as below. Further details on the biographies and experience of the
current Directors are set out on page 37 to page 42 of this annual

report.
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion that
the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and
skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Measurable objectives
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence: The Board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong element of independence in the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors shall be of sufficient
calibre and stature for their views to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of
skills appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Directors have a mix of finance, academic
and management backgrounds that taken together provide
the Company with considerable experience in a range of
activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the Board Diversity Policy has the
following objectives to comply with the Listing Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

3. atleast one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise; and

4. an appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectations and international and
local recommended best practices.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the Board
Diversity Policy.

As at 31 December 2022, approximately 63% and 37% of the
Group’s total workforce were male and female respectively. While
all members of our senior management are male, the board of
directors of certain of our subsidiaries consisted of 50% female
directors as at 31 December 2022. The Company will continue to
enhance diversity in different levels of workforce.
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Confirmation of independence by the
independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as
set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring Directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as their
respective identity of the public companies or organisations
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed
to disclose, and already disclosed their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.

Induction and continuous professional
development

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, each newly
appointed Director should be provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
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For the year ended to 31 December 2022, all Directors have been
updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements through reading
materials to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during the
year ended 31 December 2022 is summarised below:
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Attended Attended
trainings trainings
organised organised by
by the professional Reading
Directors Company organizations materials
ZME AT S mEE
B LR HEEI EEE=2 b | R AR
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) v v
BREE(EE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling v v
EHESE A
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy v 4
BEREE
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lui Wing Mau v v
BRI A
Mr. Lui Wing Nam v 4
=K S A
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES
Mr. Chan Pak Hung v v v
BRAEIBSEAE
Mr. Guo Shaomu v v v
WAHSEE
Ms. Tang Lo Nar v v v
B EEMf L+
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer (“CEOQ”) should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Lui Ming is currently both the Chairman of the Board and
the CEO of our Group, responsible for strategic planning and
managing of our Group’s overall business and operations. Mr.
Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall management of our
Group since the establishment of our Group. The Board believes
that the current structure enables us to make and implement
business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes our
Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. Our Board considers that the balance of power and
authority, accountability and independent decision-making
under our present arrangement will not be impaired because of
the diverse background and experience of our non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors. Further, our
Audit Committee, which consists a majority of independent non-
executive Directors, has free and direct access to our Company’s
external auditors and independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary. Therefore our Directors consider that the
deviation from paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In order to maintain
good corporate governance and to fully comply with paragraph
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, our Board will regularly
review the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles
of chairman and CEO separately.

The Board and the senior management, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the balance
of power and authority. As at 31 December 2022, the Board
comprised three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date.

Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date.
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Each of Mr. Guo Shaomu and Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the
independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. Mr. Chan Pak Hung, being an
independent non-executive Director, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 11 February 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
monitoring and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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(10) Board meetings and committee meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the intended date
of the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman of the
Board or the committee members prior to the meeting. Minutes
of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Board or committee members
and dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the relevant Board or
committee members for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, 8 board meetings were
held and the attendance of the individual Directors at these
meetings is set out in the table below:

HE2022F12A31HIEFE » 81T T8RE
Eeed FAHESERZSEINEEBR
YR TE

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
B BHE BERUE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 8/8
BREE(EERHNTEE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) 8/8
BEREE(HTESE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 8/8
BEREE(HITESF)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 8/8
BIKIK S (FEHITESE)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 8/8
Bk S (FEPTTEE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 7/7
BRIAB L (B IHHTEE)
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Independent Non-executive Director) 8/8
WS (HTIFHTEE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 8/8

BEBL L (BHHTEE)

(11) Model Code for Securities Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding dealings in
the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s
senior management who, because of his/her office or employment,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company or
its securities. The Directors and the Group’s senior management
have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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(12) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management on the Company’s
behalf.

(13) Corporate governance function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the
Company’s annual reports.
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(14) Independent views and input

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
and at least one-third of its members being independent non-
executive Directors. Further, independent non-executive Directors
will be appointed to Board Committees as required under the
Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly
adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence. A Director
(including independent non-executive Director) who has a material
interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

Board Committees
(1) Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) comprised four
members, namely Mr. Lui Ming (chairman and executive Director),
Mr. Chan Pak Hung, Mr. Guo Shaomu and Ms. Tang Lo Nar
(each an independent non-executive Director). The majority of the
committee members are independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Lui Ming is the chairman of this committee. Mr. Wan Ho Yin
ceased to act as an member and Mr. Chan Pak Hung has been
appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 11 February 2022.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
followings:

° to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individual(s) nominated for
directorship(s);

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board (if any) and
the chief executive;

to review the Nomination Policy and to ensure disclosure of
the same in the Corporate Governance Report, including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the nomination committee to select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorship;

to review the Board Diversity Policy periodically and to ensure
disclosure of the same or a summary of it in the Corporate
Governance Report, including the measurable objectives that
the Committee has set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

to ensure disclosure will be made in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting where the Board
proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent
non-executive Directors at the general meeting:

° the process used for identifying the individual and why
the Board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

° if the proposed independent non-executive Directors
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual
would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

° how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. Their written terms of reference are
available on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and the

REZBERIZME - &5 BE 0 REITE
B N B P R AR E NS N FRERF
BIREARREIAL - REZRBENHEER
REEEERHTESSELRE - HEEB
REE TR R A QRS BREER

Company.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the attendance of the HZE2022F12A31HILFE  RREE®
Nomination Committee’s meeting is as below: BREEOEFBERLAT

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
5= BHE BERLE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) 2/2
SHELE(TE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 1/1
BRIAMG 4
Mr. Guo Shaomu 2/2
ABSEE
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
M

In the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed and discussed
the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of the Directors,
reviewed and discussed the Board Diversity Policy and discussed
all measurable objectives set for implementing the policy and the
progress made towards meeting the measurable objective in the
policy, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors,
reviewed the time commitment required from the non-executive
Director and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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(2) Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted the following policy with regard to
nomination of Directors.

1. Objective
The Policy aims to:

o set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

° ensure that the Board the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company; and

o ensure the Board’s continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

2. Scope
The Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

3. Nomination and Appointment of Directors
3.1 Criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the Nomination Committee shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships:

e Character and integrity.

° Quialifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the business and corporate strategies
of the Company.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

° Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.
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Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee
for achieving diversity on the Board.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the business of the Company.

3.2 Nomination Procedures
3.2.1Appointment of directors

Annual Report 2022

U)

(i)

(i)

(v)

The Nomination Committee identifies
individual(s) suitably qualified to become
Board members, having due regard to the
board diversity policy and the nomination
policy of the Company, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent
non-executive director(s) as appropriate.

The Nomination Committee makes
recommendation(s) to the Board.

The Board considers the individual(s)
recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends
the individual(s) to stand for election at a
general meeting. Individual(s) appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board will be subject to
re-election by Shareholders of the Company
at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.
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BE(ETRANEZSEFR
EBLEENHRT UK
Z( LM ANB LB SIA
FIRRRIRIE A E DR AR
STHVHRTE ©

BEEGETUIHERRERE
BEREREEE LTI
T?K WE'JEEH_I@TE BiZ -

AR R R E AR E
flER R

32 EEEF

B21ZEF
() h%*%@%ﬁ%%ﬁ
KAREZEZITL
&k%ﬁ s
BRKAESEHREN

At WEIEFHEEE
B IFITERHEY
1 o

(i) REREENEFSR
iR -

(il EFGLEEEZERAR
REFGLTLBER
ﬁ%ﬁ%v%ﬁﬁ%é
BEgEEMAL -

v) EFERRZIALR
BERFEBEZ MR
ER -BFREER(E
VARAE RS 2R AES
é%AiﬁﬁimA
 BRBARRIAR
5&%%%%%%&%
MTERRBFAE L
BEARRBBIREE



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
e 'M\Aﬁﬂ:(mﬁ)

(vi)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the annual general meeting of
the Company to answer the questions raised
by the shareholders on the nomination of
Directors and other matters in relation to the
Policy.

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at
general meeting, as Director(s).

3.2.2 Re-appointment of directors

U

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including
his/her attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review
and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in
3.1.

The Board considers each retiring
director recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the board
diversity policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board recommends the retiring directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles.

The shareholders approve the re-election of
directors at the annual general meeting.

(vi)
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4. Review and Monitoring of the Policy
The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board on a regular basis at least annually and diversity of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirements for the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the
leadership needs of the Company, both executive and non-
executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to complete effectively in the marketplace.

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes
affecting the Company and the market in which it operates.

(3) Remuneration Committee
As at 31 December 2022, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) comprised three
members, namely Mr. Guo Shaomu, Mr. Chan Pak Hung and Ms.
Tang Lo Nar, all of them are independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Guo Shaomu is the chairman of this committee. Mr. Wan Ho
Yin ceased to act as an member and Mr. Chan Pak Hung has
been appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee
with effect from 11 February 2022.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

° to make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

° to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;
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° either (i) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; or (i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. The Committee should consult
the Chairman and/or Chief Executive (if any) of the Company
about their proposals relating to the remuneration of other
executive Directors;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

o to consider factors salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

° to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

° to ensure that no Directors or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has adopted a directors’ remuneration policy. It aims
to set out the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid
to executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration
structure that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain
qualified Directors who can manage and lead the Company in
achieving its strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s
performance and sustainable growth, and to provide Directors
with a balanced and competitive remuneration. Such policy will be
reviewed and updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
revised and adopted in December 2022 taking into account the
roles and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee set out
under the new requirements in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
which took effect in January 2023. The written terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the respective
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

RARN2022F 12 AT RIRMFME B &
MBESE - EhEEER2023F1 AEX
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, the attendance of the HE2022F12F31BIFE  FHEES
Remuneration Committee’s meeting is as below: BREEOEFBELAT

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERHE
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Chairman) 2/2
BB (FE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 1/1
BRIAMG 4
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
BB+

In the meeting, the Remuneration Committee discussed and
reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company, assessed performance of
executive Directors, made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid. No matters
relating to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
were required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statement of this annual report. Details of the
remuneration by band of the members of the senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
below:
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Number of
Remuneration band individual(s)
FENEEE AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 4
=z AR¥1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000 to RMB2,000,000 2
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(4) Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2022, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) comprised four members, namely Mr.
Lui Wing Nam (a non-executive Director), Mr. Chan Pak Hung,
Mr. Guo Shaomu and Ms. Tang Lo Nar (each an independent
non-executive Director), the majority of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. Wan Ho Yin is the chairman of this
committee during the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to
11 February 2022 when he ceased to act as the chairman. Mr.
Chan Pak Hung has been appointed as the chairman of the Audit
Committee with effect from 11 February 2022. The main duties of
the Audit Committee include the following:

Relationship with the external auditors

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
process COMmences;

° to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor shall include any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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Review of the Company’s financial information

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before submission to the Board, the
Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards; and

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

Regarding above:

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s external auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such report and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
external auditor.
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Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. The discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the external auditor to management
about the accounting records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of
reference;
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to review the Company’s statement on risk management and
internal control systems (where one is included in the annual
report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to discuss problems and qualified opinion, if any, arising from
the half-year and annual audits, and any matters the external
auditor may wish to discuss (in the absence of management
where necessary);

to review arrangements which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, risk management and
internal control or other matters. The Committee should
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters for appropriate
follow-up actions;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board from time
to time.

Corporate Governance Functions

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with and disclosure
under the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Audit
Committee members at these meetings is set out in the table

HE2022F12A31HILFE FEXELES
BOITMRGH  BEREZESREBNFSH

BARER I R RAR ¢

below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERHE
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 2/2
BRIAISSE 4
Mr. Lui Wing Nam 2/2
BoKE A
Mr. Guo Shaomu 2/2
BAMSEE
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
B ER B2+

In those meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s
policies on corporate governance and discussed the same with
the Board, reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control and risk management systems
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions) and
associated processes and the reappointment of the external
auditor and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid. The Board
had not deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed (i) the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2021 as well as the audited report prepared by the auditor relating
to amounting issues and major findings in course of audit; (i) the
interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 as well as the review report prepared
by the auditor relating to accounting issues and major findings in
course of review; and (jii) the audit scope and audit plan prepared
by the auditor relating to the audit for the year ended 31 December
2022.

There are proper arrangements for employees, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control and other matters. The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available on the respective website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 which give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of the
Group’s consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing
basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the key risk areas,
including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary or appropriate, to the
Audit Committee for consideration. The identified key risk areas and the
appropriate risk mitigation strategies were reviewed and commented by
the Board at its meeting annually.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022, covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting
are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board. The Board is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2022, the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2020. While the Board has the overall responsibility
to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained,
management is responsible for designing and implementing an internal
control system to manage all kinds of risks (including ESG risks) facing
by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are
identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. Our risk
management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management
— Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and management to
manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board receives regular
reports from the Risk Control Center and the Audit Committee. The Risk
Control Center is responsible for overseeing internal control and risk
management, and the Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing
the internal audit function.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance
structure with operational management and controls performed by
operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring
carried out by the finance and compliance team. The Group maintains a
risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The
risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management
with a profile of its major risks and records management’s action taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the
Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable,
at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has been performed.
This review process can ensure that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have access to
the risk register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area
of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient
manner.
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Our risk management activities are performed by management on an
ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting
is held to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management
is committed to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily
business operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company has an internal audit function which primarily carries
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least, an annual
basis.

Handling of Inside Information

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating inside information
in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), procedures including notification of
regular blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant
Directors and employees, identification of project by code name and
dissemination of information to stated purpose and on a need-to-know
basis have been implemented by the Group to guard against possible
mishandling and/or unauthorised use of inside information within the
Group.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2022, an analysis of the fee paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services is set out as follows:

S A

HE2022F 12 A1 B IEFE © BRBEFTRE MIEE
FTERISEN B AR RINEZ BN E A ST
AT

Fees Paid/Payable

et ENER
Service Category RMB’000
BRAE 3 Rl AREFT
Audit services 4,750
FiT AR
Non-audit services 160
TR
Total 4,910
“aET

Company Secretary

The Company appointed Mr. Lam Yu Tin Eugene as the company
secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management — Senior
Management” in this annual report for the biography of Mr. Lam Yu Tin
Eugene.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Lam Yu Tin
Eugene undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training to update their skills and knowledge during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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General Meeting
During the year ended 31 December 2022, an annual general meeting
was held on 26 May 2022, the attendance of the Directors is as below:

RERERRE
HZE2022F 12 A31BILFE - 202255 H26H
BRA—NAFRERE - @ZMERERNT ¢

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
55 BHE BERHE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 1/1
BRREE(FERHTEE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) 11
BT (HITEE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 1/1
BERSE(HITEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 1/1
BKIK Sk (FEHTEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 11
BOKE S (FFHITESE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1
BRIEB LB IHITEE)
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1
UMk (HUIFHTEE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 11

MR (BB TEE)

Communication with Shareholders and Investor

Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of
the shareholders and potential investors on the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting provides opportunity for shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board,
the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of
the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders and maintains a website at www.glchina.group, where
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access. Shareholders and
investors may at any time contact the Company’s Investor Relations
Department at 852-2688 0855 or email to ir@ganglong.net.cn. The
Board will review the shareholders’ communication policy regularly to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy, including the communication
channels for shareholders in place and the steps taken to handle
shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the shareholders
communication policy has been properly implemented and effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at shareholder meetings, including nomination and
election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting
In accordance with Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles for requisitioning an
extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 64 of the
Articles are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests

to the Company as follows:

Address: Suite 501, 5/F, 28 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong

Attention: Investor Relations Department
Tel: 852-2688 0855

Fax: 852-2688 0030

Email: ir@ganglong.net.cn

Enquiries will be dealt with in a timely and informative manner.

Change in Constitutional Documents
There was no change to the Memorandum and the Articles during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of Ganglong China Property Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Ganglong China Property
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 111 to 239, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

1 Classification of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates

2 Provision for land appreciation tax

ERHER
BHPMERBEEEGTMAGEMN(EBERTE
ANETTER - RIIEZFEY TAENEEEHE
AR EZBE R BETRA M BEHRRAENRE]
BB PR — PR o

BFEE - BPAMESHENREERRREE
W RRPIMES BRI AR -

By

REEBSHAMASEMAKEES quEﬂiL%?
ADCATERE A - RFPBLR BRE - I
BEETTATMEMEREERE -

B ERTE IR
MREFFEERERMANERALE - RAYHA

PR eV BHRRNBITRAEENSFIE - B4 F
ﬁm&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁA%Wﬁ%&ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
EITREN - HATEHZETRIEEEBNE
B

BAEET PR ERES FEMAL T

2 IHIREWEEG

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB AR EBEETER

Classification of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates

WEAR - A& ENBENAINDLE

Refer to Note 4(b), Note 15 and Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ELMEAMERENI A - FE5HKE04 -

In assessing the Group’s classification of investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, we have performed
the following procedures:
EiHE SEEHMBAR
BB T A TR -

BELERBERRND AR

(@ in relation to the composition of the board of directors of
the investees:

BARERENES AN
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B BE RS (&)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESSEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAEEBRETER

The Group is a property developer in Mainland China
focusing on the development of residential properties. The
Group co-operated with other parties to invest in a number
of property development projects, which are classified as
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates.

E5EA—FPEAHEMERER  ZIRRAEEE
W - BEERAMFEHERERHAEREZEFME
FEIEE QR ZERARBEAMBAR - a&dHE

BEAT -

We focus on the classification of investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates as the classification requires
management’s use of significant judgements in determining
whether the Group has control, joint control or significant
influence over the investees. It requires the analysis of
various factors aside from shareholdings, including but
not limited to composition of the board of directors of the
investees and decision making authorities at the investees’
shareholders’ meeting and board of directors meetings.
HMBIREMBERAT a8 bERBERFNSE B
REVBEREERNETE BESXEITYHERERAESR
P HEEGIRSERNTE NREAEAAE o FE
FEBFREAREMSERE - AFEETRNERES
ESgNARNARERRETFRRAGNESZEER LN
TREERE -

we obtained and examined the legal documents
in relation to the investments in the property
development projects where the Group co-operated
with other parties, including the co-development
agreements and articles of associations of the
investees, to assess management’s evaluation of
the rights of investors, co-operation arrangements,
termination provisions, management structures and
profit-sharing arrangements;

HMESITESR BSREEAEMTEIENDER
HHEEREEBONEEXN  BRERETNEE
FEHZERARER  UeHOEIREEREEEND
FHE - AERHE - BRIEIRRR - ERABRAMBESER
B

where there are subsequent changes to legal
documents, including but not limited to the co-
development agreements and/or articles of
association, we assessed whether the accounting
impact of such changes, affecting any previously
determined classification have been considered.
ERX(BRE(ETRR) A ER B E R A
ERMADBRELREHE - RODTEZSEHN
BT ERTVELRIETN N -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZHEHRE (F)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB N AEEBREETSEE

For subsidiaries, their assets, liabilities and transactions
are consolidated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements on a line-by-line basis, whereas the interests
in joint ventures and associates are accounted for as
investments on the consolidated statement of financial
position, whilst their results are accounted for using the
equity method. Hence, the classification of investments as
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates has material and
pervasive impact on the preparation and presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

HIRMERT - REE  AERRSZRN ESENGEH
BWEPEITEH  MEBLERBEATNERNERE
MBARRAKRPERKREAR  MAZBAGAERZEA
koAt - BREDERWBAR - 68X LBE A
HRa B RROEE L2V EFERRLRBNTE -

(b)

in relation to the decision making authorities at the
investees’ shareholders’ meetings and board of directors
meetings:

FRHEERETNBRRAGNEETSEH LAURFRE -

- we understood and evaluated whether the decision

making mechanism as well as the scope of decisions
where shareholders and the board of directors are
empowered to make are consistent with the co-
development agreements and articles of association
of the investees;

BT BRI AT TORRMEIA R ER R ME G
HARNBER T HARREHBEMNEREQATNE
A

- we reviewed minutes of shareholders’ meetings
and board of directors’ meetings of the investees,
and other materials presented to shareholders
and the board of directors to corroborate with our
understanding on the decision making mechanism
and the scope of decisions that the shareholders and
the board of directors are empowered to make, or
made in practice during the year.
BAEHNTREAERERESEFSEZNERL
8 - DARABRE RESSRTHEMME - DUEER
P AR RS R BRR R EEGEREN B RN
R R EE B IRAE o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEE RS (&)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESSEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAEEBRETER

(©) inrelation to changes in shareholdings during the year:
REAREZBNE -

- we performed company search to ensure the
completeness of legal documents in relation to the
changes in shareholdings;

BT T 2RI E M AR MR B B) B B8 EE X
ey TR

- we understood and evaluated management’s
assessment on the changes in control and
classification of investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates;
BMTRIEEREEENBEAR &2 hEREE
DA E WIS R D FEE LR

—  we obtained and examined the legal documents in
relation to the changes in investments, including the
co-development agreements, articles of associations
of the investees and shareholders’ resolutions.
BPEGITESRRESSHEENEEY - BFE
WEFERRERZE AR ERERRRARESR

Based on the procedures performed, we found that

management’s judgements applied in determining the

classification of the Group’s investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates were supported by available evidence.

BEANITORRT  BRMBEREBEERE E5ERNELR

A AAtERBENTNKRESBRERNHEHREER

S
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZHEHRE (F)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB N AEEBREETSEE

Provision for land appreciation tax

THIRER R EE

Refer to Note 4(c) and Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2R A SRR M E4(c)AKIRE10 ©

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had land appreciation tax (“LAT”) recoverable amounted to
RMB288,452,000 and the provision for LAT amounted to
RMB142,826,000, respectively.

202212 A3 A RBIEZ R IEFE » ESEHNAIKRE
THEER A AREE288,452,0007T LI ERBEEAEA
R¥142,826,0007T °

In assessing the provision for LAT, we have performed the
following procedures:

FERHE TR ER AR - BAIEE T AT

(@)

we understood, evaluated and tested the relevant controls
over the calculation of the provision for LAT;

BMTE  SHEMART AR T HISETRETEEH
PEHITEE

we tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of sales of
properties and expenditures of the relevant properties by
checking the relevant documents including property sales
contracts and invoices;
BMBEEREHEEER(BREBMEHRESNNER) - I
HRE VR T ¥ E BRI Y X e R
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B BE RS (&)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESSEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB NAEEBRETER

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main components
of the Group’s tax provision, and is levied on the sale of
properties at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
based on the appreciation of land value. At the end of
each financial reporting period, management of the Group
estimates the provision for LAT in relation to the sales of
properties based on the allocation of revenue and cost of
sales among different property types and the estimated total
sales of properties less total deductible expenditures of the
relevant property. This estimation incorporated judgement
around classification of property types, and the application
of deductibles, which includes lease payments for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs and
other development expenditures, based on management’s
understanding and interpretation of the relevant tax rules
and regulations.

REAME T HIREN R BREBETIES B EZEKE
DZ— o MEHEN LR EN THIRIR30% E60%H) RiE
BEH T HIBERER - REREHAR - EXEERER
RN R E M EE SRR 2 A A U\ 0 88 6 A AN B St ) ik 51
LIHE R A TR B B AR T IB BRI -
ZAEFAEREREHBRBTOEMAENIRENEE - 8
REMERINSE - REXNRNEE LI ERENEERN
A BHERERA  ERRAMEMREEZHENNE
T EE A 1 o

(©

we assessed the reasonableness of the basis for
classification of property types and allocation of revenue
and cost of sales among different property types by
reviewing the relevant documents including construction
land planning permit and certificates;

BB AEHMERAMRETAIEMEESE XM - &7
& T BHED AR T RIFEHE S B A YA 85 & B AR
AR

we obtained and examined the tax payments, LAT
clearance, where applicable, and other relevant
correspondences with local tax authorities, on a sample
basis, to assess the accuracy and reasonableness of LAT
provision; and

BMESTBRETR - TR ERFE(MER)AREE
S HERE ) Bt AR RS oK - DA 7 SR Al R E A
BEERERSIE &
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B ZHEHRE (F)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB N AEEBREETSEE

When the LAT is subsequently determined by the tax
authority upon LAT clearance, the actual payments may be
different from the estimates.
IS B2 B TF T IR E R
FHE -

- BERI AT 82 A BIRMA

We focus on the provision for LAT as a key audit matter
due to the significance of the LAT to the consolidated
financial statements and the significance of the judgement
and estimates involved.

MR IR ERE G B RRBERNTEARIE R
EVHIETAI(EET A E E M - BAPIS D IR E R RS —
THRRETFER -

)

we engaged our internal tax specialists to review the LAT
provision, including the LAT provision calculation based on
the relevant tax rates for different types of properties and
the deductibility of the against the relevant tax rules and
regulations in the calculation.
BMEETABHEEREM L MISETRE - 2FERE
A B EE R R A AR B I R DA R st H AP ARRA B A R AR B Y
AIHEH0IE B 5T DS E T -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management’s judgement and estimates applied in provision for
LAT were supported by available evidence.

BBEFTAITEVIRT - RO EREY + IR E R H e e
AT ERSEE S -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEE RS (&)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEE RS (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEE RS (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEE RS (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be commmunicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay, Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SmeEEEWNER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | & £2022512 A31H [FFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FisE ARET T AREFTT
Revenue WA 5 11,892,348 10,368,685
Cost of sales SHE R AN 6 (9,914,494) (7,968,312)
Gross profit EX ) 1,977,854 2,400,373
Other income and other gains, net e N o 8 45,757 87,289
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAT 6 (416,105) (514,368)
General and administrative expenses —RITHFA 6 (493,116) (626,590)
Fair value gains on investment properties & ¥ A i BEUE 14 - 2,120
Operating profit R 1,114,390 1,348,824
Finance income mE A 9 32,421 43,575
Finance costs ELEEND®IN 9 (150,440) (281,609)
Finance costs, net B AR EE 9 (118,019) (238,030)
Share of results of joint ventures and EIh &SRB E AR EE
associates 15 79,017 393,009
Profit before income tax BRET BB AR 1,075,388 1,503,803
Income tax expenses FRiG iR s 10 (494,233) (401,622)
Profit and total FREINEZEKEHELE
comprehensive income for the year 581,155 1,102,181
Profit and total comprehensive DT ATEMRRRZEKE :
income attributable to:
Owners of the Company AATHER A 121,886 480,936
Non-controlling interests JEPE IR i A 459,269 621,245
581,155 1,102,181
Earnings per share attributable to KAREEAELERER
owners of the Company (expressed (UERAR¥ESIR)
in RMB per share)
— Basic and diluted —EARREE 11 0.07 0.30
The notes on pages 118 to 239 are an integral part of these 118E 2398 2 T KL Eir 8 ISRz —

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

As of 31 December 2022 | 722022412 831H

As at 31 December

#M12A318
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T AREETFIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMEKE 12 105,965 138,939
Investment properties BB 14 183,020 183,020
Investments accounted for using HRAEREYRNIZE
the equity method 15 1,364,263 1,619,884
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTE 16 400,971 409,496
2,054,219 2,351,339
Current assets RBEE
Properties under development FEER Y 17 30,736,363 36,670,782
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEND B T YE 17 2,142,458 2,375,337
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R EMEYRIEA KR
prepayments N e E] 18 2,475,755 1,804,477
Amounts due from associates NI E S 32 129,976 129,850
Amounts due from joint ventures FEUG & &I 32 170,957 253,761
Amounts due from non-controlling interests UK FEF5E AR A& 25 TR 25 3,740,880 3,960,807
Financial assets at fair value through BAREBEFEEEE
profit or loss FFABENEREE 3,952 -
Tax recoverable Al EIIE 917,210 1,497,073
Restricted cash SIRHIRE 19 2,914,221 4,608,272
Pledged time deposits BT HifE R 19 55,116 71,657
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEBEY 19 1,172,191 2,304,919
44,459,079 53,676,935
Total assets EEHE 46,513,298 56,028,274
Equity Es
Capital and reserves attributable to the A T#HEE AEEER
owners of the Company Rt#E
Share capital R 20 14,838 14,900
Reserves T 21 3,935,734 3,826,972
3,950,572 3,841,872
Non-controlling interests FEIERERS 7,176,974 6,435,880
Total equity TS HARE 11,127,546 10,277,752
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e PBARR R (&)

As of 31 December 2022 | 722022412 831H

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
FisE AR®T T AREFTT
Liabilities af&
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings &2 22 4,024,602 6,736,574
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTSHAE 16 236,650 157,124
Lease liabilities HEAaE 13 56,422 80,188
4,317,674 6,973,886
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables, bills payables and other B EMNFUE - EZE
payables R E M FER FRIR 23 4,053,621 5,076,982
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 9,561 16,629
Contract liabilities aHaE 5 21,294,053 27,240,235
Amounts due to associates A NG E/RE] 32 653,711 705,827
Amounts due to joint ventures ENEEERIE 32 680,499 804,488
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEATIEIE IR REZS TR TR 25 1,465,986 1,858,586
Tax payable FERTHRIR 169,045 315,876
Borrowings B 22 2,741,602 2,758,013
31,068,078 38,776,636
Total liabilities BEHAE 35,385,752 45,750,522
Total equity and liabilities EERAEHEE 46,513,298 56,028,274

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 239 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and were signed

on its behalf.

F£111 22398 MR E B R KR 2 1120233 A 31
BEZESeiE  YRKREFSESE -

Mr. Lui Ming
BHRLE
Director

EE

The notes on pages 118 to 239 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Mr. Lui Jin Ling
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Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | & £20225F12 A31H [FFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ANFREAER
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital premium  reserves reserves earnings  Subtotal interests Total

Rx  BOEE tERf  EHHE  RERA ot FERER @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARMTR
(Note 20)  (Note21)  (Note21)  (Note 21)

(Wizke0)  (Mfat21)  (Ri&et)  (M&E21)

Balance at 1 January 2022 H2022E1 B1 A LR 14900 1,467,819 232,788 282,964 1,843,401 3,841,872 6,435,880 10,277,752
Profit and total comprehensive income FRENREENRES

for the year - - - - 121,886 121,886 459,269 581,155
Transactions with owners: BERANRS
Cancellation of shares (Note 20) iR (3E20) (62)  (19,255) - 19,317 - - - -
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) BERGA (FrEr20) = = - (13,18) - (13,18) - (13,18)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 27() HE-RMBLG(MTE) - S S S S - 14525 1452
Captal injections from non-controling FERER T (i)

interests (Note b) - - - - - - 267300 267,300
Appropriation to statutory reserve BREETHE - - 7,480 - (1480) = - -
Total transactions with owners in their BEEAMEEAEEAN

capacity as owners ARNRHEE 62)  (19,255) 7,480 6,131 (7,480)  (13,186) 281,825 268,639
Balance at 31 December 2022 H2020F 12831 A&s 14,838 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,957,807 3,950,572 7,176,974 11,127,546
The notes on pages 118 to 239 are an integral part of these F118E239B MR ZEima M mE —
consolidated financial statements. B o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

REEZSBR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | & £2022512 A31H [FFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARTERAEL
Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controling
captal  premum  reserves  reserves  eamings  Subtotal  interests Total
B RORE  EERE  ABRE  REET NGt FBRER st

RMB'000  RMB'000

RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
(Note20) ~ (Note21)  (Note21)  (Note 21)
(Fzko0)  (WEo1)  (Wak21)  (Mf21)

Balance at 1 January 2021 M20215F1 A1 R &tk 14919 1474816 227,833 315515 1,660,931 3,694,014 792679 4,486,693
Profit and total comprehensive income EREHREZENREE

for the year - - - - 480936 480936 621,245 1,102,181
Transactions with owners: BERANRS
Cancellation of shares (Note 20) R (HE20) 19 (6,997) = 7,016 - - K _
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) BERGA (o) - - - (13147 - (18,147) - (13,147)
Dividends for the year ended HE2020F12A31H

31 December 2020 IFEEMRS S S = - (293511) (293,511 - (9351
Acquisition of additional interests KERBLARENER

in subsidiaries (Note 26) (P26) - - - (26420 - (264200 (122072 (148,492)
Waiver of advances from BeFnRER R (i)

non-controlling interest (Note a) - - - - - - 1,847,133 1,847,133
Acquistion of Shanghai Gangxuan (Note 28) ¥ FiEiEF(i08) - S = = = - 5004 50047
Desmed disposal of Nanjing Jinjun FIELEERSE(NE27(0)

INote 27(0) - - - - - - @01 @01
Capitalinjections from non-controling SEARIER (M)

interests (Note b) - - - - - - 3208858 3,268,858
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTITRE - - 4,955 = (4,909) - - -
Total transactions with owners in their SEREANEEAEEARN

capacity as owners ARNRBEE (19 (6,997) 4,955 (32,951)  (298,466)  (333,078) 5,021,956 4,688,378
Balance at 31 December 2021 M20215 12831 A &8k 14900 1467819 232,788 282964 1843401 3,841,872 6435880 10,277,752

Note a: During the year ended 31 December 2021, certain subsidiaries of the
Group have passed shareholders’ resolution to waive the collection
of advances from non-controlling interests. Accordingly, advances
from non-controlling interests amounted to RMB1,847,133,000
have been recognised in equity during the year ended 31 December
2021.

Note b: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the non-controlling
interests of certain subsidiaries injected RMB267,300,000 (2021:
RMB3,268,858,000) in cash into the Group’s subsidiaries as capital
contribution.

The notes on pages 118 to 239 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Miista : E{E2021F12A31 HILFE - REBETH

BRI ERBRERERACUEIE IR E
HBF - ALt EHE2021F 12831 HIEF
€ o JEIENERS B AR 1,847,133,0007T
ERESPRER -

fistb : #E2022F12A31HIEFE - BTFHEAF

éFd}

ok

£118

f7 e

RS ER R ST E A ENHE R
A &% A AR267,300,0007C (20214 :
AR#3,268,858,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\ é EE: % 5)2|i % %

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | & £20225F12 A31H [FFE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLFE
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR¥TRT AREETFIT
Cash flows from operating activities K TFHFBRERE
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KERR (TR BR& 24(a) 2,483,478 (2,682,086)
Income tax paid, net B ATS TR RE (460,373) (1,253,025)
Net cash generated from/(used in) TESEEFRS,(FTR)
operating activities & /588 2,023,105 (3,935,111)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHRBRERE
Payments for purchase of property, plant BEWE  BERREMANR
and equipment 12 (9,870) (34,284)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant HEWE - BERRE
and equipment FriS kI8 24(b) 303 5,891
Payments for purchase of financial assets BAREBEFEREZSH:TA
at fair value through profit or loss BaEESREEMNK (41,502) (120,790)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HEEAREBEIFEEEED
at fair value through profit or loss FFABEENSREENAGE
IE 11,539 164,800
Cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary WHE—ERBARMESRA 28 - 37,481
Cash outflow on deemed disposal of RIEHE—HENBARMNERS
a subsidiary pipls! 27(b) - (81,669)
Cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MMBRARMERSRE  27(@) (30,379) -
Proceeds from capital reduction B TS ER 87,000 -
Proceeds from withdrawal of a joint BEETEEERIM
venture’s project Frf5 500 5,194 -
Investments in joint ventures SEEERE - (25,119)
Investments in associates el NG - (98,340)
Advances to associates DL E=NGIE-E N (1,283) (152,318)
Repayment of advances to associates EERBE QAR 1,157 188,890
Advances to joint ventures Ae BRI (5,244) (297,743)
Repayment of advances to joint ventures BERBEDERR 88,048 435,401
Advances to non-controlling interests MFEIEARE R (1,262,455) (2,273,814
Repayment of advances to BRI AR M 2 2K
non-controlling interests 1,482,382 819,218
Dividend received 2R - 4,100
Interest received B FE 32,421 43,575
Net cash generated from/(used in) WEEERS,(FTR)
investing activities ReFEE 357,311 (1,384,717)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 | & £2022512 A31H [FFE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T AREETFIT

Cash flows from financing activities RETEMBRERE
Advances from associates 8 N B FAER 24(c) 275,931 53,881
Repayment of advances from associates Efeil/NSIEAE N 24(c) (168,810) (332,690)
Advances from joint ventures BRI 24(c) 70,419 148,230
Repayment of advances from joint ventures B & & D EAR 24(c) (78,600) (27,665)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEFERR RS B TR 24(c) 569,331 1,039,675
Repayment of advances from non-controling {88 JE{E AR fEE 25 2k

interests 24(c) (961,931) (995,009)
Repayment of advances from third parties BEFE=FRR 24(c) (19,342) -
Proceeds from borrowings BRAEIIE 24(c) 2,539,150 7,680,895
Repayment of borrowings EBER 24(c) (5,342,266) (6,277,915)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities {EiEHEBEAS I H 24(c) (14,702) (12,984)
Payment of interest portion of lease liabilities {EiEMAE & &F 525 24(c) (5,783) (6,305)
Buyback of shares I G) (13,186) (13,147)
Capital injection from non-controlling JEIE T E

interests 267,300 3,268,858
Dividend paid EATARE - (293,511)
Interest paid BFE (626,042) (999,813)
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling W B R A A 25 5 TR

interests 26 - (148,492)
Payment for issuance of senior note BITEBLEE I (4,613) (6,889)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing ~ BY&SEEN(FTE),/Fife

activities e FHE (3,513,144) 3,077,119
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBRLEEBWORD),

cash equivalents EHNFEE (1,132,728) (2,242,709)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FUHR e RREEEY

the year 2,304,919 4,547,628
Cash and cash equivalents at H2022F12831HRER

31 December 2022 REeZEY 19 1,172,191 2,304,919
The notes on pages 118 to 239 are an integral part of these F118E 2398 v MK ZFLR & M IFREA —
consolidated financial statements. 245y o
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8
October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 11 Building, PortMix South District, No. 2177 Shenkun Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is located at Suite 501, 5/F., 28 Hennessy Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the development of real estate projects
in the PRC. The Company’s shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15
July 2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issued by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company on
31 March 2023.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622 (“HKCQ”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as modified by financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and investment properties which
are measured at fair value.

Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@)

New and amendments to standards adopted by the
Group

The following new and amendments to standards have
been adopted by the Group for the first time for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
BTG EEREIR 2 EFTAR
Amendment to HKFRS 16 (March 2021)

ERUBREENFE165E BRI A (202143 H)

Amendments to Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

GETHESI B ZIEFT A (BT
Amendments to HKAS 16

EBEGEIERIE165E 2 IBFTA
Amendments to HKAS 37

BAGFERIFEITHR ZIEETA
Annual improvements project

BRZFENE

The adoption of the above new and amendments to

standards did not have significant financial impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

2 BEXRSFEERBEGE)

2.1 IRREFE(H)
R A BBIHRE LGRS BT
BREEZEMETEER G - 1
FERA BB BORR - ERE NS
BEHHE S REE A R
MBHS - REF A RRAEERR
Rttt OSBRI 34 -

@ AEEDRMFEREBEIE
Al
AEB D 202251 A1HE 2 &
AR RFEEERNRAATZ
e RS ETEER

Reference to the Conceptual Framework
DERSIER
Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021
20214F6 H30H LA YA BFT B R S B R #Y
S ER
Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations
HEEFEHRAHEHE
Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
ME - BE KRB - REFERAIOEIE
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BEEHN-BITAHIKE
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle
BB TEIRE2RI2018F £2020F A 2
FEHuE

R L 3R] R B AT A AR
EMBHRRLESANBEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 ZEAEEHFEHE (&)

(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 mBEE ()

() New standard and amendments to existing standards (o) FETEARBELEAZEEIARE
issued but not yet effective for the financial year EME M ARR2023F1 A1 BB
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and have not ZERMPEAR - BUWEERE
been early adopted by the Group: EIRRIEAN :

Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning on
or after
R B#Is
Z BRI
BEHEBENR
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
EBEERIFEIRLEBMBTRE SHBREE 20231 H1H
HHEBIREF2FEFTA
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Ear R UE A N SIHEENTES 20231 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 1 January 2023
from a Single Transaction
BAGFHERIFE125% 285 A E-RGELNEENE BREONRLERSEH 20231 H1H
HKFRS 17 and Amendments to Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments 1 January 2023
HKFRS 17
BB EERE175R R RigE K RABRAEET 2023%1H1H
BAVBRELENE1TRZEFTAR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
BEAGTHERIFE IR ZIBETA BESBARRE KIERE 20241 H1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
G ERIE15 BT MR eEr3E R B & 202451 A1 H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BBV BREERFE165 2EFT AR ERMEETHNEEAE 20241 H1H
Amendments to Hong Kong Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024
Interpretation 5 (2020) Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BAREESI(2020)2 &5 A& HBmEANEN—ERAHSERERERIERN  2024F1H18
EHERN R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BBV BEREEFE105 & REEHEBENRSEERE HEE FE
AR GFHERIE285 2 BE] A HEFTE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

)

New standard and amendments to existing standards
issued but not yet effective for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and have not
been early adopted by the Group: (Continued)

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2022 reporting periods and have not been early
adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments
or interpretations are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(@)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (Note
2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of financial position respectively.

2 EAE

ATBURMEE ()

2.1 ImBEE(E)

()

AT ERI KRB F LR ZBEIARE
1B M ARR202351 A1 H#E
BN ELER AW EERE
ERRIERA - (B)

ATERMBOT S ER - 25
HAMETRBEDARBE
202212 A31 8 |F AR & HAfd 58
BB - Ft AEBRIZEEHEMN
UL FAER - (B R ERRE o THETZ
FAER - BETHBERERTIR
RMERAANTSLHEBRAUER
HARRRGEEERFE -

22 FERARERSHRE

(a)

op PN

Ry NCIEERE SE T R SRzl 3y
FEER(BREBLER) - B
AEE B2 EE RN M
O HAERKFE R E O RN
BN WHENBEBENERE
BT ERFEZTE®RE - A
AEBEZEGZER - HBARR
ZHIEERE T AKER 2 RS
AR o (M ARIRER L HIEE B
AR IERE AR

AEBERBKBeHEABEBLA
BEABR(M5E2.3) ©

EERRAERS - HEHRERS
ZARBRWZDGEE - RER
BERITERE EXXZEE
BRTEEREEHRRBERR
Sh o B ARG ERRENT
ERFEH TR - UREREAREE
PRERAN BRI — 2K -

INIIEPNCIEESUSE: Faprde 2t
SN REBZINGEAEE
Wk REEREBHREESR
BTSN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(b) Associates

()

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights, except for joint
arrangements as detailed in (c) below. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint
ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.

2 BEXRSFEERBEGE)

2.2

e RARERSTTERE (&)

b2 =]

(d)

S5

REEDZEHE  REVNIERK
AHER - HRETHEUNEGS
EHWRRERANEFEIEER
B RBRBENHER  INE
fib 2 T W R BE AR AR SR B RS T 3R
BTMHEMEAKREZEE - 2
Wk W E R R A EBER
B S HER A A BRE B F0RL ©

A LB R ER ARRENE
BERNIBBERNZERBNER
(BRI EA SRR R R UK
) AIREETEERE—TE
B RIERRE-BERAESR
ERIEH K

AEBEABENARAERE
ZRARZRHHRBR W R IZ A K E
RZEEROER TAHE - R
BIMERNE TNGEHE - FRIEZ
REBRCEEEERENE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(e)

®

Structured entities

For structured entities, the Group assesses whether
they should be consolidated based on the contractual
terms as to whether the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Third-party beneficiaries’ interests in the consolidated
structured entities with a limited life and are classified
as liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, and net profits or losses attributable
to third-party beneficiaries are recorded in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as “finance costs”.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

®

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate
is reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.3 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity

instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business

° equity interests issued by the Group

e fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the noncontrolling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets.

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

2 BARESTHERBEE)
2.3 E£X%EHt

BREAS  AEERARB DA
BEBAMAR  TwRedtcBAER
TASHEMEE - WE—HHBLRE
EOREREE

s MERBEENL/AERE

s WUBEXBMAEAAMEL
afE

o AEECEBTERAER

o HAREBLRUMELETMEER
BENAREE K

o MR REA AT A

SR RAEE-

FEEBE Gtp TR R AT BRI B B A K
PrEEMBERIBRE @ VIFUER
Wi B BN AR EBEFE(DEIIIME
TUBRSN) o REBIARTAWBEAE - 12
DA BESRIFEREREREEE
BB AR B B E M L DI RERR I MR B
L EORROEISE b g ity



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 ZEAEHEHEME (&)
(Continued)
2.3 Business combinations (Continued)

2.3 XHA0T(E)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

o consideration transferred;

. amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to
their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount
rate used is the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company that makes strategic decision.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year
end exchange rates are generally recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other income and other gains,

»

net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position

o income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates
of the transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as part of the gain
or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements
HEMEERE

Computer and office equipment
NS NG

Motor vehicles

i

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.8

2.9

Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied
by the Group. They also include properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, included related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. Subsequently they are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each reporting
date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market
prices, and adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is and uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are presented in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of
a valuation gain or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments

(@)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the assets. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(©

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction cost of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

—  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)
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FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains, net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains, net and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains,
net in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.10 Financial instruments (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for
further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.12 Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the sale proceeds of properties sold in
the ordinary course of business, less all necessary selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion based on
prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property primarily comprises land use
rights, construction costs, borrowing costs and professional
fees incurred during the development period. On completion,
the properties are transferred to completed properties held
for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond
normal operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is usually
between 2 to 3 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Completed properties held for sale
Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of
reporting period are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises development costs
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to the sale proceeds of properties
sold in the ordinary course of business, less all necessary
selling expenses, or by management estimates based on
prevailing marketing conditions.

2.14 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
properties sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. See Note 2.10(d) for
impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.15 Contract assets and liabilities and costs for

obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customer. The combination of those rights
and performance obligations give rise to a net asset or a net
liability depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract is an
asset and recognised as contract assets if the measure of
the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is
a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within prepayments if the Group
expects to recover these costs.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash

and pledged time deposits

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits
which are restricted to use are included in “restricted
cash” of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Time deposits pledged for notes payables of the Group
are included in “pledged time deposit” of the consolidated
statement of financial position. Restricted cash and pledged
time deposit are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 BEXRSFEERBEGE)

217 IR

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company as treasury shares until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to
the owners of the Company.

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.19 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries and associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
on the basis that the property will be recovered entirely
through use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including nonmonetary
benefits and accumulating sick leave that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

()

(@

Pension obligations

The group companies incorporated in PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan organised by relevant government authorities
in the PRC on a monthly basis. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made. Contributions to these defined
contributions plans are expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits, medical insurances and other
social insurances

PRC employees of the Group are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other social insurance plan. The
Group contributes to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of these employees on a
monthly basis. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contribution payable in each
period. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are expensed as
incurred.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.21 Employee benefits (Continued)

(e) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.

2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditures to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.
The discount rate used to determine the present value, is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 EASsHFEME (&)
(Continued)
2.23 Revenue recognition

2.23 s

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivables for the sales of properties in the PRC
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o Provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

o Creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs;

o Does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.24 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per shares
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

o the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

o by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per shares
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

° the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.25 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

2.26 Management and consultancy service income
Management and consultancy service income is recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

2.27 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Dividends
are recognised as other income and other gains, net in the
consolidated profit or loss when the right to receive payment
is established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-
acquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of an investment. In this case, the
dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates to an investment at
FVOCI.

2.28 Leases

The Group leases various properties to operate as its office
premises. Property leases are typically made for fixed
periods of one to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (included
in property, plant and equipment) and the corresponding
liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.

2 BEXRSFEERBEGE)

2.25 R B U A
Fil B PR B SR 0 ] 1)
R o

2.26 BB K &R R AU A
B R ABB R AR R BS Y &1
HARIRERR -

2271 REWA
KRERBEAABEFEAEEEZHTA
BaRkiEAREBEFEAHEEHTIAR
2 AR E E’J%Vﬂﬁ@ RS WEA
HEERE - NMEEBERPRRIRE S
ﬁﬁﬁ”&)\&ﬁﬁﬂ”ﬁlﬁéﬁﬁ o JNEAN
WEERT R B S BURR B, - BRIEAR SRR
RTRE LA REKA o gt s - W
REBERABENEAHEEHT AR
HEEREMIRESR  AEEMEE
s IR o

228 HE
TEEREETYEERENADE -
MEREBTRER—Z+5F - HEK
IR EBEENE B e BT RIER

RAgtE - FE B B I 2240 -
HHEEETTIERERAEMNER

o
[sTulig

HENZHEEERHAREMMZA
HERSERREE(BERDE - &
FEEREETE)REEEE -

BRI EHERIFEENRD - K&
BiZRAE MIFEER D RN B E
% BeRESKEEENIFEE
0 o 2RI xTHSE@?%E@E)\E’J)%f@F
HEMS - HEESHEENFEEN N
BRE—MEEKD - TESMERD -

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR

149



150

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.28 Leases (Continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

o amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

2 BEXRSFEERBEGE)

228 HE (&)

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)
2.28 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received. Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

° any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its
land and buildings that are presented within property, plant
and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-
use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statements of financial position based on
their nature.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 EA®

ATBURMEE (38)

(Continued)

2.29 Financial guarantee contracts 229 I EREX
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial BITSTER B HI R IR L R REFRER BB TS
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is BB - ZBBEURAREBETLIE &
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher BIRATRSETE
of:
e the amount determined in accordance with the o REBRBUGHREEDFERI&

expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, .
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

BT A JETHESHEEEREE
BEENSER

T HERN SRR E (WER) IR
BERBMBHREEANFE 165 RA
BEF AR [HERE R IRA
ZER e

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on HBERNARNBEDBREBESILAZ
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the kA NN RSB EEERAE NN
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and SN ABITESENE=F0ETE
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, RN REEENIRNEMBT

or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

3 Financial Risk Management
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk

0]

Foreign exchange risk

The Group principally operates in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB.
With minor operation in Hong Kong, the Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to
the Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”) and United States
dollar (“USD”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The exposure to foreign exchange
risk related to HKD is not material to the Group.

At 31 December 2022, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the RMB with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year then ended would have
been approximately RMB49,987,000 (2021:
RMB47,589,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of the foreign exchange difference on translation
of USD denominated cash and cash equivalents
and borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Annual Report 2022

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-
term borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group closely monitors trend of interest rate
and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure. The Group currently has not used any
interest rate swap arrangements but will consider
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2022, bank and other
borrowings of the Group which were bearing
at floating rates amounted to approximately
RMB3,555,136,000 (2021: RMB3,160,168,000).
If interest rates on borrowings at floating rates had
been 50 basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant and without taking into
account interest capitalisation, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
have been RMB17,776,000 higher/lower (2021:
RMB15,801,000 higher/lower).
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, pledged time
deposits, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling

interests included in the consolidated statement of
financial position, which represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
Management has credit policies in place to monitor the
exposures to these credit risks on an ongoing basis.

()

Risk management

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, in order to
manage this risk, the Group’s bank deposits are
mainly deposited with reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial institutions
incorporated in the PRC.

For the trade receivables arising from sales
of properties, the Group closely monitors the
collection of progress payments from customers
in accordance with payment schedule agreed
with customers. The Group has policies in place
to ensure that sales are made to purchasers with
an appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments.

Meanwhile, the Group has the right to cancel the
contracts once repayment from the customers
is in default; it also has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover
overdue balances. In addition, the Group regularly
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade receivables to ensure that adequate
impairment provisions are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Annual Report 2022

Risk management (Continued)

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosure of
such guarantees is made in Note 29. If a purchase
defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan
during the guarantee period, the bank holding the
guarantee may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding principal of the loan and any interest
accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the
Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and
resell the property to recover any amounts paid by
the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is mitigated.

For other receivables and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling
interests, management of the Group makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
based on credit quality of the counterparties by
taking into account their financial position and
credit history, and also available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management of the Group believes that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating

° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the customer

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the customer,
including changes in the payment status of
customer in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Annual Report 2022

Risk management (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
within 90 days of when they fall due.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses
on a timely basis. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.
The loss allowance provision for the Group’s
financial assets were not material for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: same).

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables
from third parties.

The Group overall considers the shared credit risk
characteristic and the days past due of the trade
receivables to measure the expected credit loss.
Based on management assessment, the expected
credit losses of the financial assets mentioned
above are not significant. The loss allowance
provision for these balances was not material as at
31 December 2022 (2021: same).

Ganglong China Property Group Limited

3

BB ERE

=32 (8

3.1 EJI%%HF?P:.%(IHE

(b)

FERE(E)
() EREEGE

(i)

T EXH D ﬁ@ﬁ'%%
BABBAZN A LHFIEBE

30R - AEEEERB AR
20

TREENENEHETR
HFTEEARBHIRO0ANR
RS HNREER

AEBFEBEREEREHR
EEEBEHERERERE
FEEARR - RETETEAEE
EEXE - NEBZESE
JEWFRIERBABEER - I
RIS A B &R ETTH
B o B E2022%12A31H
IEFE  AEENSREE
K Es 1B BB I T & K (2021
F : FRE) o

ZEEE R

2 ZEWRIE

REBRAE MRS LE
RIEOSRIREM LA RTE
%rgﬁﬁﬁﬁk@ﬁ"
ERIRTHEABRASE
WE%%W%E@%%%E
HAET RS -

B#iﬁ%ﬁggﬁ'ﬁi
ErEZEEERKRL

%&&E%%%mﬁm@%
HE - BERENG - Lt
SREENBREERBY
TERKX - ZEFEHRIEBRE
#HR2022F 12 A31 B 3E
BAR(20214F : 48R °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised costs

For other receivables and amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and related parties
and financial guarantees provided to customers,
the measurement of the expected credit losses
has been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. All of these
financial assets are considered to have low credit
risk and thus the impairment provision recognised
was based on 12 months expected losses.
Management considered other receivables from
third parties, amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and related parties to be low credit risk as
they have a low risk of default and the issuer has
a strong capacity to its considered contractual
cash flow obligation in the near term and the loss
allowance provision for these balances was not
material as at 31 December 2022 (2021: same).

Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents or have available funding
through proceeds from pre-sale of properties and an
adequate amount of available financing including short-
term and long-term borrowings and obtaining additional
funding from shareholders. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate amount of
cash and cash equivalents and through having available
sources of financing.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group has a number of alternative plans to mitigate
the potential impacts on anticipated cash flows should
there be significant adverse changes in economic
environment. These include reducing land acquisition,
adjusting project development timetable to adapt
the changing local real estate market environment,
implementing cost control measures, promotion of
sales of completed properties, accelerating sales with
more flexible pricing and seeking joint venture partners
to develop projects. The Group will pursue such options
basing on its assessment of relevant future costs and
benefits. The directors consider that the Group will be
able to maintain sufficient financial resources to meet its
operation needs.

The table below sets out the Group’s financial liabilities
by relevant maturity grouping at each balance sheet
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HEEKREE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEREE (,,‘s
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) REBESERGE
On  Lessthan Over
demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years Total
BEX 1£R/ 1225 2E5F HBiB5E @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR%Tn AR¥Te AR®TR AR%Tn AR%¥Tx
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12831H
Borrowings B - 3,258,112 2,849,894 1,395,764 - 7,503,770
Trade payables, bills payablesand B SENZUE  ENZEL
other payables (excluding payroll HiENZE - ToEkE
payable and other taxes payable) REE &Eﬁﬂﬁg s - 3,976,671 - - - 3,976,671
Amounts due to associates e & AT 653,711 - - - - 653,711
Amounts due to joint ventures F{A“ﬁ% 680,499 - - - - 680,499
Amounts due to non-controlling FER IR 2 MIE
interests 1,465,986 - - - - 1,465,986
Lease liabilities HEaR - 14,152 12,254 34,435 23,291 84,132
2,800,196  7,248935 2,862,148 1,430,199 23291 14,364,769
On Less than Over
demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
BEK 1R 1226 255 HRB5F 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT AR®TRT AR%TR
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12831H
Borrowings EE 63,747 3433866 2,617,245 4,777,393 - 10,892,251
Trade payables, bils payables and B ZEMNFUE - BNEZER
other payables (excluding payroll HAENFUE - TRIEE
payable and other taxes payable) DE &HWE i - 4,799,951 - - - 4,799,951
Amounts due to associates JETE & A ) 705,827 - - - - 705,827
Amounts due to joint ventures ERE **ﬁ% 804,488 - - - - 804,488
Amounts due to non-controling ER3ERE Hx%mm
interests 1,868,586 - - - - 1,858,586
Lease liabilities HEGBE - 23,274 18,995 38,593 45,642 126,504
3,432,648 8,257,091 2,636,240 4,815,986 45,642 19,187,607
F#;2022
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group also provides guarantees to secure
repayment obligations of certain purchasers of the
Group’s property units and the principal of borrowings
of the joint ventures, associates and third parties, which
will have contractual cash flows only if the guaranteed
purchasers, joint ventures, associates or third parties
default the repayment (Note 29).

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for the owner and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt. Except for the compliance of certain financial
covenants for maintaining the Group’s banking facilities
and borrowings, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. The management monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio of the Group. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings, amounts due to third
parties, amounts due to associates and joint ventures and
non-controlling interests and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
net debt.

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited

3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

IR EEREE (&)
3.1 MFEREE ()

(c) FBESE(E)
REBIMEHERUBRASE
MEBTHETERNERER
REELE BEQRRE=H
MERAE  HEBEZERY
BEXR - AE0M¥E  BEARNE
ZHERERNBERLT A EE
EEHRERE(MIFE29) -

2 BEAREBERE

AEENEAER B EAREREE R
BICEMBE S - e AR AREMF]
SRR IR IR A - R
BEAREBIAZEEARARAE

REFRRFRENGE  AREXEH
EXNTFRERHOBRESSHE - MBRERE
B BITHBRHAHEEENRDE
% o BRAETE T2RZONERAS
BIRTTRIE RERSN  REBETZ(E
AISNERSR IV E AR ESKIAIR - BILE
REAEENEERBLREEER -
AR TIRER F R E A BERE -
BB FRIIRET AR - BNFE =5
- BNBERRRAERETIR &
R EERRREASEERRE R
ReFEWE - ERNEENRGEEY
BRI PR B0 [ #E sk | INE S F BB &t

= o
Eal



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

ji%ﬂﬁfﬁ =18 (1)
BEXRRBEE(E)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLELEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Borrowings (Note 22) fEar(fizE22) 6,766,204 9,494,587

Amounts due to third parties (Note 23) FEfT 58 = A aoE (FiEE23) - 139,812

Amounts due to associates (Note 32) FET B N T 3E (FTEE32) 680,499 705,827

Amounts due to joint ventures (Note 32) JE ﬁ/\%fE¥ RIE (M 5E32) 761,499 804,488

Amounts due to non-controlling interests e IEIRRR M 25 T IE

(Note 25) (FM3E25) 1,465,986 1,858,586

Lease liabilities (Note 14) HEBGE(MTE14) 65,983 96,817

Total borrowings EEN -t 9,740,171 13,100,117
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B ReRIReEEY

(FFzE19) (1,172,191) (2,304,919)

Net debt EFEE 8,567,980 10,795,198

Total equity ez 11,127,546 10,277,752

Total capital BARERE 19,695,526 21,072,950

Gearing ratio EEAEBLEX 43.5% 51.2%

F#R2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(@)

Fair value hierarchy

This note explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of investment properties
that are recognised and measured at fair value in
the consolidated financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its non-
financial assets into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RME (&)
3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ 518 (48)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) D REEMF ()
(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (@ AREEERE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial and non
financial instruments carried at fair value by level of the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair

TRA/AEERRAABEIIRD
SRRISHMIARABERAE
BERTAMMGEETEN R AERER

value: TEH B DT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
15 $oi 3/ st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR T T AR T ARBTT
At 31 December 2022 7A2022412H31H
Financial assets at FVPL BARBETZEHES
FFABENSREE
— Listed shares — s 3,952 - - 3,952
Investment properties BEYE - - 183,020 183,020
At 31 December 2021 72021512A31H
Investment properties A - - 183,020 183,020

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: same).

AEENBRRERNBEHAR
MARBEERSENEBARE
el

HZE2022F 12 A31 B L F [Z &
M F1R - FoRNEIRREE
MAARBEFEZHATEEY
(20214 : #[]) °

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Valuation techniques used to determine level 3

(©

fair values

The directors determine a property’s value within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. Fair values
of the Group’s completed investment properties are
derived using the income capitalisation approach. This
valuation method takes into account the net rental
income of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases, which have been then capitalised to determine
the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

All resulting fair value estimates for investment
properties are included in level 3.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

Detailed disclosures of the changes in level 3 items
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 for
recurring fair value measurements are disclosed below.
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements. See (b)
above for the valuation techniques adopted.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

Jﬁﬂ@ =12 (48)

3 AREEME (E)

(d) HEBABEREALEEN
Bt
TREGE R EEIRA R BET
ERERNEATTREHAR
BHBCEN - BRMARANG
B3 « HEH EXO)R -

Fair value at 31 December

M12B31BNAREE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFT
Investment properties LB 183,020 183,020
Range of unobservable inputs

As at 31 December
R12A31 BT BEBABBNEE
Properties status Unobservable inputs 2022 2021
PEMR THBREAME

Investment properties
wEME = N |z

Monthly rental

(RMB/sg.m./month)

A&

Capitalisation rate

5.25% 5.2%-5.3%

77-105 78-110

(ARE ¥R/ R)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

—  The higher capitalisation rate, the lower the fair
value;

- The higher monthly rental, the higher the fair value.

TABRBABEARAEED
RA% -
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B
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

(Continued)

Based on the valuation results, the directors considered
that the changes in fair value of investment properties
during the year was immaterial.

The Group’s investment properties were valued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer, Cushman &
Wakefield, who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For
all investment properties, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department has a team to review
the valuations performed by the independent valuer for
financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the executive directors. Discussion of valuation
processes and results are held amongst the executive
directors, the valuation team and the valuer at least
once every six months for the Group’s interim and
annual reporting process.

At each reporting period end, the finance department:

° Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation report;

o Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior period valuation report; and

° Holds discussions with the independent valuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ 18 (48)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(e) Leasing arrangements
Certain investment properties are leased to tenants
under long term operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. Minimum lease payments receivable on leases
of investment properties are disclosed in Note 31.

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its
investment properties under operating leases ranged
from 1 year to 5 years.

Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Revenue recognition on properties sold

Judgement on recognition method

The Group recognises revenue from sales of properties at a
point in time when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. The Group may not change or substitute the
property unit or redirect the property unit for another use
due to the contractual restrictions with the customer and
thus the property unit does not have an alternative use to
the Group. Whether there is an enforceable right to payment
depends on the terms of sales contract (by written or verbal)
and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the
contract. Such determination requires the use of judgements
interpretation.

N AEEME(E)

(e) HEZH
ETHREVEERRPEERE
?fiﬂ WE e R HEFEA

o B HEMEE R &K FEUE
fi\ﬁ KIE TR FEST o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(@

Revenue recognition on properties sold
(Continued)

Judgement on recognition point

Management has also made judgement on when control of
properties are transferred to customers. Control of properties
are transferred to customer upon which the construction
of relevant properties has been completed and upon which
the properties has been handed over to the customers, the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable, usually all considerations received
before handover of the properties to customers.

The judgement on the right to payment associated with
the property sales transaction and the transfer of control of
properties would affect the Group’s profit for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021 and the carrying value of
completed properties held for sale.

Classification of subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates

The classification of an investment as a subsidiary, a joint
venture or an associate is based on whether the Group
is determined to have control, joint control or significant
influence over the investee, which involves judgments
through the analysis of various factors, including the Group’s
representation on the chief decision making authorities
of an investee, such as board of directors’ meetings
and shareholders’ meetings, as well as other facts and
circumstances.

Subsidiaries are consolidated, which means each of their
assets, liabilities and transactions are included line-by-line
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements, whereas
the interests in joint ventures and associates are equity
accounted for as investments on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Accordingly, any changes in classification as a result of
recognition or derecognition of material investments could
have a material and pervasive impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(©

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC.
However, the implementation and settlement of these taxes
varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC,
and the Group’s land appreciation taxes calculation and
payments are subject to finalisation with local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgements is required
in determining the amount of the land appreciation and its
related taxes. The Group recognises these land appreciation
taxes based on management’s best estimates according
to the understanding of the tax rules, by using a single
best estimate of the most likely outcome approach. The
final tax outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and these differences will impact the
income tax expense and deferred income tax provisions in
the periods in which such taxes have been finalised with local
tax authorities.

Income tax and deferred income tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises tax
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on a single
best estimate of the most likely outcome approach. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers to be probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.
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4 Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements (Continued)

(e) Provision for impairment of properties under
development and completed properties held
for sale
The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale according to their net realisable value based on the
realisability of these properties, taking into account estimated
costs to completion based on past experience (properties
under development only) and estimated net sales value
based on prevailing market conditions. Provision is made
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be realised. The assessment
requires the use of judgement and estimates.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and Segment Information

The Executive Directors of the Company have been identified as
the CODM. Management determines the operating segments
based on the Group’s internal reports, which are then submitted to
the CODM for performance assessment and resources allocation.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segment based on a measure of profit before income tax and
regard these to be only one operating segment — property
development. Accordingly, segment disclosures are not presented.
No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority
of the assets and operation of the Group are located in China,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic
environment with similar risk and returns.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there was no
transaction with a single external customer that amounted to 10%
or more of the Group’s revenue.

The revenue from contracts with customers recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are sales of properties
in the PRC, all of which were recognised at a point in time.

The revenue from external parties is derived from numerous
external customers and the revenue reported to the Executive
Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 5 REZESHMHKZERDIE

and Segment Information (Continued) Bl(E&E)
(@) Details of contract liabilities (a) EHEEHE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFTT
Contract liabilities related to sales of Y EEERBER
properties (Note) AHaEMRD) 21,294,053 27,240,235
Note: As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities represent sk © M2022F 128318 - &HAEIE
advanced payments received from customers for RHAEBETELPOVERNRF
properties that have not yet been transferred to the AR TR ST 3K - Eﬁ12022¢12
customers. Decrease in contract liabilities during the ﬁ31 RIEFEMNEHNARRD
year ended 31 December 2022 represents recognition of RIEWEFPFIERERE °

advanced payments received from customers to revenue.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract b) EBEHNEEEBENCERRE
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during the TREFEE 2022412 A31HILFE
year ended 31 December 2022 related to carried-forward AHERELEE S BEMRBHK
contract liabilities. ﬁT& °
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract FYET AN B EESRNEERME
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12B31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBEFT
Sales of properties MEHE 8,339,274 9,869,526
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5 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

and Segment Information (Continued)
() Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of
properties

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RR MR (E

5 REFFENNKERSHE
#H(%&)
© EMEHERBNRBITEN

As at 31 December

#M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFIT
Sales of properties MEHE
Expected to be recognised T8 BAfS T HERR
— Within one year ——FR 17,040,763 13,906,177
— After one year ——%F1% 8,877,102 17,356,647
25,917,865 31,262,824

(d) Assets recognised from costs to fulfill a
contract
In addition to the contract balances disclosed above, the
Group has also recognised sales commission as an asset
in relation to costs to fulfill the contracts with customers.
This is presented within trade and other receivables and
prepayments in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(d) BEAKRADERNEE

B EXFTIEA BRI - AKETE
HRHEMERERBETEEPANZ
RAREEE © LR E M TSI R AR
B 5 N B JE WK IA A S FEA SRR D
o

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Sales commission recognised from costs B B AV E A MK AN R T RR 1Y 88
incurred to fulfill a contract (Note 18) EH2 (KIzE18) 131,365 136,267
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Expenses by Nature

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

6 BRMEES

D YRS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Cost of properties sold — including EEVEXT(BIERE

construction cost, land cost, capitalised KA~ LA - BEARME

interest expenses FERZ) 9,784,004 7,917,295
Provision for impairment of properties P MERBFELED

under development and completed B TR RERE

properties held for sale 71,414 -
Other taxes and surcharges HE kM e 59,076 51,017
Employee benefit expenses (Note 7) 1E B @ FZ (FIEE7) 320,598 545,997
Management and consulting services fee BIE NEEARTEE (Fis(@)

(Note (a)) 46,125 47,197
Donation B 966 144
Advertising and promotion expenses B R HEERY 192,261 188,195
Office expenses PANER 132,116 126,343
Depreciation on property, plant and Y BB - REREARE

equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 12) BEE(MM:F12) 35,598 37,831
Entertainment expenses EBABERY 31,656 42,811
Expenses related to short-term and BRRHLEEE

low-value leases HEEA 4,645 2,719
Recruitment fee REEEH 131 3,270
Motor vehicle expenses AEBER 3,213 3,111
Auditors’ remuneration 1% S5 Bl 25 B

— Audit services Eit iR 4,750 4,565

- Non-audit services — TR 160 645
Legal and professional service fees FEEMEERGER 60,436 58,099
Travelling and transportation expenses ERERBEA 8,245 15,586
Sales commission SHEMS 57,879 50,326
Others Hith 10,442 14,119
Total cost of sales, selling and marketing SHEBAAN  THE MBI

expenses and general and R —M BT 2

administrative expenses 10,823,715 9,109,270
Note (a): The amounts represent the fees paid to certain non- MieE(a) : sx o BaIEME TIEERERRE L E

controlling interests shareholders and third parties in relation
to the management and consulting services provided by them
for the property development projects.

=AXNEMMERBEABENEER
EHARBENER

BETHEBEREERLR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7

Directors’ Emoluments)

EEEANFAZ(BREZHESE)

Year ended 31 December

Wages, salaries and other benefits
Pension costs — statutory pension

TE& - #HekEMER

BRARESRA—EERKRE

HBZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT
278,963 486,086
41,635 59,911
320,598 545,997

Pensions scheme — statutory pension

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administrated and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentage of the employee salary to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group recognises employee benefit expenses in the following
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income:

RINEE - AERKE

AEB BB A FIEB AL M T
FIE R RBEMERHER NGB - F%EH
WTEHBARETREFSEALHE
BRI - DA AR B INE IR A
e

REBERRA ZHRERERATRANE
B

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETF T
Selling and marketing expenses THE REHMAT 98,756 189,418
General and administrative expenses —RITHAX 221,842 356,579
320,598 545,997
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EERABEX(BHEEZEEESE)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (&)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@ ESHEE
The remuneration of the directors of the Company are NATIEENHFGOT :
presented as below:
(i) Forthe year ended 31 December 2022 () #HZE2022F12A31ALEE
Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director’s other
services in
Employer's connection
contribution with the
Allowance ~ toaretirement  management
Discretionary and benefit benefit  of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme the Group Total
ABESS
EELEH
SHNA RS
BER  EIHER  EHIE4N
j £33 R B hiska ERE  BACENER Afte a3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARWTR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HENNF12RMALEE

Executive directors #7Es

M, LuiMing BEEE - 1,647 - - 138 - 1,785
N, Lui Chi Chung Jmmy BEIEE - 154 - - 138 - 1,682
M, Lui Jn Ling BERRE - 1,544 - - 138 - 1,682
Non-executive directors #1782

M Lui Wing Nam AXERE - 46 - - - - 46
Mr,Lui Wing Mau BAREE - 46 - - - - 46

Independent non-executive directors BUFANES

Wr. Chen Pak Hung (Note ) RIEE (B3t 13 - - - - - 13
. Wen Ho Yin (Note i) B (k) % - - - - - )
Mr. Guo Shaomu By ¢ 300 - - - - - 300
Ms. Tang Lo Nar WEfLt 200 - - - . - 20
Total & " 6,221 - - 44 - 7,353
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEMNHEXZ(BIEEEHS)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) E)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EBHE(E)
(i) For the year ended 31 December 2021 (i) BZE2021F12A31HLEFE

Other

emoluments

paid or

receivable in

respect of

director’s other

senvioes in

Employer's connection

confribution with the

Alowance 1o a refirement management

Discrefionary and benefit benefit ~ of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme the Group Total
FEESH
ERAsH
SRS
BER EIHEA  ERIEEH
B3 ER 5 gL ENE  BARENET Eiphe &t

RMBI000 RBO0D RMBO0D RIBIO0D RMBO0D RBIO0D RMBO0D
ARETR  ARETR  ARRTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HENANF12B0ALER

Executive directors ftyy £

Mr. Lui Ming BRE - 1,788 - - 136 - 1,924
Mr, Lui Chi Chung Jimmy AL - 1622 - - 136 - 1758
Mr, Lui Jin Ling BlERTE - 1622 - - 136 - 1,758
Non-executive directors FHES

Mr, Lui Wing Nam EAERE - 931 - - - - 931
Mr, Lui Wing Mau Bk - 931 - - - - 931

Independent non-executive directors BUFuGES

Mr, Chan Pak Hung (Note () REELA () - - - - - - -
M Wan Ho Yin Note ) B () 20 - - - - - 20
M Guo Shaomu v 30 - - - - - 30
M. Tang Lo Nar YRt 20 - - - - - 200
Total &t 700 6,894 - - 408 - 8,002
Notes: M5E

()  Mr. Chan Pak Hung was appointed as the )y BRIEBEAER2022F 2811 AEZRT AR

Company’s independent non-executive director on RAINEIFNITES -

11 February 2022.

(i) Mr. Wan Ho Yin resigned as the Company’s (i) RERIGER2022F2 11 HEHEA QR
independent non-executive director on 11 February BB FEENITES ©
2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)

(b)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries’ undertaking for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to any former employers of the
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Company during the year 31 December 2022
(2021: same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of the directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 33, no significant transactions,
arrangements, and contracts in relations to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company has a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: same).

71E,

()

=B (BREESER)
&)
EERNBENRBERER

HZE2022F12A31BILFE » EAE
EMERBTEAQFNEMBARES
9 EL fth BR 75 1 JE S 1<) sk FE MR 3R AR 48
F(20214F : 4BR) °

BERHEEREMOQE=S
RHERE

B E2022F12 A1 B ILFE - #E
EEREARQRERMEESNEMRFT
1B £ ZAHEAFRIE (20214 « #HR) °

ﬁ@u%% EEEFIMEE

HBEEERAZSEANE
ﬁ‘ﬁwﬁ IREMRZH
&x
HZE2022F12A31BIEFE » HHE
BE  EERHMEBEREEEERS
Zm AMe] LA REMER - HUER
K B A3z 5 (20214 : #8[E) -

EERRS - KFHEHTH
EPN 3

BRI EESSATRE B S - RBE2022%F
12 431 A L4 [ 4 5 ok £ fa] 55 D 3 A
FEADREL A REELT 5B
EAMAAREFEELHEREEA
BRZXP - RHRAN(2021F : 17
) -

F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEIBEX(BEEEESE)

Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (8)

(f) Five highest paid individuals Hh BRESFHMAL
There are three directors’ emoluments included in the five HZE2022F12A31HILFE » A&EH
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group ARESHFMATBE=BEZ FHH
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: there are three (20214 : REBRAESHFMALE
directors’ emoluments included in the five individuals whose FEZRBEHMH) - HZ2022F12A31
emoluments were the highest in the Group). The emoluments HIEFE @ BRI T2%8 (20214 : 2
payable to the remaining 2 (2021: 2) individuals during the ZONTEEFT -

year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE  #FekAMER 3,918 3,958
Pension costs — statutory pension BREKA —EERKE 31 27
3,949 3,985
The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group AEEZEHR T AT ZHFHNEEDT -

fell within the following bands:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BILEE
2022 2021
Number of Number of
individual individual
AE N
Annual emolument bands: FHEE -

—HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 —1,500,001/87t&
2,000,000/ 7T - 1

— HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 —2,000,001F T2
2,500,000/ 7T 2 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

Other Income and Other Gains, Net 8 HithWg AR HE Mt FRE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Dividend income from financial assets at fair BRAREBEFEEHEEZS A
value through profit or loss BEaErEErR S - 4,100
Fair value (losses)/gains of financial assets at EBEARBEEFEEEEHA
fair value through profit or loss - listed BENemEE(BR),
trading securities W — EmR5HFH (26,011) 44,010
Fair vale gains on deemed disposal of RIEHEERESENAREE
Nanjing Jinjun (Note 27 (b)) Wz (FHEE27(0) - 4,548
Gains on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BB MR EHRE
equipment 97 801
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 27(a)) HE—REMTB AR S
(MizE27(a)) 9,406 =
Gain on termination of leases BIEFAEMIRES 8,562 -
Income arising from withdrawal of BETHEQARIEERY
certain associates’ projects FTEE A U A 21,635 =
Income arising from withdrawal of a joint BEEXEEEERL
venture’s project FrE4 R A 10,966 -
Interest income from amounts REEENT - EEEER
due from associates, joint ventures HAbE = H R EUGRIER
and other third parties FEMA - 10,187
Management and consulting service B KA ARSI A (i EEa)
income (Note a) 18,438 20,088
Rental income el A 4,173 5,482
Others A (1,509) (1,927)
45,757 87,289

Note (a): The amount mainly represents the management and

consulting services provided to the Group’s joint ventures
and associates in relation to the property development

projects.

EECE

SHBTEERYEN TR TR
HFAEEA RO R AT
IR R MRS -

BETHEBEREERLR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

9 Finance Costs, Net

9 BERAFEHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12831BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
Finance income BB WA
— Interest income from bank deposits —IRITIE B UA (32,421) (43,575)
(32,421) (43,575)
Finance costs BEERLAR
- Bank and other borrowings —RIT R E M AR 689,568 917,041
— Amounts due to associates and a joint —ENBEARREE
venture EFIA 24,712 40,139
— Amounts due to non-controlling interests — T IR AR A R IR 6,374 30,785
— Lease liabilities (Note 13) —HEaEME13) 5,783 6,305
— Less: capitalised interest =R BARERNE (575,997) (712,665)
150,440 281,605
Finance costs, net BA B AN EEE 118,019 238,030
10 Income Tax Expenses 10 PR8I
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Current income tax: BIERRTISEL -
— PRC corporate income tax — M 263,356 362,756
— PRC land appreciation tax — AR IR (E R 142,826 53,804
406,182 416,560
Deferred income tax (Note 16) EIEFTSHE (HIRE16) 88,051 (14,938)
494,233 401,622
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profit/loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

10 FRiE%iBas (&)
AR EBAFEOBBA BN E AR A R
HT FSRRTE A R TR R /3
BHeHE - ERAT :

e

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFTT
Profit before income tax P8 EiAE 7 1,075,388 1,503,803
Adijust for share of results of joint ventures REAE2MAMEELEREE
and associates reported net of tax NEEBEEFARE(FRTIE) (79,017) (393,009)
996,371 1,110,794
Tax calculated at applicable corporate BEACEMSHBERTERN
income tax rate Bi1E 307,754 291,153
Effect of income not subject to tax BERBFTERIRA N E (414) (8,973)
Effect of expenses not deductible TR B R 2 6,465 4,935
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIELEFTSHEER
as deferred income tax assets HMIEEENTE 49,112 45,176
PRC land appreciation tax deductible for AIHIFTAS 35 B AR B+ 3 (E 7Y
income tax purpose (35,707) (13,451)
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed RO E AT TENT R E
profits 24,197 28,978
Corporate income tax EMEH 351,407 347,818
PRC land appreciation tax AT 4 IR (E L 142,826 53,804
494,233 401,622
PRC corporate income tax FEIEFEREH

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in Mainland China is 25% according to the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “CIT Law”).

REE T B EBE L RS ERET
RIBRBREBLE  REREHBEE
Bfhat RN I E MR R Mt & -

RIBCPEARKMBEZERETEN (B
FRISBUE D) - I B A B 5 B B RS PT3E
FRH) R FTSBER /325%

F$;{2022
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10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

Pursuant to the requirements in relation to LAT in the PRC, all
income from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
building and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for sales of ordinary residential
properties if their appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the
sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has made provision of LAT for sales of properties
according to the aforementioned progressive rate.

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands and, is exempted from Cayman
Islands income tax. The Company’s direct subsidiary in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) was incorporated under the BVI Business
Companies Act of the BVI and is exempted from BVI income tax.
The Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to profits tax at
the rate of 16.5%.

PRC withholding tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued on 6
December 2017, dividends distributed from the profits generated
by the PRC companies after 1 January 2008 to their foreign
investors shall be subject to this withholding income tax of 10%, a
lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate
holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated
in Hong Kong and fulfill the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.

On 21 December 2020, the immediate holding companies of the
PRC subsidiaries have obtained the Certificate of Resident Status
from the Inland Revenue Department and fulfill the requirements
to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.
Therefore, a lower 5% withholding tax rate shall be applied to
dividend distribution thereafter.

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately RMB133,525,000 (2021: RMB109,328,000) have
been provided for at applicable tax rate 5% (2021: 5%) in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

10 PSR (&)

AR B+ th 3 (B R ([ - Hb BB R )
RIR T IR EBHARE - HE R EE
B AE  EFRNBRENTE A
AL T HE B 30% E 60% K R 3 B K 2 49
THIEER R —REEDENEEEE
TBBAARNFIEE ©5M20% + BIA T3
% o

AEERR R RERERYEHETIRL
HoIRAE R

BINFREH
ARBRHAEESRERASHSRADAZM
R RERRERAR  AERLHNFEE
HEREH - ARFARRBERREHE (R
BHRBRES DNEENB AR IRIREE
MRARBEZ BB RHBREARDAT
A - WRHRRHANRBEBRRESAE
Bt o AEEREB M E R R ZAR16.5%H)
BRGNS o

FREFE N
RIER2017F12 A6 B BN EFERUA
EHEIEG) - H2008F1 B1H1% - LAREAT]
EERGENREGIMEEE IR S IEIE
10% M R BMTEFTSH - MTPBENEA
AIMEEERAREESAMALEFTE
BB R B ATR] L MRS RO B E - A
A% BRIEIBINF R -

H2020F 12218 « FEI B AR EE
ZERAGEESHEREENERFHER
2 WHATPREFE LR BIEOTHE
HIFRIE » AL - HEMKREDIRERBER
HI5%TEFOFL K o

720224128318 » 4 AR#133,525,000
TC(20214F + AR¥109,328,0007T ) HyIEE
FISHBEERANRRIPENBRRADIK
i B AL B R E SR IR B AR R 5% (2021 4F
5%)FTHefE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

11 Earnings per Share 11 SRER
(a) Basic (@ BEXR
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BRERBFIEAAREE AT
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BAREEDRITE BB INETSE
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the =1E o

respective years.

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B31BLEE
2022 2021

Profit attributable to owners of the BRFERRQRIGEE ARG

Company during the years (RMB’000) A (ARBTFIT) 121,886 480,936
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITERRE

shares in issue (in thousand) IR (FAR) 1,625,345 1,630,249
Basic earnings per share (RMB) FRERZF(ARE) 0.07 0.30

(b) Diluted (b) #§

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares H E2022F K2021F 12 A31HIEFE
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2022 and AR B RS R B
2021. Accordingly, diluted earnings per share is the same as Hhe EHilt - FIREERFEGRERR
the basic earnings per share. FHER o

F352022
sRTEMEEEARAS 100
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12 Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

12 1% - BEKk&E

Computer
Right-of use Leasehold and office Motor
assets improvement equipment vehicles Total
HEWE ERR
EREEE %1 WARE RE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%Trn AR¥TR AR®TRT  AR%TR
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12831A
Cost [D#N 137,773 34,564 33,759 12,407 218,503
Accumulated depreciation ZEHrE (46,411) (11,718) (15,099) (6,336) (79,564)
Net book amount FEFE 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
Year ended 31 December 2022  #Z20225128318
LEE
Opening net book amount HEmFE 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
Additions NE 66,163 2,255 6,723 892 76,033
Disposals HE (73,203) - (21) (185) (73,409)
Depreciation e (17,494) (7,634) (8,100) (2,370) (35,598)
Closing net book amount PR 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
At 31 December 2022 R2022612831H
Cost BN 107,504 26,200 39,598 12,660 185,962
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (40,676) (8,733) (22,336) (8,252) (79,997)
Net book amount FEFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

12 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 12 #% - BERBE (&)

Computer
Right-of use Leasehold and office Motor
assets  improvement equipment vehicles Total
i ES BRER
[EREERE i PRRME A= #st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARET:

At 31 December 2020 R2020512831A
Cost B AN 58,172 11,364 25,987 13,804 109,327
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (22,323) (4,808) (7,922) (6,299) (41,352)
Net book amount REFE 35,849 6,556 18,065 7,505 67,975
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021F12A31H
LEE
Opening net book amount BREFE 35,849 6,556 18,065 7,505 67,975
Additions NE 79,601 24,051 8,538 1,695 113,885
Disposals HeE - (1,161) (3,271) (658) (5,090)
Depreciation e (24,088) (6,600) (4.672) 2,471) (37,831)
Closing net book amount iP R 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
At 31 December 2021 R2021512831H
Cost 5% 137,773 34,564 33,759 12,407 218,503
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (46,411) (11,718) (15,099) (6,336) (79,564)
Net book amount FEFE 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
Depreciation expenses has been charged in the following HEBRADRGE E2EWRERIZATERIF
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive B
income:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETTT
Cost of sales SHERAR 112 53
Selling and marketing expenses FHENZ AT 1,261 597
Administrative expenses THHEY 34,225 37,181
35,598 37,831

F352022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

13 Leases

(i)

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

13 #HE

(i)

RERE MBI R AERNE
#

RAMBRRRER TFEAEAW
S -

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
Properties s 66,828 91,362
Lease liabilities HESE
— Non-current —JERE 56,422 80,188
— Current — e 9,561 16,629
Total lease liabilities HESEEE 65,983 96,817

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

REEE2HRERAERNE
2
BSHMRERER TS RHEER

o8]
ot

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETFTT
Expenses related to short-term and FHERHREEEHEER
low-value leases (Note 6) (PffF5E6) 4,645 2,719
Depreciation charges of right-of-use EREEENERAIE12)
assets (Note 12) 17,494 24,088
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEMNEER (M)
(Note 9) 5,783 6,305

(i) Amount recognised in the consolidated

statement of cash flows

During the year ended 31 December 2022, cash outflows
relating to leases, including short-term and low value leases,
amounted to RMB25,130,000 (2021: RMB22,008,000).
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RGEREREREINESE

HZE2022F 12 A1 A ILFE - WER
TEHEEEH  SEEHMEEER
g AARE25,130,0007C (20214 ¢
AR#22,008,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

14 Investment Properties

14 REYE

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31HILFE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREBTFT
Opening net book amount ERFTRRE 5 183,020 180,900
Fair value gains A EERE - 2,120
Closing net book amount HARBRE 58 183,020 183,020

15 Investments Accounted for Using the
Equity Method
(@ Investments accounted for using the equity
method
(i)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using
the equity method” are as follows:

15 IR EVIERNIRE
(a) LAREZREYIERNIRE

() REEPBERNKER R RAE
FSATIRMIRE MBEEI T

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Joint ventures BN 801,874 868,812
Associates i SNG]| 562,389 751,072
1,364,263 1,619,884

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 AR ETIEMIIRE (&)
Equity Method (Continued)

(@) Investments accounted for using the equity (a) UAREZESERNIRE ()
method (Continued)

()  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement () REREMBEHRAREREI AR
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using HOEGIBRMIRE I MEENT ¢
the equity method” are as follows: (Continued) (&)

Movement of investments in joint ventures: KREREEDENE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
At 1 January »1A1H 868,812 834,380
Additions NE - 25,115
Addition upon deemed disposal of RIEHEERESERHNRE
Nanijing Jinjun (Note 27(b)) GEZH0)) - 11,885
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 28) W iE — R B A R (M 5E28) - (26,948)
Share of results FEIhEE 43,098 199,751
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (81,000) (175,371)
Capital reduction HE (29,036) -
At 31 December W12 A31H 801,874 868,812
Movement of investments in associates: IHERE S N TR ES)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREF T
At 1 January »1A1H 751,072 634,454
Additions INE - 98,340
Share of results FEIEEER 35,919 193,258
Dividend declared BEEIRKE - (174,980)
Capital reduction BE (224,602) -
At 31 December ®12A831H 562,389 751,072
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the

Equity Method (Continued)
(@ Investments accounted for using the equity
method (Continued)

U

(ii)

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using
the equity method” are as follows: (Continued)

The Group’s joint ventures and associates are principally
engaged in property development business. During
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, certain
projects of the joint ventures and associates were under
development, net losses were incurred and the Group
recognised share of losses of the joint ventures and
associates. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group has performed assessment on impairment of
the investments in joint ventures and associates taking
into account the pre-sales of the properties of the joint
venture and associates, the current and future market
condition for sales of properties and the budgeted
development cost and expenses, no impairment on
the investments in joint ventures and associates is
considered necessary.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income statements as “Share of
results of joint ventures and associates” are as follows:

15 BxFAfERIESIBRAVIRE (/8)

() LAEmIAPIERAVIRE (&)

(i)

(ii)

KR &I RER A SR
SORDIRMRE M EEDT ¢
%)

/\

rEBENEEPERBEARE
ENEEHERLBED - HE
20224 & 2021F 12 A31H IEF
T AECERBENRNET
HBNERETR  BELEEBETF
B MASEERELEGEDE
Tt N RIRE B - 7R2022F K&
2021%F12A31H - AEEEHA
BOENBERRNITEEITR
B BHERIBESED
ERBENRNME LEWE
mfﬁaqxzﬂexm&ﬁ“%%ﬁz
AEAX  REAELERBE
RNARIGEDERE -

FAEERERERRIEES
RS N R RE M RN

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Joint ventures SR E 43,098 199,751
Associates iGN 35,919 193,258
79,017 393,009
F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 AR ETIRIVIZE ()
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) set out below are the principal joint ventures and associates (b) TP % @R 20224 2021512
of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. The place ABTEHMNEZESENENBENT -
of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of FEM A SRt MR TR AR = E L
business. B o
(i) Joint ventures: () EEL%E:

Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
AAER HRALEH IEERED fERE AEBEFRERERA A
2022 2021

ANBEEEERAA PRC Property development Equity method

Hamen Jijia Property Co, Ltd HE IE B 30% 30%
BESERNERTERAR PRC Property development Equity method

Halyan Jinbi Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. hE MEER Bat - 33.3%
AR R IRRRERRERAT PRC Property development Equity method

Zhangjiagang Free Duty Zone Yaohui Real Estate # IEHE Bak

Development Co., Ltd. 13.5% 13.5%
HASERHEREERLA PRC Property development Equity method

Nantong Zhuosu Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. NERE Eak 12.5% 12.5%
BENEERNERSARDA PRC Property development Equity method

Yixing Jiayu Real Estate Co., Ltd. el NELRE X 20% 20%
EAEFESFARAF PRC Property development Equity method

Changshu Zhuoyang Property Co., Ltd. e NERE Eak 25% 25%
HARTREHEREERAT PRC Property development Equity method

Nantong Fulteng Real Estate Co., Ltd. Gl NEEE Fidain 20% 20%
BAFRESARLA PRC Property development Equity method

Nantong Chongtong Property Co., Ltd. e NERE Eak 33% 33%
PNEEREEERRARDA PRC Property development Equity method

Changzhou Jiahong Cailing Real Estate Co., Ltd. T NEEE Fidain 20.21% 2021%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 AR ETIRIVIZE ()
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(i) Joint ventures: (Continued) iy E&ELE:(E)
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
S HRALEH IEERED HE-0ib3 ARBRLFEREREA
2022 2021
REMBAAESARAA PRC Property development Equity method
Taixing Ronghe Property Co., Ltd. # NELR Eat 33% 33%
IBEEEERAR PRC Property development Equity method
Zhejiang Gangda Property Co., Ltd. e NELR gk 49% 49%
WNAZEZARAA PRC Property development Equity method
Huzhou Ganghong Property Co., Lid. # NELR Rt 60% 60%
RAKERHEREERAA PRC Property development Equity method
Changshu Maolong Real State Co, Ltd. e NELR BEak 50% 50%
BNIERSEREARLA PRC Property development Equity method
Suzhou Zhengxi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd, ESE Rt 33% 33%
nEAEELARLA PRC Property development Equity method
Rugao Ganghua Property Co., Ltd. e NELR gk 24.99% 24.99%
BReREHEREERAT PRC Property development Equity method
Nanjing Jinjun Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. i NERE Bak 25% 5%
BRAHERERAT PRC Investment holding Equity method
Nantong Gangxuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. e RERR Eak 49% 49%
FAZERHERRERLT PRC Property development Equity method
Jiaxing Bixiu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. # ESE Eat - 33.30%
BNEEEREARAT PRC Investment holding Equity method
Changzhou Shenmai Investment Co., Ltd. e RERR Eat 41.25% 41.25%

F352022
sRtEMEEEARAS OO



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 AR ETIRIVIZE ()
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(ii) Associates: iy BHEAT:
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
L HRALEH IEERED fEAE ARERUFEREREA
2022 2021

EAMELEEERHERRER LA PRC Property development Equity method

Changshu Yushan Country Garden Real Estate i NEER it

Development Co., Ltd. - 40%
BETMEERTEEEARAF () PRC Property development Equity method

Nantong Country Garden New District # MEER Rk

Property Co., Ltd. (Note) 15% 15%
FRACERNEREERLA PRC Property development Equity method

Zhangjiagang Jinbi Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd. NERE Eak - 16%
B ERTEEERAA PRC Property development Equity method

Haimen Zhongnan Jinguan Property Co., Ltd. Bl NEER B 30% 0%
FRANEEE AR EREERAA PRC Property development Equity method

Zhangjiagang South City Country Garden Real Estate MEER Bk

Development Co., Lid. - 20%
BT ERHERSERAR PRC Property development Equity method

Yancheng Xinbi Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. IEZ Bk 30% 30%
B mEERHEREERLA PRC Property development Equity method

Yancheng Shunbi Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd, NERE Eak 20% 0%
IRTATEERRERAR () PRC Property development Equity method

Jiangyin Hecheng Real Estate Development Co, Ltd. MEER it

(Note) 15% 15%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the

Equity Method (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(ii)

Associates: (Continued)

(b) (%&)

(i) HEAR: (F)

15 FRAEHENIRIIRE ()

Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
ARER AL ITERED HERE AEEREFEREREA
2022 2021

EAMUERNEREERLA PRC Property development Equity method

Changshu Bida Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. NERR Rk - 25%
METHERNERSEERLA PRC Property development Equity method

Rugao Xinbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. # ESE Rt 30% 30%
EATME TR HEREARAR PRC Property development Equity method

Changshu Jin'an Ruichen Real Estate Development 1 NERR ey

Co., Ltd. 25% 25%
B AEAERARAA PRC Property development Equity method

Changzhou Mudan Jungang Real Estate Co., Ltd. G NELE EEx 24.5% 24.5%
EERMARELAROA PRC Property development Equity method

Lianyungang Ganglong Property Co., Ltd. e NELR ok 20% 20%
LEREEZERAR PRC Investment holding Equity method

Shanghai Yinwang Property Co., Ltd. HE RAZHR Bt 30% 30%
BNmEEEERAT PRC Property development Equity method

Changzhou Kaize Property Co., Ltd. e NELR ok 30% 30%

F#;2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the

Equity Method (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(ii)

15 BRFARERE
(b) (&)

HIBRAVIRE (&)

Associates: (Continued) (i) H=EAT: (FE)
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
PEES AL ITERED HERE AEERLEFEREREAM
2022 2021

RNEEEXRAARAA (i) PRC Property development Equty method

Guangzhou Wangyuan Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. & NELE ER 10% 10%

(Note)
BMNNEZERAR PRC Property development Equity method

Yangzhou Jiuhe Property Co, Ltd. B MEER B 24% 24%
BN ER R R TAEEARAA PRC Ivestment holding Equity method

Yangzhou Economic and Technological Development RERR ey 49.60% 49.60%

Zone Ruixiang Business Administration Co., Ltd.
BIRERERRLA PRC Property development Equity method

Guangzhou Kewang Investment Co., Ltd. B NERE Eak 20% 20%

Note:

Annual Report 2022
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The English names of PRC companies referred
to above in this note represents management’s
best effort in translating the Chinese names of
those companies as no English name have been
registered or available.

These entities had three to five shareholders,
where the Group held 10% to 15% equity interests.
Pursuant to the articles of association of this entity,
the Group is entitled to appoint one director on
these entities’ Directors’ Board. Therefore, the
Group has power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the entity pursuant to
the articles of association.
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AP RE £ ATt AR B A B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the

Equity Method (Continued)

(¢) Summarised financial information for
associates and joint ventures
The directors of the Company consider that none of the
associates and joint ventures were significant to the Group
and thus the individual financial information of the associates
was not disclosed.

(i) Set out below are the summarised financial information
of joint ventures, which are individually immaterial to the

15 LR EIIRRIIRE (&)

) BMEQARRESELENIMBE

P

AAFEERA  HEBEATRAE
CEHAEEMEBEA - R HH
B2 AROEBIBBER -

(i)  PATEZIERIN S H A S EL A
ERNGELENMHERBE -

Group.
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLELEE

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Profit for the year F A 43,098 199,751
Other comprehensive income Hian 2 mias - =
43,098 199,751

(ii) Set out below are the summarised financial information
of associates, which are individually immaterial to the

(i) AT#EIER TS S AEEL T
BERNBERRNGHEERME -

Group.
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Profit for the year F R F 35,919 193,258
Other comprehensive income Efh 2wl - -
35,919 193,258
F#R2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

16 Deferred Income Tax 16 IEFEFTSM
(a) Deferred income tax assets (a) EEMSHEE

As at 31 December

M2A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

The balance comprises temporary

REARBRATSENERIE

differences attributable to: =R
— Tax losses —THIEER 355,653 338,283
— Deferred land appreciation tax — JERE L IR (EF 74,591 82,878
Total deferred income tax assets RS EEAE 430,244 421,161
Set-off with deferred tax liabilities TR AR S YE BIIR R AT
pursuant to set-off provisions FrSBBRIE (29,273) (11,665)
Net deferred income tax assets EEFRESHEEFE 400,971 409,496
Movements of deferred income tax assets without taking into BEAMSHEEE S (WET ME—H
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax TEHBAN AR T -
jurisdiction is as follows:
Deferred land
appreciation
Movements Tax losses tax Total
BE BEEE BEEIiZER gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFTT AREF T
At 1 January 2021 M2021F181H 269,581 79,897 349,478
Credited to the consolidated FFAGREEERER
statement of comprehensive (Mi5E10)
income (Note 10) 68,702 2,981 71,683
At 31 December 2021 and R2021512A318 K
1 January 2022 2022F1H1H 338,283 82,878 421,161
Credited/(Charged) to the AR ERE2E
consolidated statement of Wrza gk (FIzE10)
comprehensive income (Note 10) 17,370 (8,287) 9,083
At 31 December 2022 R2022512A318 355,653 74,591 430,244
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued)

16 IEEFTSHL (&)

(@) Deferred income tax assets (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of RMB132,901,000 (2021:
RMB83,789,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to
RMB531,604,000 (2021: RMB335,156,000), that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses will expire up to and including year 2027.

Deferred income tax liabilities

(@)

EEMSHEE (&)

IEEATIS T8 B T A FE AR BE AR 18 F &5
BRI BB R A & FE R R F B IRt
Frtes 2 BB E B 1ERERR o 120224
12A31H » REBEIWEFL A TAAE A
HIERRERRBANTEBEAR
# 531,604,000 7T (2021 FF : A R #&
335,156,000 T ) HERIELEFTIS T EE
AR #132,901,0007C (20214 : AR
#£83,789,0007T) ° ZEHIEBE KR
2027 (RIFHBFE) ATfEm °

ELEFREHRARE

As at 31 December

M2A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETT

The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:
— Withholding tax on dividends for

BB BENTRED
B

— AR IRE MR SR

undistributed profits EAap (133,525) (109,328)

— Fair value gains on investment properties ~ — 1% & WA BEWE (26,736) (26,736)

— Deferred land appreciation tax — R+ I (ET (105,662) (32,725)

Total deferred income tax liabilities BB aREeS (265,923) (168,789)
Set-off with deferred income tax assets RIRIK SE AR AR SRR T

pursuant to set-off provisions SR &E 29,273 11,665

Net deferred income tax liabilities BIEFEBAaRETE (236,650) (167,124)

F#R2022

BETHEBEREERLR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued) 16 IEIEFTEHL(4E)

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued) (b) EIEFFEHAME(E)
Movements of deferred income tax liabilities without taking B SR AaEEss(WET RE—F
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same TN ARSI -
tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Withholding
tax on Fair value
dividends for gainson Deferred land
undistributed investment properties
Movements profits properties tax Total
RDTREF REME BT
2E MREENE 2QAAEEKRES T EER et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFL AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 818 (80,350) (26,206) (5,488) (112,044)
Credited to the consolidated STAGRAZEKRER
statement of comprehensive (F3E10)
income (Note 10) (28,978) (6530) (27,237) (56,745)
At 31 December 2021 and H2021512A31B R
1 January 2022 20221818 (109,328) (26,736) (32,725) (168,789)
Credited to the consolidated SFAGATENEER
statement of comprehensive (MH:E10)
income (Note 10) (24,197) - (72,937) (97,134)
At 31 December 2022 H2022F12A31H (133,525) (26,736) (105,662) (265,923)
The analysis of deferred income tax accounts are as follows: BIEFSHRE DT ¢
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Deferred income tax assets: ELERBHEE !
Recoverable after 12 months AT A1 21E A 12 W [e 400,971 409,496
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFTEHEE :
Recoverable after 12 months Al 121E A& Uk Bl (236,650) (157,124)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

17 FEPYERRIFFHENE R

17 Properties Under Development and

Completed Properties Held for Sale

TH=

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Properties under development FAEE R 3 30,736,363 36,670,782
Completed properties held for sale HEHENB B TYE 2,142,458 2,375,337
32,878,821 39,046,119

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale of the Group are all located in the PRC and expected to be
completed and available for sale within normal operating cycle.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the capitalisation rate of
borrowings is 9.2% (2021: 9.6%).

As at 31 December 2022, the provision for impairment of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to approximately RMB84,363,000 (2021:
RMB12,949,000).

The carrying amounts of Group’s properties held for sales and
properties under development pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings are set out as follows:

AEERERNERBEL SN B TYE
BRIARE - EHRERESAHBNTRR
HHE -

HE2022F12 A1 A L FEMERNER
{bEL & 59.2%(20214F  9.6%) °

R2022F12 A31H » P WENIFIE
HENERTIMENBESBEANDARE
84,363,0007T (20214 : AR #12,949,000
JL) °

BERERAAEEERNER RN ASERFE
HENMELREPOMENREEDNT

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFTT
Carrying amounts of completed properties held — #F{EHERE % T¥E M
for sale and properties under development: FE R YR EREE -

- Pledged as collateral for Group’s borrowings ~ — i 1f{E AR EB SR

HHm 11,720,000 17,308,747

F352022
st EsEEEaRAS 20|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 Z5 &k HttEWFIER AR

Prepayments

|

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREETTT
Trade receivables from third parties REAE=FNE B EKRFIE
(Note (a)) (Ffz£(a)) 65,269 46,984
Other receivables Hn el R IE
— Deposits for property development projects —YIEREFER RS 659,394 470,868
— Receivables from banks and bank card — FEUERTT R IRTT R ARTS
service providers FEER A 11,242 238,574
- Refundable deposits for property development — #2538 B MARIEIES
projects (Note (b)) (FaE®b)) 77,394 265,092
— Others —HAth 36,496 35,931
784,526 1,010,465
Prepayments FERE
— Prepayments for property development — YRR B AN IR
projects 568,838 82,419
— Prepaid value added tax and other taxes —JFBEER R EMBIE 887,319 514,640
— Contract acquisition costs (Note (c)) — B KRR AR (M 3E(C) 131,365 136,267
— Others —Hfh 38,438 13,702
1,625,960 747,028
Total trade and other receivables and ESRHEMERREUR
prepayments AR 2,475,755 1,804,477
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

5 R EL A U IR R TR A 3K

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 &
Prepayments (Continued) I
(@) Trade receivables from third parties

Trade receivables are denominated in RMB and mainly arise
from sales of properties and construction services. Proceeds
in respect of sales of properties and construction services are
generally received in accordance with the terms stipulated in
the sale and purchase agreements. This is generally no credit
period granted to the property purchasers.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the
consolidated statement of financial position date based on
invoice dates is as follows:

v
2]

(5

(&)
REE=HTNEZEWE

B EUHANARSEE - EBRE
WEME R - WENERERE
BRI 5UE — MR IR IR B (33118 1
S - BT E - TRAREERT
s o

B 5 RUGIAN G A MR R B iR
EEOHBDIRE DT

As at 31 December

M2A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
0-30 days 0-30H 65,269 46,984

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables of
RMB65,269,000 (2021: RMB46,984,000) were overdue but
not impaired and fully relate to certain customers that have
good settlement record with the Group.

For these past due trade receivables, the Group has assessed
the expected credit losses by considering historical loss
experiences, existing market conditions and forward-looking
information. Based on the assessment, expected credit loss
rate of trade receivables is close to zero. Therefore, the loss
allowance provision for these receivables balances was not
material.

R2022F12A31H - E S EUEIAEA
R #65,269,0007T (2021 F « AR
46,984,0007T ) E. %1 BR{E M AR BE 7T
FHRAEEFRTEELENETE
AR -

HERMBHEZRKTR - NEEES
ZERBEEELR BEMRMATEL
BEHERMEEERE - RigTE - B
HRWFENFEREEBRRENT -
At - ZFRES RS SR E R EL
TERX -

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and
Prepayments (Continued)
(b) Refundable deposits for property development projects

represent the amounts advanced to other property
developers in the PRC for the funding of property
development projects. As at 31 December 2022, the balance
were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Management considers the contract acquisition costs, which
represents sales commission paid for obtaining property
sale contracts, to be recoverable. The Group has deferred
the amounts paid and will charge them to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the related
revenue is recognised. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the amount charged to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income was RMB131,365,000 (2021:
RMB136,267,000) and there were no impairment loss in
relation to the remaining balances.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables and
prepayments approximate their fair values and are denominated in
RMB.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 was the carrying value of receivables. The Group did not
hold any collateral as security.
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REPSSERNE

IH (48)

(b) % ERWARERSEENTH
BEEMMEREFIOMERLEEE
& R2022F12A31H - 1 *ﬁ%?%?ﬁi%
R RBWERERTFIUER

() BEBRAERAAHNWERARTUYE -
ZERNIERERMERSA M
MHEERE  AEECETCX NS
R WA ERAERRAREEBGRTA
RAEUWER - EE2022612A318 1
FE - BEAGEEEARSRNESEA
AR #131,365,0007C (20214 : AR
#136,267,0007T) * SABEMERERTIE ©

B 5 I oA FE YR IR K FE AN SRR A BR T {E £
HAREEES  TAARKEE -

MR2022F 2021 F12 A1 B EaEEAR
B ERGIEZ REE - AEBWEES
AR RIEAER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

19 Cash and Bank Balances 19 BERIBITHEER
As at 31 December
M12831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT

Restricted cash (Note a) ZRR&IRE (HiFa) 2,914,221 4,608,272

Pledged time deposits B E BT K 55,116 71,657

Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEEY 1,172,191 2,304,919

4,141,528 6,984,848

Note: BIEE -

(@ The Group’s restricted cash mainly comprise of (1) Supervision @@ AEENIREHBESTIEAENEEDE
accounts for construction of pre-sold properties; (2) Guarantee ERMEERF  QLIRES  RO)E
deposits for construction; and (3) Supervision accounts for HIEREEERE
mortgage guarantee.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign B AR BB SR E R A INE P K i85 9N

currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of EZFREEIN - BETFHBEBNREMNEE

the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign SNFE S S| EYFERAIR Bl OE R o

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The above balances as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 it iA2022F K 20214912 531 H &5 pp i

approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following HAnEERS WL TYBEHE

currencies:
As at 31 December
M12831H

2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT

Denominated in: BTy ERHE
-RMB —ARE 4,139,356 6,906,543
-UsD —Z%7T 364 58,796
- HKD — B 1,808 19,509

4,141,528 6,984,848

F352022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RR MR (E

20 Share Capital 20 B
Number of Share
shares capital
BOEE [} %
HK$
BT
Authorised: SEE :
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R2021F1A1H « 20214128318 -
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 202241 A1H &2022%12A831H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Number of Share
shares capital
BOEE ;&
RMB’000
ARET T
Issued: (S5 s
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1H 1,630,618,000 14,919
Cancellation of shares (Note (i)) FESEARD (M EEG) (2,077,000 (19
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 732021412 A31H &2022F1 A1H 1,628,541,000 14,900
Cancellation of shares (Note (i)) FESERRAD (B EEG) (6,742,000) (62)
At 31 December 2022 72022912 831H 1,621,799,000 14,838
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

20 Share Capital (Continued)

(i)

Cancellation of shares

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
acquired 4,905,000 (2021: 3,914,000) of the Company’s
shares through purchases from the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in January, September, October and November
2022. The total amount paid to acquire shares was
RMB13,186,000 (equivalent to HK$14,744,505) (2021:
RMB13,147,000 (equivalent to HK$16,032,000)). During
the year ended 31 December 2022, 6,742,000 (2021:
2,077,000) shares were cancelled and deducted from share
capital and share premium amounting to RMB62,000 (2021:
RMB19,000) and RMB19,255,000 (2021: RMB6,997,000)
respectively.

21 A (48)

(i)

nfféﬂl'fﬁ
HE2022F12A31BILEE » A&
B 2022418 98 - 10A K11 A
B &8RS S E 4,905,000 K&
(20214 : 3,914,0000%) AN A FRLID ©
WEZERODINTNRESEABARKE
13,186,000 7T ( #7 & 7 14,744,505 78
70) (20214 « AR®13,147,0007T (46
B 716,032,000/ 7T ) ) © & £20224F
1231 HIEFE - 856,742,000 8%
(20214 : 2,077 oooﬂﬁ)ﬁﬁfﬁ A=)l
KRB REFNREED B ABARKE
62,0007T (20214 : AR#19,0007T)
M A R#19,255,0007C(20214F : AR
#6,097,0007T) °

Highest Lowest

Number of purchase purchase

ordinary price per price per

shares ordinary ordinary

repurchased share share

EBm BREBRR BREBER

ZERYE WESEEE WREBEE

(Thousand

Month of repurchase Bm A5 shares) (HK$) (HK$)

(F) (&) (&7T)

January 2022 202241 247 4.4100 4.2300

September 2022 202249 A 2,470 4.1400 2.2900

October 2022 2022107 1,524 2.1500 1.8800

November 2022 2022411 A 664 2.0400 0.8400
F#;2022

BETHEBEREERLR

207



208

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

21 Share Premium and Reserves

21 R REBNEEE

Share Statutory Other
premium reserves reserves Total
B RE EERE Hitf @et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARBTT
(Note (i) (Note (i)
(F3EG) (B =E(Gi))
At 1 January 2021 2021F181H 1,474,816 227,833 Bill5¥51(5) 2,018,164
Cancellation of shares (Note 20) s $4R% {7 (FiH5£20) (6,997) - 7,016 19
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) EERM (H3E20) - L (13,147) (13,147)
Acquisition of additional interests in - UcBE B B /A &) H)ZEAMESS
subsidiaries (Note 27) (FftsE27) = - (26,420) (26,420)
Appropriation to statutory reserves I ZE A TF R - 4,955 - 4,955
At 31 December 2021 and M2021F128318 K
1 January 2022 20221 A1H 1,467,819 232,788 282,964 1,983,571
Cancellation of shares (Note 20)  $E$4B& 5 (Kf3E20) (19,255) - 19,317 62
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) &= ([t £20) - - (13,186) (13,186)
Appropriation to statutory reserves R Z X F R - 7,480 - 7,480
At 31 December 2022 ®2022512A31H 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,977,927
() Statutory reserves (i) EERE
In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable BEHPBEEANINGBEECE 2 HBE
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiary is B PENERRER —E RNV
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less SREFE10% (R BEeEAFE)
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based BB AGEES - MEEES Y
on the PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated RitasEEh RN B AR ZiMERZ
total of this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital 50% + BIZEM B~ Al 078 B 1ER
of the PRC subsidiary, the subsidiary will not be required to oo ZARNR R A @ s R E R E
make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be M EEESER AR 2RI
used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar INEZR o
authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.
(i) Other reserves (i) HAb#E

Other reserves mainly represented the reserves derived from
acquisition of non-controlling interests, the share premium
and the accumulated capital contribution from the then
equity holders of the group companies in excess of the
consideration given in relation to the reorganisation.
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22 Borrowings

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

22 B

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFIT
Non-current JEBNEA
Bank borrowings RITIER
- Secured and guaranteed — B RER 3,263,136 4,502,508
Other borrowings Efufas
— Secured — B 761,466 2,234,066
4,024,602 6,736,574
Current BN HA
Bank borrowings RITIE
— Secured and guaranteed — BHEMRER 770,477 393,747
Other borrowings HAfER
— Secured — A 856,528 1,157,698
— Unsecured — 4K I 114,500 196,000
Senior notes BhERE 1,000,097 1,010,568
2,741,602 2,758,013
Total borrowings fEFR4REE 6,766,204 9,494,587
(@) Bank and other borrowings (@) WITREMET

As at 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings
of RMB5,651,607,000 (2021: RMB8,288,019,000) were
secured by certain receivables, equity interests of group

companies, properties under development, completed
properties held for sales and investment properties with
total carrying values of RMB19,375,032,000 (2021:

RMB18,082,384,000).

As at 31 December 2022, certain bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB4,033,613,000 required guaranteed by
subsidiaries of the Group (2021: RMB4,896,255,000).

R2022F 12 A31H » AEERETT
K E b {8 A R ¥ 5,651,607,000 7T
(20214 : AR#8,288,019,0007T) M
BR T 48 (8 A A R #19,375,032,000 7T
(20214 : AR #18,082,384,0007T )
WETREKFIE SERAFRRAE
W FAEPYE - BELENERTY
ENMIGEMERBEER -

A20229F12 A31H » REBKERQ A
TREROE TRITERREMER A
AR #4,033,613,0007T (20214 : A
R#4,896,255,0007T) °

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

22 Borrowings (Continued)

(@)

Bank and other borrowings (Continued)
Certain group companies in the PRC have entered into
fund arrangements with trust companies and assets
management companies, respectively, pursuant to which
these financial institutions raised funds and injected them to
the group companies. Certain equity interests of the group
companies were held by the financial institutions as collateral
of which the Group is obligated to redeem at predetermined
prices. The funds bear fixed interest rates and have fixed
repayment terms. Thus, the Group did not derecognise
its equity interests in the subject group companies but
treated the fund arrangements as other borrowings in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2022,
these borrowings amounted to RMB1,271,995,000 (2021:
RMB1,364,360,000).

Senior notes

On 15 November 2021, the Group issued short-term senior
notes with principal amount of USD158,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,010,568,000) (“2022 Senior Notes”) at par value,
at an interest rate of 13.5% per annum and with maturity in
November 2022. During year ended 31 December 2022, the
2022 Senior Notes in principal amount of USD145,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,000,097,000) was cancelled by the
Company pursuant to an exchange offer conducted in
November 2022, and the balance of USD13,000,000
(equivalent to RMB82,584,000) was fully redeemed by the
Company at maturity date.

On 8 November 2022, the Group issued another short-term
notes with principal amount of USD145,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,000,097,000) at par value, at an interest rate of
13.5% per annum and with maturity in November 2023 (2023
Senior Notes”).
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(@)

IRITRHAMERK(E)
AETHEREBRQARCOREERAR R
EEEEARVESTH - Bt
RECHMEESEECUREE QR
FE - KERRIME TIRIER© Bk
BEE AEEFETRBETCERE
Bl EIRE - ZEESRIEEE X
XAFE  RRETFEHRARER -
It REBWT KRR IEERENMZENE
BEATRRE  MERGEMBHRE
NG E & ZHR BEMB R - 712022
F12A31H » ZEEFNEEAAR
#1,271,995,0007T (2021 F : AR
1,364,860,0007T) °

BEERE

R2021F11 B25H » REEZETTN
Zm{EE:H A £ & 158,000,000 3% T
(HHE R AR%1,010,568,000 7T ) H
HEE A ERE ([2022F B A EHE]) -
F & AH13.5% W 7 2022 F 11 A I
B o B2 2022F 12 A31HILFE -
RABRIE2022F 11 BETH R
BAEUH A £ A145,000,0003 7T (18
B AR #1,000,097,0007T ) #2022
FEEZE  AQAREEABHR
f5 [0 13,000,000 7T (B E R AR
82,584,0007T ) Hy 4t 4 o

R2022F11 A8H + AKEEITURER
{E{E T A% % A 145,000,000% 7T (17
HEHAR1,000,097,00070) K B — 5
HELAEE([2023FBAZEE]) - F
& AH13.5% + FIHAE A2023F 114 -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued)

(©)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates or maturity date
whichever is earlier are as follows:

22 &R (%)
() A&EmEREFESBHHELRANE
HEEANEIMA(URREEAE) N
T:

As at 31 December

M12A318

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AREETFTT

Variable rate borrowings ERER 3,555,136 3,160,168
Other borrowings — repricing date: HEtfgR—EFEEEE

6 months or less 6IEHAT 156,976 =

6-12 months 6-121@AH 1,672,292 1,710,933

1-2 years 1-24F 542,000 2,160,317

2-5 years 2 - 5% 839,800 2,463,169

Total Bt 6,766,204 9,494,587

The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

(d) 20229 R20214E12 831 B M AMAET
BEERNZNT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
Bank borrowings RITRER 5.68% 6.36%
Other borrowings HifER 12.00% 11.94%
Weighted average effective interest rates ~ JNiE 19 B F| = 8.29% 9.02%

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

22 Borrowings (Continued) 22 fEFR(#&)
(e) The repayment terms of the borrowings are as follows: (e) EzmpExmmMT

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Within 1 year 1FER 2,741,602 2,758,013
1-2 years 1-24F 2,663,272 2,165,317
2-5 years 2 - 5% 1,361,330 4,571,257
Total 4=t 6,766,204 9,494,587

(f) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in
the following currencies.

() BROEDEETISEHE -

As at 31 December

A12A831H
2022 2021

RMB ARE 5,766,106 8,420,272
HKD BT - 63,747
USD Ein 1,000,097 1,010,568
Total 1@zt 6,766,204 9,494,587

(9) The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximated their (9) M2022%F 20214124318 » fE5KER
fair values as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 as either the HEEEIEAREE - JYEREER
impact of discounting of borrowings with fixed interest rates RYME RIS E KA - B AEE
was not significant, or the borrowings bear interest at floating FIRET B ©
rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other 23 BZE[HIE - BN EERHE

Payables S FIE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Trade payables (Note (a)) B 5 B E (KT (a)) 3,734,166 4,437,831
Bills payables (Note (b)) ENERE (MisE b)) 4,394 22,990
Other payables: HAth P ROE ¢
Other taxes payable E e RiIE 33,423 195,017
Payroll payable EEHE 63,185 82,014
Amounts due to third parties BT =H 58 - 139,812
Deposits received from potential property BEATEEEEWERNILZS
purchasers 46,743 49,760
Deposits from contractors and suppliers EEE R EEERS 166,509 144,305
Others Hith 5,201 5,253
Total trade payables, bills payables and BESENNE  BEIRER
other payables Hit R RIE 4,053,621 5,076,982
(@ The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice @ TRHFIIEFZBHSADEKEIDH
dates or contractual terms is as follows: B S NI BREC AT
As at 31 December
M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
0-30 days 0-30H 2,906,145 3,849,697
31-60 days 31-60H 374,935 251,814
61-90 days 61-90H 360,487 294,878
Over 91 days 91HMUE 92,599 41,542
3,734,166 4,437,831
F#R2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RR MR (E

23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other

Payables (Continued)

(o) The ageing analysis of the bills payables based on invoice

dates or contractual terms is as follows:

23 EZRARNE BNREERH

b FEASRRIE (&)
b)  FREIERE A PR EHEIDH
PR BB OB B ST

As at 31 December

#M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFIT
0-30 days 0-30H 4,394 10,089
31-60 days 31-60H - 8,531
61-90 days 61-90H - 1,743
Over 91 days 91HM - 2,627
4,394 22,990

The carrying amounts of the trade payables, bills payable
and other payables approximate their fair values and are

denominated in RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

24 Cash Generated from/(Used in) Operations 24 #&R&FRB (FrA)ES
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to (@) BRETBFANRAELE T,
cash generated from/(used in) operations (FTA) R &2 ErEER
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 550 BT s A 1,075,388 1,503,803
Adjustments for: AT EIEEL A
— Depreciation of property, plant and — W% - RERBETE
equipment (Note 12) (M5E12) 35,508 37,831
- Finance costs (Note 9) — R AR AN (P FE9) 150,440 281,605
- Finance income (Note 9) — BB U A (F5E9) (32,421) (43,575)
— Share of results of joint ventures and —E(hEE D EEBE AR
associates (Note 15) FAE(FEE15) (79,017) (393,009)
— Fair value gains on deemed disposal —BIEHERRSERN
of Nanjing Jinjun (Note 8) DA EERE(HRES) - (4,548)
— Loss/(gain) on disposal of financial —HERARBEFEEHEE
assets at fair value through Bt ABENESREEN
profit or loss (Note 8) B8, (Uzs) (fisEs) 26,011 (44,010)
— Fair value losses/(gains) on investment —REMEAREE
properties (Note 14) B8, (Ukas) (MisE14) - (2,120)
— Gains on termination of leases (Note 8)  —#& |- &/ Uzs (F13E8) (8,562) =
- Gains on disposals of property, —HEYE  BEMKRED
plant and equipment (Note 8) s (MI5E8) (97) (801)
— Dividend income from financial —RAnBEGTEEEZEH
assets at fair value through ABEHNERMEENRE
profit or loss (Note 8) Wz (FEs) - (4,100)
— Interest income from amounts due from  — R EEE N "] - BEDE
associates, joint ventures and other N E A EE = 7 e fE Y sk E
third parties (Note 8) B F S U (FEES) - (10,187)
— Gain on disposal of a subsidiary —HE—FENE AW (9,406) -
— Income arising from withdrawal of —BETHBEAREIRY
certain associates’ projects (Note 8) FREEE MU A (MI7E8) (21,635) -
— Income arising from withdrawal of —BEEREHEBERLMES
ajoint venture’s project (Note 8) R A (FIES) (10,966) -
— Provision for impairment of properties —FREPMERIFEHER
under development and completed Bk TYERBIERE
properties held for sale 71,414 -
F#;2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

24 Cash Generated from/(Used in) Operations 24 &&FrE /(FiE)ES (1)
(Continued)
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax
to cash generated from/(used in) operations
(Continued)

(@) BRETISBIADRFIELLE S~
(FrA) B2z BrYA R (E)

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT
Operating profit before changes in EEE L F BRI E T
working capital 1,196,747 1,320,889
Changes in working capital: HEEDE
— Properties under development and —HEPYERFELERN
completed properties held for sale BRI 6,024,052 (5,996,584)
— Contract liabilities —&HBE (5,371,786) 5,932,721
— Trade and other receivables and —B S RkEMBREIER
prepayments SEANE/ O (675,386) (506,948)
— Trade payables, bill payables and other ~ —& ZERFXTE « ENZEIE K
payables H b JE 5RIE (400,741) (1,022,488)
- Changes in pledged time deposits — BT HTERE 16,541 (33,930)
— Changes in restricted cash —XREIRSE 1,694,051 (2,396,782)
— Amounts due from associates, joint —JEUEEZE A BELER
ventures and non-controlling interests IR 25 TR - 21,036
Cash generated from/(used in) operations  &L& 15,/ (FrA)IRE 2,483,478 (2,682,086)

(b) Reconciliation of proceeds from disposals of

property, plant and equipment

(b) HEME - BERREH

THAVES AR

/8 £k
157K

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREFIT

Net book amount (Note 12) BREFE(ME12) 206 5,090
Gains on disposals of property, HEME - WEKEED

plant and equipment Wezs 97 801

Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - RE REE
plant and equipment FriS /IR 303 5,891
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

24 Cash Generated from/(Used in) Operations 24 &&FrE (FrA)EE (&)

(Continued)
ey 0 _— .. ST b ==
(c) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities arising (c) MEITHELENEERERBW
. . " ags P
from financing activities ¥R
Amounts
Amounts Amounts  due to non- Amounts
Lease dueto  duetojoint controlling due to
liabilities associates ventures interest  third parties  Borrowings Total
e EHAE  EREER JEf
HEEE NARE TERE BEZE  HShRE S a3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Asat 1 January 2021 Ro021%51A18 30,200 1,159,616 914,191 3,761,926 139,812 8,641,607 14,647,352
Non-cash movement e 85,906 (174,980) (230,268) (1,948,006) - (550,000) (2,817,348
Cash inflows BEmA - 53,881 148,230 1,039,675 - 7,680,895 8,922,681
Cash outlows Bant (19289 (332690 07665 (995009) - amE) (7652569
Asat 31 December 2021 and 2021512318 R
1 January 2022 202051518 96,817 705,827 804,488 1,858,586 139,812 9,494,587 13,100,117
Non-cash movement (note) etk OIURY (10,349) (159,237) (115,808) - (120,470) 91,770 (314,004)
Cash inflows BERA - 275,931 70,419 569,331 - 2,170,795 3,086,476
Ceshoutlows Banmt (20485 (168810) (786000 (961,931) (19342 (4990048  (5:240,116)
As at 31 December 2022 H2022F12A318 65,983 653,711 680,499 1,465,986 - 6,766,204 9,632,383
Note: FfsE -
During the year ended 31 December 2022, proceed from capital HE2022F12A31BILEFE 8/ THE
reduction from certain associates and joint ventures amounted RAIREERERENERES AR
to RMB159,237,000 and RMB34,808,000, respectively, 159,237,0007T & A K # 34,808,000 7T & & &
and dividend declared by a joint venture amounted to ETIRAMIE A RES81,000,0007T 1 FE 5%
RMB81,000,000, were set-off against the amount due to these LHENRIRAEERERRIELS -

associates and joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain amounts HZE2022F12A31HIFE - ETEMNE=R
due to third parties amounted to RMB120,470,000 were set-off IE AR #120,470,000 T W FEU — B A B
against an receivable with a contractor. FRIAH Y o

F352022
sRtEsEEmaRAT 2/



218

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

25 Amounts due from/(to) Non-Controlling

Interests

25 FEU () FEiE R B TR IA

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETTT

Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEUL SEIE AR M e R T (M 5T (a))

(Note (a) 3,740,880 3,960,807

Amounts due to non-controlling interests JEF 342 A e 7 k28 (PR E (b))

(Note (b)) (1,465,986) (1,858,586)

Notes: BE -

(@  Amounts due from non-controlling interests mainly represented (@) FEMIERE HX%E?XIEIE%WH:FWE@
cash advances to the non-controlling interest of certain A IR AR i o ﬂi‘iﬂ’]fﬁi ZERIEA
subsidiaries. They are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on EBER - RERREREE
demand.

(o)  Amounts due to non-controlling interests mainly represented b) ENFERERFATREATHEAR

cash advances provided by the non-controlling interests of
certain subsidiaries. All of the amounts due to non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2021, amounts due to non-controlling
interests were interest-free, except for amounts of
RMB2,047,248,000 which bears interest ranging from 8.0%-—
12.0% per annum. Within these interest-bearing balances,
interest in respect of balance amounted to RMB1,371,832,000
were waived during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

26 Transaction with Non-controlling Interests 26 FEERERRS
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired HE2021512ABHILFE - A&EEEHE
additional equity interests of certain subsidiaries from the FE;H A% A 2k A U B T B B 2 A FY BB A ME
respective non-controlling interests for a total cash consideration C BIRESRERARM148,492,0007T ©
of RMB148,492,000. There is no transaction with non-controlling Ek12022$12)% 318 |FFE I E e fE
interests during the year ended 31 December 2022. BmR G o
The following table summarises the effect of these acquisitions: TEEMZERENSZE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Total carrying amounts of non-controlling interest 3E3 A& A +5 HI42BR FI{E - 122,072
Less: total consideration paid to non-controling ¥ : 34 P 3EEARERR HY
interests ERE - (148,492)
Total difference recognised within equity RIETRNERNRES - 26,420
27 Disposal of Subsidiaries 27 HEMB AT
(a) Disposal of a subsidiary — Taixing Chuanghe (a) HE—BMNBAR —=EmA
Property Co., Limited (“Taixing Chuanghe”) MEZEARAT ([ Z=HEALIF 1)
On 10 January 2022, the Group entered into a sales and 20221 108 « AEBEE—fHE=
purchases agreement with a third-party property developer FYMERB ARV EE W - LB e
to sell the Group’s 33% equity interests in Taixing Chuanghe KRB AR#6,600,0007T HEAREER
for a cash consideration of RMB6,600,000. A gain on LG FIHI33%AHE o &5 ZR ELAIFN AT
disposal of Taixing Chuanghe amounting to RMB9,406,000 Ui 25 A R #9,406,000 7T 1A i ff AR 47
was recognised as “Other income and other gains, net” in the E2ERERAER B HaRARE
interim condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive o EsFEE | o
income.

F352022
sRtEsEEEARAY @ 21O



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued) 27 HEMB AT (&)

(@) Disposal of a subsidiary — Taixing Chuanghe (@ HE—EMNBAR—=EmA
Property Co., Limited (“Taixing Chuanghe”) MEBXAERAT (M Z=ELIF )
(Continued) (&)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Taixing ZEHAIMNHEERBMNEERBENE
Chuanghe as at the date of disposal were as follows: EREBT
RMB’000
AR®T T
Completed properties held for sale BIEREND R T 647,829
Prepayments and other receivables TERTRRIA J EoAth e Us R IE 4,373
Tax recoverable AT EI B IE 283
Cash and cash equivalents HeRRSZEEY 36,979
Trade and other payables B R EMEN A (136,747)
Contract liabilities EHBE (574,396)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEAETFE (21,679)
Less: net liabilities attributable to non-controlling interests 3 : JEIER&HERS FEIS B &) F%E 14,525
Net liabilities attributable to the Group KREERGBESE (7,154)
RMB’000
AR®T T
Gain on disposal: HERES !
Cash consideration HeERE 6,600
Less: written-off of receivables from Taixing Chuanghe B s AR B B RN FOR (4,348)
Add: net liabilities attributable to the Group disposed of e AEEEGENEREFE 7,154
Gains on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE B RQ R (M5ES) 9,406
Cash and cash equivalents disposed EHERE MREEEY (36,979)
Cash consideration received BUERERE 6,600
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BARELR
WM FE (30,379)
220 Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)

(b) Deemed disposal of a subsidiary — Nanjing

Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Limited
(“Nanjing Jinjun”)

Prior to 10 June 2021, the Group has accounted for Nanjing
Jinjun as a subsidiary, pursuant to the original co-operative
development agreement signed on 20 May 2020. On 10
June 2021, to better facilitate the financing of the project,
Jiangsu Ganglong Realty Co., Limited (“Jiangsu Ganglong”),
the Group’s subsidiary and shareholder of Nanjing Jinjun,
entered into a supplement agreement (“Supplemental
Agreement”) with the other shareholders of Nanjing Jinjun,
pursuant to which the resolution passing mechanism in the
shareholders’ meeting and board of directors meeting of
Nanjing Jinjun was amended to require unanimous consent
from all shareholders and directors to pass any resolution in
shareholders’ meeting and board of directors’ meeting. As a
result, the Group has accounted for Nanjing Jinjun as a joint
venture from 10 June 2021 onwards.

The fair value of assets and liabilities of Nanjing Jinjun were
valued by an independent professionally qualified valuer,
Cushman & Wakefield, through application of market
comparison method and the key assumptions of the valuation
is the development value for comparison in completion basis.
A fair value gains on deemed disposal of Nanjing Jinjun
amounting to RMB4,548,000 was recognised as “Other
income and other gains, net” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

27 LEMB AT (&)
b) RIELE—RBMBAT -—BER

SREMERZERAT(E
mnEek])

R2021F6 A10H AT © AE BB E
202045 A 20 B # 5] W R & 1EF
o BERSEERMBARIAR -1
20216 A10H + A i (EETE B ¢
B AEEWBRARRERESERET
BAEESEARAR(IFHEE]D
HERESEMNEMBRRETMTIHZE
([7EHaEl) - Bt - REARZENE
ReBREZTEERRFBBEE - AL
E2EBRRRES—HRAEBAUBBR
RekEBESgRE At A5EA
20216 A10R B RERY AEE
-

HARSENEERBEANEERAR
BEEROB (GEMESERITERT
B ESREITHE - MEENZERR
BURTIHELERRFAEEER - &
EHEMRSERND A BEKSARE
4,548,000 TR A ZH I E R NER
Al E MR A KRB F5E ] -

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

27 HEMBL R ()

(b) RAFLE—FEMNBLIE MR
cREMERBEARAR(E
Rk ) (&)
MRS IEL S B A ER A E

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries (Continued)
(b) Deemed disposal of a subsidiary — Nanjing
Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Limited
(“Nanjing Jinjun”) (Continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Nanjing Jinjun as

at the date of deemed disposal were as follows:

RERERMT

RMB’000
AREETTT
Property, plant and equipment LE Y ] 10
Property under development aEagesky/ES 987,506
Prepayments and other receivables Ta R FRIE B o Ath & YW KT 121,899
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEEY 81,669
Trade and other payables B R EMEN A (11,741)
Contract liabilities aHaE (149,996)
Borrowings EES (1,000,000
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFE 29,347
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests W RS RN EEFE (22,010)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEEELEEFE 7,337
RMB’000
AREFIT
Gain on deemed disposal: RIEHE WK :
Fair value of the 25% equity interests retained in EARECEREMNEREEAT
Nanijing Jinjun as investment in joint venture REBH25% A AR EE 11,885
Less: net assets attributable to the Group disposed of B ARERGEREEEFE (7,337)
Fair value gains on deemed disposal of Nanjing Jinjun RIEHEEREENAREENKZ
(Note 8) (Mf7E8) 4,548
Cash outflow on deemed disposal of a subsidiary: SELE—RHHBERATA
WEA
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ERERE MESEEY (81,669)

Annual Report 2022
Ganglong China Property Group Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

28 XWE O

28 Business Combination

Acquisition of Shanghai Gangxuan Property Co.,
Ltd (“Shanghai Gangxuan”)

Prior to 27 August 2021, the Group has accounted for Shanghai
Gangxuan as a joint venture, pursuant to the co-operative
development agreement signed on 1 June 2020. On 27 August
2021, to facilitate the project management and speed up the
progress of the property development project, Jiangsu Ganglong
Huayang Real Estate Co., Limited (“Ganglong Huayang”), the
Group’s subsidiary and shareholder of Shanghai Gangxuan,
entered into a supplemental agreement (“Supplemental
Agreement”) with the other shareholders of Shanghai Gangxuan,
pursuant to which the Group was able to appoint 2 additional
directors to the board of directors of Shanghai Gangxuan, thereby
establishing control over the board of directors. As a result, the
Group has accounted for Shanghai Gangxuan as a subsidiary from
27 August 2021 onwards.

The principal assets of Shanghai Gangxuan are properties under
development (mainly consist of land use rights) and accordingly,
the transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition of assets.

The fair value of assets and liabilities of Shanghai Gangxuan on
acquisition date were valued by an independent professionally
qualified valuer, Cushman & Wakefield, through application of
market comparison method and the key assumptions of the
valuation is the development value for comparison in completion
basis.

Wi EBEEXERRAR( L
ZAE )

202168 27 HA « A& ER K 202056
R1BEITMEIERE RS - 1§88
BEELEAR - R2021F8H27H ©* AH
FEEEERNMIMERALEER  ~5&EH
MEBRAR I ARESEEBRAR(EE
£ ) E LS EHNE MR LR B
(IH7maEl) - Bt - NEBRESH A LEE
HMESSLAEINNBESE - EMELT
HEEZSMIEHE - Bt - AEBH2021F
8A27 B EIBABEERMBARIALR -

LEEHNIZEERAMETYE(IEE
EriERE) Bt BRXSEIERE
EWRBARR -

WERMEEEANEERBBENAAE
B ABUNEXARLEMBIERITER
TISHLECEETTHE - S ENERERRIIRN
LA FETHEMNFHEER -

F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

28 ZEFE A ()
s LR BERARAR( £

28 Business Combination (Continued)
Acquisition of Shanghai Gangxuan Property Co.,

224

Ltd (“Shanghai Gangxuan”) (Continued) R ) (88)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Shanghai Gangxuan as FEBHNHERPENEERABBENTIESE
at the date of acquisition were as follows: BEATR :
RMB’000
AREEFIT
Fair value of 35% equity interests of Shanghai Gangxuan Ui A i /85 35% a2
as at acquisition date 26,948
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and BB H# R EEMD RIEABHEER
liabilities assumed: 8
Property under development akgashy/ES 920,065
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE B oAt FE KRR IR 193,359
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS FEEY 37,481
Trade and other payables 5 R EAMENFE (146,209)
Contract liabilities BREMR (477,701)
Borrowings B (450,000
Net identifiable assets acquired BB R BRI B EFRE 76,995
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests B RS (R EEFE (50,047)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBRLEEFE 26,948
RMB’000
AREEFIT
Cash inflow arising from the acquisition: WHEEEMIRE R
Cash and cash equivalents acquired B R e MReEEY 37,481
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

29 Financial Guarantee

29 MIFEER

As at 31 December

M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Guarantee in respect of mortgage facilities BAETEREMNZIERE

for certain purchasers (note (a)) TER B R (H:E@) 13,687,789 11,470,684

Guarantee provided for the borrowings of BE B EETIREANER
joint ventures (note (b) and Note 32(d)) (BT 5 (o) K2 M 3E32(d)) 285,425 288,926
13,973,214 11,759,610

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligation of such purchasers for
repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon earlier of (i)
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will
generally be available within an average period of two to three
years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the
satisfaction of mortgaged loan by purchasers of properties.
The directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by purchasers is minimal as the Group is entitled
to retain the ownership of the properties, the valuation of
which is significantly higher than the guaranteed amounts.
Therefore, the financial guarantees measured at fair value is
immaterial and no liabilities was recognised.

Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the
guarantees provided for the borrowings of the joint ventures
and associates at the year-end date. The directors consider
that the likelihood of default in payments by the joint ventures
and associates is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.

AEEERMEETNETREE L
THRITRE YAREBEEEREITEE
BBRMER  IWRERNUTREE
BIE (VERBEEERE  ZEER
AR EREM RN FEOME=F
NES : KiEFEERIZBENX - &
ERR - BRASEERERE RN
B MOENBEARSRERS
7 BFERERWRIREMER/ ) - Eit
NAREBEFENSREFRLINERE
BHERAE -

CREEFRAMAEELERBER
AERREREROZKER - EFR
R AEEENREE R RIERNRA A
BEMEIR/N - AUt AR R BEENEH
BERTTEANBREREE -

F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

30 Financial Instruments by Category

30 REAE S HNERIEA

As at 31 December

M12H318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHKAY IR S REE -
— Trade and other receivables - B 5 RHAEWGRIA 753,923 1,057,449
— Amounts due from associates - FENEE = A RIFIE 129,976 129,850
— Amounts due from joint ventures - A& ERTE 170,957 253,761
— Amount due from non-controlling interests — FRUHE RS SRR 3,740,880 3,960,807
— Restricted cash - XRHIEE 2,914,221 4,608,272
- Pledged time deposits - BIEHE TR 55,116 71,657
— Cash and cash equivalents -BeMReEEY 1,172,191 2,304,919
Total Bt 8,937,264 12,386,715
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREETTT
Financial liabilities AN
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REHERAT R SRLAE
— Trade payables, bills payables and -ESREMNFE  BNEER
other payables HAbFEFRIA 3,976,671 4,799,951
~ Lease liabilities -HEAE 65,983 96,817
— Amounts due to associates - FEfBE 2 A RIFIE 653,711 705,827
— Amounts due to joint ventures - ENEEERTE 680,499 804,488
— Amount due to non-controlling interests - FE IR = R 1,465,986 1,858,586
- Borrowings - fER 6,766,204 9,494,587
Total st 13,609,054 17,760,256
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

31 Commitments

(@)

Commitments for property development
expenditures

(@)

31 &%

eSS

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT
Contracted but not provided for ERTAEREE 6,481,219 8,101,524

The amount represented capital commitment for construction
contracts and agreed proposed development contracts
determined based on current estimated budgets.

Operating leases rental receivables — a group
company as lessor

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

ZERIERBE A G REEENER
BRRMENERFRE S NNEAAGE

REHERIEE -KEQF
RAHBEA

IR AT B SHAT T E R R R R
AERKWT

As at 31 December

M12831H

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFT

Within one year —FR 4,058 6,591
Later than one year but no later than Bl —FE T ERRE

five years 12,035 16,716

Later than five years BiERF 6,514 -

22,607 23,307

F$;{2022
BRETEESEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

32 Related Party Transactions

32 BEMARS

(@) The utimate holding company of the Company are Huaxing (@) ARFAMSKEBRAR AEMERERER
Development Co., Ltd, Hualian Development Co., Ltd and NA) - EMBEREGRATIREREER
Hualong Development Co., Ltd and the ultimate controlling BEAT] o NN BB 4R Ba 5 A = AR
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Wing A BKELA - BEBELA - B
Nam, Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui oA R KK o
Wing Mau.

(b) Transaction with related parties

(b) EEEEEE R IR Z

Year ended 31 December

HBZE12B31BLLEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Lease payments to Mr. Xie Jian Qing
in respect of the leased office

SERARREYER
AR F L NES (HEE)

premises (Note) (664) (664)
Interest expense to a joint venture EREECERNBRAY - (20,762)
Interest expense to associates FEATEE AR B (24,712) (19,377)
Interest income from associates REEZE RN BT BIA - 948
Income for rendering of management and ~ [A1& &b 22 MBI &

consulting services to joint ventures BRI EIUA 9,840 10,721
Income for rendering of management and (A& A EIEHEIE K&

consulting services to associates ARG A 8,598 9,367
Note: Mr. Xie Jian Qing is a senior managements of the Group HieE © BE2022%12A31 A LFE - #f

during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: same). REXEABRNEENSREEA

Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

32 Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(c) Balances with associates and joint ventures (c) E

32 Egiﬁ

X5 (48)

HEBE N AR S E REMNEERR

As at 31 December

M12831H
2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 Nature

AR¥TR ARBT T M

Amounts due from joint ventures  JEUN & &L EFIE Non-trade

(Note () (B EEG)) 170,957 253,761 FB 5

Amounts due to joint ventures EINAZERER Non-trade

(Note (i) (B3 (Gi)) (680,499) (804,488) FZE 5

Amounts due from associates R B & N R FRIE Non-trade

(Note (i) (Bt & Gii)) 129,976 129,850 B

Amounts due to associates FETESE & A B R IB Non-trade

(Note (iv)) (BF3EGV)) (653,711) (705,827) B 5

Notes: Bi3E

)  Amounts due from joint ventures represents the cash ) BUREECHEFEAREERENIR

advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i)  Amounts due to joint ventures represents the cash (i)
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) Amounts due from associates represents the cash (i)
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv)  Amounts due to associates represents the cash advances (iv)
for project development. The balances were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

SRR - BHRAEER - 2 EXA
RERKTIMEER -

RNEEEEFIARARRENS
SRR - EHRREERR  2RAA
BERTIAEERE

Fguﬁlﬁ’a‘?%@ﬂ%\ﬁﬁlﬁ B FEmIE
B 4 ﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁﬂfﬁ % BA
ﬁz;zj:%lxﬂ,%

FETHE & A RIFRIBRIE B RENR
TEK o Ziﬁ%?%ﬂﬁﬁ BRI
RERTLAER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

32 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(d) Guarantee provided by the Group for related
parties

32 BHMARS (8)
(d) NEEABEEFIRENER

As at 31 December

A12831H
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Carrying values of the borrowings of joint EREZELEERNEREAE
ventures guaranteed (Note 29(b)) (FF5E29(0)) 285,425 288,926
(e) Key management compensation (e) EEEBEAEHN

Key management compensation are set out below:

TEREEABHBEIILOT

Year ended 31 December

HZ12B31HILEE
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT

Key management compensation FTEEE A B

— Salaries and other employee benefits — & RHEMIEE RN 8,164 10,050
— Pension costs —IRIRE KA 526 645
8,690 10,695
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

33 Statement of Financial Position and

Reserve Movement of the Company
(@) Statement of financial position of the

33 AARRBRRER EBE

(@) ARAHBIRRE

Company
As at 31 December
M12A318
2022 2021
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Assets EE
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in subsidiaries HBARIRE 1,753,548 1,753,548
1,753,548 1,753,548
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables and prepayments H fib U SR TE K TR FRIB 565 7,115
Financial assets at fair value through EAnBEFEEEZEHFTA
profit or loss EREmEE 3,952 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHT B A RF A 976,868 1,054,766
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 851 9,177
982,236 1,071,058
Total assets EEH#AR 2,735,784 2,824,606
Equity =
Capital and reserves ERERF#E
Share capital %N 14,838 14,900
Reserves s 1,285,334 1,556,558
Total equity BE®RE 1,300,172 1,571,458
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables o fE TR 19,679 18,733
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERH B AT RIA 415,836 160,100
Borrowings E 1,000,097 1,074,315
Total liabilities BERE 1,435,612 1,253,148
Total equity and liabilities EERAEAE 2,735,784 2,824,606

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and

was signed on its behalf.

KRR AR A TR E 20283 A31H
EEEoE R NMIATREES

BB .

=33
Mr. Lui Ming Mr. Lui Jin Ling
BELE BESEE
Director Director
BF EEd

F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR RR MR (E

33 Statement of Financial Position and

33 ARAMBRRREHEZLE

Reserve Movement of the Company (8)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) AATBNFEEEH
Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserves loss Total
R RE Rt it EE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1H 1,474,816 656,864 (64,643) 2,067,037
Loss for the year FHEE = = (216,987) (216,987)
Transaction with owners: HEEANRS
Cancellation of shares SR (6,997) 7,016 - 19
Repurchase of shares AR - _ _ _
Dividend for the year ended HZ2020F12A31H
31 December 2020 HFEEMRE = S (293,511) (293,511)
Total transactions with owners in BiEA AN EAEEE A
their capacity as owners 50N 588 (6,997) 7,016 (293,511) (293,492)
As at 31 December 2021 and R20215F12831B K%
1 January 2022 20221 A1H 1,467,819 663,880 (575,141) 1,556,558
Loss for the year FREBE - - (258,100) (258,100)
Transaction with owners: HEEANRS :
Cancellation of shares HERG (19,255) 19,317 - 62
Repurchase of shares EABl) - (13,186) - (13,186)
Total transactions with owners in Ba AL EBEEE A
their capacity as owners BE1 ) 5185 (19,255) 6,131 - (13,124)
As at 31 December 2022 2022128318 1,448,564 670,011 (833,241) 1,285,334
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries

34 XEMBLRFE

Date of
incorporation/ Place of
establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* BRL/ legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
kLY RIAH EEAEE g8/HuNY  IEEE #/BRAKA BiER fragERNA
2022 021
Directly owned:
ERER:
AEERERERAA 9 October 2018 Limited fabilty ~~ Brtish Virgin Investment holdings US$30,000 US$100 100% 100%
Ganglong Huayang Development company Islands (eouivalent to (equivalent to
Limited RMB345,000) RMB690)
2018F10A9A BRAT LERRES  REAR 50,000%7 100%7
(EERARB000m)  (EERAREGT)
Indirectly owned:
MR
LA REERERSERAA 28 May 2014 Limtedliabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RMB20,000,000 50.00% 50.00%
(Kiita) company
Shanghai Chongming Yushang Red
Estate Development Co,, Lid. (Note d)
2014%5728A BRAT i Vi AREI50000000C  ARH20000,0007
BlERE2ERAT (M) 26 August 2021 Limtedliabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB800,000,000 RMB800000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Foshan Ganglong Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (o)
202148726 BRAT i VI ARHB000000007  AFE800,000,0007C
HRENEFARAT INovember2020  Limtedlabiity ~ PRC Property development RVIB191 666,700 RVBSSG 170000 60.00%  60.00%
Nanjing Gangli Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
2020611 2R BRAT e i ARH191666,700T  AFE#886,170,00070
BRELEHERRARAAKEG)  4December2019  Limtedliablty  PRC Praperty development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000000  50.00% 50.00%
Nanjing Ganghong Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (3)
2019%12A4R BRAT i VIS ARH1000000007  AEH100,000,0007C
BEANEZERAA (M) 18November 2020 Limtedliabllty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000  35.00% 35.00%
Nantong Jiuhe Real Estate Co., Lid. company
(Note (3)
ANF11E18E  BRAF i Vi ARBB0000000T  AR%50000,0007
R EHEFRERLAH) 10 March 2028 Limted lebilty ~ PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RMB150,000000  40.00% £0.00%
Nantong Liangcai Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (3)
2021%3R 108 BRAT hE VIS ARH150000000T  AEH150000,0007C
HATAEEARAR M) 26 September 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000000  28.00% 28,00%
Nantong Xinhe Real Estate Co., Lid. company
(Note (3)
2019797267 BRAT hE VIS ARBE0000000T  AK%50000,0007
EEAMREEEARAT HR) 16Janvary 2020 Limfedfiabllty ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000000  26.01% 26.01%
Nantong Haimen Ganghua Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (3)
202017 16R BRAT hE VI ARH2000000007  AEH200,000,0007C
F#R2022

BETHEBEREERLR

233



234

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

34 FEMBABFEE(E)

Date of

incorporation/ Place of

establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* BRL/ legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
e RIAH EEMUEE  EE/HUNE  IEER #/BRAKA BiER FagERIA

2022 2021

BEEEELRERDA 11Febuay 2019 Limfedliabllty ~ PRC Praperty development RMB71,428,500 RMB71429.000  70.00% 70.00%
Nantong Ganghua Enterprise Lid. company

01927118 BRAA e nER% ARET1 408500 ARE71,429,0007
MEERERERLA 28 June 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB51,000,000 RMB28,051000  51.00% 51.00%
Rudong Gangrui Real Estate Co,, Ld. company

2019F67288 BRAR e nER% ARE51000000  AK%28,051,0007
MREEERERLT 2 .July 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000  51.00% 51.00%
Rudong Gangda Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company

2019%7 258 BRAR e nER% ARE30000000  AK%50,000,0007
THEEERERLT 090ciober2020  Limitedlabiity ~ PRC Property development RVB200,000,000 RVB200000000  60.00%  60.00%
Anhui Gangfeng Real Estate Co., Lid. company

202010798 BRAR e nER% ARE2000000007  AE%200,000,0007
EEREELERAA 13Janvary 2020 Limfedliablity ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB141,070000  100.00%  100.00%
Yixing Gangheng Real Estate Co., Lid. company

020F17138 BRAR e nER% ARE000000007  ARE141,070,0007
EHTEEFERAA 30 Aprl 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Praperty development R\B20,000,000 RVBnl  51.00% 51.00%
Changzhou Kaiyang Property Co,, Ltd. company

1954 E0R BRAF i VELES AE20,0000007 AREET
EHEREHEREARAANHY)  BMy202 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB241,000,000 RMB0,000,000  50.00% 50.00%
Changzhou Hengxu Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)

A21F57258 BRAR e nER% ARE41000000  AKH40,000,0007
EMAREERRAR M) 06 August 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Praperty development RMB350,000,000 RMB350,000000  40.00% 40.00%
Changzhou Gangja Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (3)

201958768 BRAR hE nER% AREB0000000  AEE350,000,0007
EAEEERERLA O4January 2016 Limtedlablty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Changshu Ganghua Property Co., Ltd. company

01671848 BRAF i VIELEY AE10,000,0007 AREET
BAEREZERAT (M) 140ctober 2020 Limfedliabllty ~~ PRC Property development ~~ RMB2,000,000,000 RVBnl  60.00% 60.00%
Guangzhou Gangke Real Estate company
Co., Lid. (Note o)

NOEANE  ARAT hE nER% AR E2,000,0000007 AREET
BETAREZERAA 01 September 2021~ Limted bty PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Guangde Gangxing Real Estate company
Co., Lid.

A02159A1R BRAF i VELEY AE200,0000007 AREET
SNTEIRHERSERAA 07 July 2017 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RVBSO000000  5100%  51.00%
Huizhou Puyu Real Estate Development company
Co., Lid.

M17E7ATH BRAF hE nER% ARE30000000  AK%50,000,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

34 FEMB A BB (E)

Date of
incorporation/ Place of
establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* HRL/ legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
G2 RIAH EEMUEE  EE/AUNE  IEER #/BRAKA BiER fragERIA
022 021
RBEAEIFHERSERAA 130ctober 2020 Limitedlabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB300,000,000 RMB300,000000  55.00% 55.00%
Chengdu Mingyang Meichuan Real company
Estate Development Co,, Ltd.
NOEABE  ARAH e nER% ARB300000000T  ARE300,000,0007
ANEEEEERAT (M) 16June 2021 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMBA00,000,000 RMBZ00,000000  60.00% 60.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (o))
2021F67168 BRAF e nER% ARB400000000  AR%400,000,0007
TNFEEEERAR (i) 10 August 2018 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMBL0,000,000 RMBA0,000000  25.00% 25,00%
Hangzhou Chenrui Property Co., Ltd. company
(Note (3)
2018F87108 BRAF e nER% ARB40000000T  ARE40,000,0007
RalEELERAA 05November 2019 Limitediablly RO Property development 1USD15,000,000 USD7650000  5100%  51.00%
Dongtai Jinteng Real Estate Co., Lid. company (equivalent to (equivalent to
RMB103,456,000) RMB52,764,000)
019F 117458 BRAF e nER% 15,000 000£70 7,650,000% 7
(R (fRgn
ARB1034580007)  ARH52,764,0007)
IHAZERERAA 09 August 2013 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganghua Property Co., Ltd company
201358798 BRAF e nER% ARE10,0000007 AEEET
AR RESERAT 10 Apr 2018 Limted lablty ~ PRC Praperty development RMB112,562.200 RMB62562000  100.00%  100.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
2018F43108 BRAF e nER% ARB1256000  ARM62,562,0007
AL HESERLE 09February 2010 Limtediablty ~ PRC Property development 306,800,000 USD5,000000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Mingyang Real Estate company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co,, Lid. RVB46,901,000) RVB3,486,000)
201052798 BRAF e nER% 6,800,000% 7 5,000,000%7
(R (fRgn
ARB46901000m)  AR%34486,0007)
IEARESEERAA 13 August 2007 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development USD42,857,000 USDZ2.857000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Reatty Group company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co,, Lid. RMB295,593,000) RMB295,593,000)
207%87138 BRAF e nER% L0857 000%TC 40 85T 000%TC
Hil=5d (fRgn
ARB2955030007)  AR#%295,503,0007)
IEAEERESERAT 20Novemoer 2012 Limted fablty ~ PRC Property development USD53.061,000 USD1,600000  100.00%  100.00%
Jiangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co,, Lid. RMB365,972,000) RVB11,036,000)
NEMANE  ARAH e nER% 53,061,005 1,600000%7
Hjil=5d (fRgn
ARB365,972000)  ARE11,036,0007)
F$;{2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

34 FEMBABFEE(E)

Date of

incorporation/ Place of

establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* BRL/ legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
e RIAH EEMUEE  EE/HUNE  IEER #/BRAKA BiER FagERIA

2022 2021
THERIEZERAA(TG) BFebuay2019  Limitedlablty  PRC Property development RVIB100,000,000 RVBG7000000  3400%  3400%
Jiangsu Tongganghong Property company
Co., Ltd. (Note (3)

01927258 BRAR e nER% ARE100000000  AK67,000,0007
TR ERERAR 00December 2019 Limtedfabllty ~ PRC Praperty development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000000  60.00% 60.00%
Taizhou Gangxinzheng Real Estate company
Co., Ltd.

2019F 12798 BRAA e nER% ARB2000000007T  AR%200,000,0007
FNEEEEERAR (Mika) 17 May 2021 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB700,000,000 RMB700,000000  34.00% 34,00%
Taizhou Ganghua Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (3)

A2E5A178 BRAR e nER% ARE700000000  AR%700,000,0007
AEEEERERAA 2%6November 2013 Limted bty PRC Praperty development R\B30,000,000 RMB10,000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Luoyang Ganglong Property Co,, Ltd. company

NYEMALE  ARAH e nER% ARB80000000  ARE10,000,0007
SEAREEARLA(HE) 03Febary2021  Limitedlabiity ~ PRC Praperty development RMB100,000,000 RMBI00000000  24.00% 24,00%
Hal An Hai Tai Real Estate Co., Lid. company
(Note (a)

202152838 BRAR e nER% ARE100000000  ARR%100,000,0007
ERRARNERSARAA(NEE)  290ctober2018  Limtedliabity  PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RMB20,000000  2550% 25.50%
Hual'an Guochuang Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (a)

NIBEINANE  ARAH e nER% ARB20000000T  AR20,000,0007
ERMAEERARAA 07 August 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Praperty development USDB6,730,000 USD29.993000  100.00%  100.00%
Hual'an Ganghua Real Estate Co., Ltd. company (equivelent to (equivalent to

RVIB460,250,000) RMB206,368,000)
202058478 BRAF hE nER% 66,730,000% 7 29.993,000%7C
i3 (fRgn
ARB460050,0007)  ARI206,868,0007)
INSTRIMERRERAT(MHG)  05Fcbuay2018  Limited bty PRC Praperty development RMB10,000,000 RMBI0,000000  25.00% 25,00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)

201852758 BRAF hE nER% ARE10000000T  ARE10,000,0007
WNSTRUESERERAT (MG 24 0clober2017  Limited bty PRC Praperty development RMB10,000,000 RMB200,000000  25.00% 25,00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Property company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (a)

NITENANE  ARAH hE nER% ARE100000007T  AR#200,000,0007
BEETEEERAR (i) 24 July 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Praperty development RMB240,000,000 RMB240,000000  35.00% 35,00%
Liyang Gangzheng Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (a)

2020F7 3248 BRAF hE nER% ARB240000000T  ARE240,000,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued) 34 FEMB AR5 (&)

Date of

incorporation/ Place of

establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* HRL/ legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
G2 RIAH EEMUEE  EE/AUNE  IEER #/BRAKA BiER fragERIA

022 021

BERREZERAT (M) 19 September 2019 Limfedliabllty ~~ PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000,000  50.00% 50.00%
Shaoxing Gangtong Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (3)

201997198 BRAF e nER% ARB20000000T  AR20,000,0007
FRERELERAA 24 June 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000000  70.00% 70.00%
Shaoxing Gangxing Property Co., Lid. company

2019F67248 BRAF e nER% ARE100000000T  AR%100,000,0007
SEMARERERAA 04 September 2020 Limted by~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000000  60.00% 60.00%
Yiwu Ganghui Real Estate Co., Lid. company

202059748 BRAR hE nER% ARE10000000T  ARE10,000,0007
ENEEERERAA 19 June 2020 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RVBnl  60.00% 60.00%
Wuhu Gangehun Real Estate Co., Ltd. company

2020F67198 BRAF e nER% AR60,000,0007 AREET
ERERE P FERTNERLE 19 May 2020 Limted labty ~ PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Wuhu County Gangsheng Enterprise company
Management Consuting Co,, Ltd.

2020F57198 BRAF e nER% AR20,0000007 AREET
BERRERERAA 19.June 2020 Limted lebty ~ PRC Property development RMB70,000,000 RVBnl  65.00% 65,00%
Wuhu County Gangda Real Estate company
Co., Ltd.

2020F67198 BRAA e nER% ARE70,000,0007 AREET
FNREEEERAA(E) 04 September 2019 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMBI0O000000  34.90% 34.90%
Suzhou Ruixing Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (3)

201959748 BRAF e nER% ARE100000000T  AR%100,000,0007
BNEEERERAA 21 May 2018 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMBI00,000000  100.00%  100.00%
Guizhou Ganghua Property Co,, Ltd. company

018F57218 BRAF e nER% ARE100000000T  ARR%100,000,0007
BEETAZEZERLA 16 May 2016 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Lianyungang Ganghua Property company
Co., Lid.

016F57168 BRAF e nER% ARE10,000,0007 AREET
SEARERERAA 13 August 2020 Limted labty ~ PRC Property development RMB149,253,731 RMB149.254000  57.00% 57.00%
Fuyang Ganglong Real Estate Co., Lid. company

2020F87138 BRAF e nER% ARB19253731T AR 149,254,00070
ETREELERAA (M) 16 Apr 2021 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB540,000,000 RVBnl  34.00% 34,00%
Jingjiang Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (a)

2021F47168 BRAA e nER% AR 540,000,007 AREET

F352022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE R Rk MY ()

34 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

34 FEMBATFEE)

Date of
incorporation/ Place of
establishment Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* BRL/ legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
e RIAH EEMOEE  EE/HUNE  IEER #/BRAKRA BiEs FragRRIA
2022 2021
EYTEEEAERHEREERLT 17 Jine 202 Limited fiability PRC Property development RMB400,000,000 RMB280,000,000 40.00% 40.00%
(Kt company
Yancheng Funing Gang Tong Hui Real
Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (Note (a))
201564178 BRLT i UELT ARH4000000007T  AR%280,0000007C
BT RRNERLERAT 17December 2018 Limfedliabllty ~~ PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RMB20,000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Yancheng Xiangshui Ganglong Real company
Estate Development Co,, Ltd.
WI8F12A1TR BRAF i UELTE ARB20000000T  AR%20,0000007
REMENEFERADH27a) 10 Aprl 2018 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RMB20,000,000 - 3%
Taixing Chuanghe Property Co,, Ltd. company
(Note 27(d))
2018547108 BRLT i UELT ARB20000000T  AR%20,0000007

*  The English names of PRC companies referred to above in this * o AR EXATR B A R B ER K
note represents management’s best effort in translating the EEERNBEXSTANFETE -
Chinese names of those companies as no English name have AW ETED M AT RE -
been registered or available.

Notes: Fisx -

(@ The Group has controlled these companies through agreements @ AEEBAEE T IR HEE
entered into with certain non-controlling shareholders pursuant HZE AR - REWE - NEE AR
to which the Group has the right to make decision on relevant FAEBELIRTE - BIEETRRZEANT
activities including but not limited to budget, pricing and TEE - FERMEHERBAOMBEEE - A%
promotion strategies of these companies. As the Group has BIRS K 3% 5 A R i #cS n] & [0 3R A R
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with SEENESREZEATNEEER -
those companies, and has the ability to affect those returns WHERE N RBE ZERIRERIEEERE
through its majority voting position and the existing rights to MR AR R EZEENR - BESE
direct the relevant activities, these companies are thus accounted ANRAFEHRALEBNHE ARG -
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

(b)  The percentage of attributable equity interests presented is the (o) FIZ2IELBREESLAREEFENE

beneficiary interests held by the Group. The equity interests in
entities legally held by the Group are lower than the beneficiary
interests because of the existence of Type Il trust financing
arrangements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R M ()

35 Events after the Reporting Period 35 MEHRER

On 12 January 2023, Jiangsu Zhengcheng Zhongrunfu Investment
Development Co., Ltd. (the “JV Partner”), Anhui Gangfan Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (an indirect and
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), Huangshan Ganglong
Real Estate Co., Ltd. and Guangde Gangxing Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. entered into an equity interests swap agreement (“Equity
Interests Swap”), pursuant to which JV Partner agrees to transfer
its 30% equity interests in Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Huangshan Project Co”) to Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.; and Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. agrees to transfer
the 100% equity interests in Guangde Gangxing Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangde Project Co”) it held, to the JV Partner. The Group is
in the process of performing a valuation on the fair value of assets
and liabilities of Huangshan Project Co and Anhui Gangfan Real
Estate Co., Ltd.

Huangshan Project Co holds the entire interests in a property
under development, located at North Side of Beihai Road,
Tunguang Town, Tunxi District, Huangshan City, Anhui Province.

Guangde Project Co holds the entire interests in a property
development project, located at Yaoshang Plot, Taiji Avenue,
Guangde City, Xuancheng City, Anhui Province.

Following the completion of the Equity Interests Swap, (i) the
Company will no longer hold any equity interests in Guangde
Project Co, which will cease to be a subsidiary of the Company
and the Guangde Project Co will no longer be consolidated into
the financial statements of the Group; and (ii) the Huangshan
Project Co will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

R2023F1 A12H @ IEHIEE R ERIRE R
RARARI(TEERERMN])  ZBBNE
¥ERAB(ARARMEZENBAR) &
REEEXBERAT(ARRREELENS
nAE)  BLUAEARBEXEEARAFRIRERTE
WEXAR AT REE BIHE(RES
]!]) Bl AECERBHRERNTRES
EXARAAIEZEANZINEREEBRA
AI([E LB B AR MS0%ARE : RLEE
MEXERAFIREAAGELERFERE
BAEMEEMANEXBRAR([ERIER
NaE])100% M - REBE I EEEHEILIER
NRARLZHAENEXERAREERABREN
AR BEETHE -

BRAARAKAURZRER LT LRRE
e AL R AL AR P B h M R R 2 R

Ny
Z5 o
g

ERER ARRAURLRE TR T EET
A RBEE RO EPYEN D ABE

N

E\

SRR RE  (ANRABTBRAERE
BB RAEARE - R T B RARR M
BRA - BERIER ARBTERAEENS
BHEFEEAR - RiEWLIEE QAKX
REAEENEZEWB AT -
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Financial Summary

MBERE

(Amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) | (Br45RI5FRESN -

Results

SREMBARE)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  AR®TT ARETT ARETT AR®Tn
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ RER A Az 1,659,593 1,978,034 4,171,331 10,368,685 11,892,348
Profit before income tax BRETS T AR F 480,951 763,888 1,023,623 1,503,803 1,075,388
Income tax expenses HiESyitb 3 (148,993) (293,824) (381,684) (401,622) (494,233)
Profit and total comprehensive income RN R 2 E K
for the year b 331,958 470,064 641,939 1,102,181 581,155
Attributable to: PATR AL PELS
Owners of the Company ARAEBA 354,831 668,041 960,748 480,936 121,886
Non-controlling interests RS (22,873) (197,977) (318,809) 621,245 459,269
331,958 470,064 641,939 1,102,181 581,155
. ongng b ==
Assets and Liabilities BEENERE
As at 31 December
W2A318
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®%TR
Total assets BEBT 0,440,757 22,892,752 46246196 56,028,274 46,513,298
Total liabilities BERTE (8,739,584)  (21,239,398)  (41,759,503)  (45,750,522)  (35,385,752)
Net assets BETE 701,173 1,653,354 4486693 10,277,752 11,127,546
Owners of the Company ADREARA 575,490 1,243,531 3,694,014 3,841,872 3,950,572
Non-controling interests iR 125,683 409,823 792,679 6,435,380 7,176,974
Total equity RS 701,173 1,653,354 4486693 10,277,752 11,127,546
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